Indonesian Journal of Biomedicine and Clinical Sciences

Volume 56 No 3, 2024



Published by Faculty of Medicine, Public Health, and Nursing, Universitas Gadjah Mada, Yogyakarta, Indonesia

Credits

Editor in Chief

Hardyanto Soebono

Associate Editors

Berry Juliandi Dewi Kartikawati Paramita Eti Nurwening Sholikhah Gunadi Junaedy Yunus Mae Sri Hartati Wahyuningsih Mardiah Suci Hardianti Mei Neni Sitaresmi Muhammad Bayu Sasongko Mustofa Retno Danarti Loeki Enggar Fitri Rina Agustina Sultana MH Faradz Supangat Yana Supriatna Yohanes Widodo Wirohadidjojo Fara Silvia Yuliani Pamungkas Bagus Satriyo

International Advisory Board

Agostino Pierro Alexis Valentin Carina Hanashima Dorothy E. Oorschot Fatima Shad Kaneez Françoise Benoit-Vical Gan Siew Hua Hisahide Nishio Hugo A Heij I Bing Tan Isaak Effendy Jaap Middeldorp Mulyoto Pangestu Rik J. Scheper Teguh Haryo Sasongko William R Faber Yoshitake Hayashi Zilfalil Bin Alwi

Language Editor

Rahmi Ayu Wijayaningsih Irham Ramadhan

Cover

Song Zhi Liang Muchamad Ridotu Solichin

Layout editor

Tri Mulyono Nurhadiyahya

Table of contents

Chemopreventive effect of dayak onion [<i>Eleutherine bulbosa</i> , Mill. (Urb)] against 7,12-dimethylbenz [α] anthracene (DMBA)-induced breast cancer in rats: study on cancer antigen 15-3 (CA 15-3)	
Deo Gratias Efrem, Muhammad In'am Ilmiawan, Sari Eka Pratiwi	208-216
EGFR mutation based on lung laterality in adenocarcinoma type of non-small cell lung cancer	
Ryan Feraldy Haroen, Paranita Ferronika, Rita Cempaka, Indrawati, Bening Rahimi Titisari, Vincent Lau, Andrew Nobiantoro Gunawan, Brigitta Natasya Halim, Vincent Laiman, Lina Choridah, Didik Setyo Heriyanto	217-226
C-reactive protein (CRP) and lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) as functional outcome predictors in stroke patients	
Nyimas Farisa Nadhilla, Abdul Gofir, Tommy Rachmat Setyawan, Siti Farida, Mawaddah Ar Rochmah	227-237
Health comorbidities in children with down syndrome (DS) at Dr. Sardjito General Hospital, Yogyakarta	
Suryono Yudha Patria, Agung Triono	238-244
Effects of garlic tablet (GARLET) in combination with telmisartan on high blood pressure	
Rahimi Ahmad Mustafa, Haseebullah Ayami, Mahbubullah Halimi	245-253
The profile of bacteria isolated from urine culture of adults with urinary tract infection in Yogyakarta 2007-2022	
Abu Tholib Aman, Titik Nuryastuti, Alia Hanifa Aman, Vitia Ajeng Nur Linda, Yuli Mawarti	254-266
Characteristics, management, and major adverse cardiac events of ST-elevation myocardial infarction (STEMI) patients in rural area: a Jember acute coronary syndrome medical records study	
Calista Padma Paramitha Sugiyanto, Suryono, Ayu Munawaroh	267-274
The development and use of artificial intelligence (AI) in dermatology: a narrative review	
Irene Darmawan, Shannaz Nadia Yusharyahya, Adhimukti T. Sampurna, Adhi Harmoko Saputro	275-286
Autoimmune manifestation in splenic atrophy presented with toxic shock syndrome: a case report	
Song Zhi Liang, Poh Yeh Han, Gaithridevi V. Singam, Tan Sue Yong, Koo Thomson, Adlihafizi Ab Aziz, Lim Shiao Hui, Kuai Chen Chuan, Ong Lay Sim, Lim Chew Har	287-292
Juvenile ossifying fibroma accompanied with low-grade central osteosarcoma in sinonasal: a rare case report	
Muchamad Ridotu Solichin, Fikar Arsyad Hakim, Ery Kus Dwianingsih	298-300
Differences in the clinical presentations of anti-NMDAR (anti-N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor) encephalitis with status epilepticus: a retrospective case series	
Desin Pambudi Sejahtera, Sekar Satiti, Ishana Nafeeza Mukhtar, Roshynta Linggar Andatu, Atitya Fithri Khairani	301-311

Indonesian Journal of Biomedicine and Clinical Sciences

Chemopreventive effect of dayak onion [Eleutherine bulbosa, Mill. (Urb)] against 7,12-dimethylbenz [α] anthracene (DMBA)induced breast cancer in rats: study on cancer antigen 15-3 (CA 15-3)

Deo Gratias Efrem^{1*}, Muhammad In'am Ilmiawan², Sari Eka Pratiwi²

¹Faculty of Medicine, Tanjungpura University, ²Departement of Biology and Pathobiology, Faculty of Medicine, Tanjungpura University, West Kalimantan https://doi.org/10.22146/inajbcs.v56i3.12245

ABSTRACT

Submitted: 2024-02-18 Dayak onion [Eleutherine bulbosa, Mill. (Urb)] is herbal plant believed to have Accepted : 2024-04-29 anticancer effects. It contains triterpenoids, flavonoids, anthraquinones, and naphthoquinones which have antioxidants and anticancer activities. This study aimed to investigate the effect of ethanolic extract of dayak onion bulb (EEDO) on serum cancer antigen 15-3 (CA 15-3) levels in rats induced with 7,12-dimethylbenz $[\alpha]$ anthracene (DMBA). Thirty female Sprague Dawley rats were randomly divided into six groups, namely Normal Group, Positive Control Group (tamoxifen), Negative Control Group (dimethyl sulfoxide/DMSO) 5%), Treatment Group I (EEDO 180 mg/kgBW), Treatment Group II (EEDO 360 mg/ kgBW) and Treatment Group III (EEDO 720 mg/kgBW). All groups, except the normal group, were induced with DMBA 20 mg/kg body weight. Serum CA 15-3 levels were determined using enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA) method. The results showed significantly lower (p< 0.05) CA 15-3 levels in the Treatment Groups compared to the Negative Control Group. The most significant reduction in serum CA 15-3 level was observed in the Treatment Group I receiving EEDO at a dose of 180 mg/kgBW. In conclusion, the EEDO possesses a chemopreventive effect on DMBA-induced breast cancer in rats.

ABSTRAK

Bawang dayak [Eleutherine bulbosa, Mill. (Urb)] adalah tanaman herbal yang diyakini memiliki efek antikanker. Tanaman ini mengandung triterpenoid, flavonoid, antrakuinon, dan naftokuinon yang memiliki aktivitas antioksidan dan antikanker. Penelitian ini bertujuan mengkaji efek ekstrak etanol dari umbi bawang dayak (EEDO) terhadap kadar antigen kanker 15-3 (CA 15-3) dalam serum pada tikus yang diinduksi dengan 7,12-dimetilbenzen [α] antrasen (DMBA). Tiga puluh tikus Sprague Dawley betina, dibagi menjadi 6 kelompok secara acak, yaitu Kelompok Normal, Kelompok Kontrol Positif (tamoksifen), Kelompok Kontrol Negatif (dimetil sulfoksida/DMSO 5%), Kelompok Perlakuan I (EEDO 180 mg/ kgBB), Kelompok Perlakuan II (EEDO 360 mg/kgBB), dan Kelompok Perlakuan III (EEDO 720 mg/kgBB). Semua kelompok kecuali Kelompok Normal diinduksi dengan DMBA 20 mg/kgBB. Kadar CA 15-3 serum diukur menggunakan metode enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA). Hasil penelitian menunjukkan bahwa terdapat penurunan signifikan (p< 0.05) pada kadar CA 15-3 Kelompok Perlakuan dibandingkan dengan Kelompok Kontrol Negatif. Penurunan kadar CA 15-3 serum yang paling signifikan terlihat pada Kelompok Perlakuan yang Eleutherine bulbosa, Mill. menerima EEDO dengan dosis 180 mg/kgBB. Dapat disimpulkan bahwa EEDO memiliki efek kemopreventif terhadap kanker payudara pada tikus yang diinduksi DMBA.

Keywords:

7,12; dimethylbenz $[\alpha]$ anthracene; breast cancer; ca 15-3; (Urb); rat

INTRODUCTION

Cancer is the second leading cause of death in the world. Based on data from The International Agency for Research on Cancer (IARC)'s Global Cancer Statistics (GLOBOCAN), in 2018 there were an estimated 18.1 million new cancer cases and 9.6 million cancer deaths. In women, breast cancer is the most prevalent type, accounting 24.2% of the 8.6 million new cases and the highest mortality rate, comprising 15.0% of 4.2 million deaths.¹

One of the tumor markers in breast cancer is cancer antigen 15-3 (CA 15-3), which is a part of the mucin glycoprotein 1 (MUC1) found in the glandular and luminal epithelial cells of the mammary gland. In malignant conditions, MUC1 in the epithelium will multiply and secrete CA 15-3 in large quantities.² This condition causes an increase in serum CA 15-3 levels. In comparison to normal condition, serum CA 15-3 level can be used as a cancer marker. Cancer cells will produce CA 15-3 which can be found in serum or cancer cells tissue.³ The CA 15-3 levels have been shown to be an independent parameter for breast cancer prognosis and are used to assess chemoprevention and anticancer treatments.4,5

It has been reported that DMBA (7,12 dimethylbenz(α)antracene) exposure can cause breast cancer in rats.⁶ Metabolic by products from DMBA can damage DNA structure through binding of purines to DNA or depurination, resulting in DNA mutations, inhibition of apoptosis, and causing malignancy in mammary tissue.^{6,7} The DMBA induction leads to estrogen receptor positive (ER+) breast cancer.⁸

Tamoxifen was the first FDAapproved chemopreventive agent, which reduces the risk of ER+ breast cancer. A systematic review by The United States Preventive Services Task Force (USPSTF) estimated that compared with placebo, tamoxifen reduced the incidence of invasive breast cancer by 7 events (95%

CI) per 1,000 women over 5 years.^{9,10}

Dayak onion (*Eleutherine bulbosa*) is a medicinal plant belonging to the Iridaceae family. This plant originates from South America and grows at an altitude of 600 - 2000 meters above sea level. Currently, dayak onion has been cultivated and spread to Indonesia (Kalimantan), Thailand, South China, and South Africa.¹¹ This plant has been used empirically by people in Southeast Asia as a traditional medicine for hypertension, diabetes, cholesterol, dysentery, antilaxative, inflammatory, accelerate healing, and antifertility.¹² wound According to previous studies, dayak onion is also believed to have anticancer, antiosteoporosis, antibacterial. antiviral, and cytotoxic effects.^{11,13-15} Based on previous studies, it is known that dayak onion has several active compounds such as naphthoguinones, anthraquinones, naphthalene, alkaloids, flavonoids, glycosides, saponins, tannins, triterpenoids, and steroids.^{11,13,16,17}

Naphtoquinones their and derivatives eleutherine, such as eleutherol. eleutherinone, and elecanacine, exhibit biological activity antimicrobial, antiviral, antias inflammatory, antipyretic, antifungal, and also have cytotoxic effect against colon cancer and breast cancer. In silico studies by Lubis et al.¹³ found that the active compound eleutherinol from dayak onion has the highest affinity among other compound to bind with human estrogen receptor alpha and has anticancer potential.¹⁰ Based on previous in vitro studies by Fitri et al.¹⁸ the n-hexane, ethyl acetate, and ethanolic extract from dayak onion had a cvtotoxic effect on WiDr colon cancer cells and T47D breast cancer cell.¹⁶ However, all previous studies lacked in vivo experiments, leading to limitations in evaluating the effects of dayak onion on more complex living organism than single cell line. The *in vivo* experiment provides а better understanding of how the dayak onion affects the tumorogenesis dan chemoprevention in more complex living organism. The purpose of this present study was to evaluate the *in vivo* chemopreventive effect of ethanolic extract of dayak onion in rats induced with DMBA.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

Animals

Thirty female Sprague dawley rats aged 5 wk at initiation of experiment were used. All animal-use procedures were ethically reviewed and approved by Ethical Clearance Committee of the Faculty of Medicine, University of Tanjungpura prior to experiment in accordance with the guidelines of the National Institutes of Health Guide for the Care and Use of Laboratory Animals. Animals were housed under a 12 h light/ dark cycle with free access to food and water. All efforts were made to minimize suffering and the number of animals used.

Ethanolic extract preparation

Eleutherine bulbosa was obtained from Sintang Regency, West Kalimantan Province, Indonesia. It was dried, powdered, and macerated with ethanol 96% then processed using rotary evaporator to get ethanolic extract of E. bulbosa bulb (EEDO). The ethanolic extract of dayak onion was dissolved in 5% DMSO according to each group's dosage before being administered to the rats. The DMBA (Tokyo Chemical Industry, Japan) was dissolved in corn oil with a final concentration of 4 mg/ mL. Tamoxifen (Kalbe Farma, Indonesia) was dissolved in 5% DMSO with a final concentration of 0.2 mg/mL.

Treatment

After acclimatization for 7 d, 30 rats were randomly divided into 6 groups with each group consist of 5 rats. The groups were as follows: (1) Normal Control Group: only got standard food and water, (2) Negative Control Group: DMBA induction and DMSO 5%, (3) Positive Control Group: DMBA induction and tamoxifen 2 mg/kgBW/d, (4) Treatment Group I: DMBA induction and EEDO 180 mg/kgBW/d, (5) Treatment Group II: DMBA induction and EEDO 360 mg/kgBW/d, and (6) Treatment Group III: DMBA induction and EEDO 720 mg/ kgBW/d.

The DMBA was administered intragastrically at a dose 20 mg/kgBW. The induction process was carried out twice weekly for 5 wk. The induction was evaluated by palpation on the chest and abdomen area: the induction was considered successful if a tumor nodule was palpable. Tamoxifen was administered intragastrically every day for 70 d in the Positive Control group (+). The EEDO was administered intragastrically every day for 70 d in Group I, Group II and Group III.

Examination of CA 15-3

After 70 d, all rats were anesthetized using chloroform and euthanized, then blood was drawn through the aorta. The blood was placed in a serum separator tube immediately after being taken from the aorta and stored at room temperature. The blood was allowed to clot for 30 min, then centrifuged for 20 min at 2000 rpm at 8° C. The separated sample (supernatant) serum was aliquoted into 1.5 mL microtube and stored in a freezer at -20° C. After 7 d, the serum was thawed at room temperature and immediately underwent the ELISA procedure to measure the CA 15-3 level. The CA 15-3 level was measured using the appropriate ELISA Kit (Bioenzy, Indonesia, CAT No. BZ-08189311-EB).

Statistical analysis

Data are expressed as mean ± standard deviation (SD) and were

analysed by one-way analysis of variance (one-way Anova). Means between treatment groups were compared using the Least Significant Difference test. All statistical analysis were conducted using SPSS software (version 23, IBM Corp, Armonk, New York). A p value <0.05 was considered statistically significant.

RESULTS

Induction of breast tumors in test animals using DMBA was evaluated by palpating the thoracic and abdominal regions where the breast glands are located. Palpation was performed every week to determine the presence or absence of tumor nodules. Tumor nodules were first palpated in the 8th wk after induction. At the end of the treatment, all rats in all groups had tumor nodules confirmed by palpation.

After measurement with ELISA method, the optical density values of each sample were obtained. Subsequently, we calculated the CA 15-3 level in each sample using the formula from the standard curve. The CA 15-3 serum level are shown in FIGURE 1.





FIGURE 1. Effect of EEDO on CA 15-3 serum level in DMBA-induced breast cancer in rats. The graph shows the mean CA 15-3 serum level (μIU/mL) across different experimental groups. Data are expressed as mean ± SD. *p< 0.05 versus Negative Control group. The groups are as follows: Normal (received standard food and water), Negative Control (DMBA induction and 5% DMSO), Positive Control (DMBA induction and tamoxifen 2 mg/ kg body weight/day), Group I (DMBA induction and EEDO 180 mg/kg body weight/day), Group II (DMBA induction and EEDO 360 mg/kg body weight/day), and Group III (DMBA induction and EEDO 720 mg/kg body weight/day). CA 15-3: cancer antigen 15-3; EEDO: ethanolic extract of dayak onion; DMBA: 7,12-dimethylbenz[α]anthracene; SD: standard deviation.

This study showed that the average of serum CA 15-3 level in Normal Group, Negative Control Group, Positive Control Group, Treatment Group I, Treatment Group II, and Treatment Group III were 13.26±1.20 µIU/mL, 17.60±1.68 µIU/mL, 12.79±1.15 µIU /mL, 12.24±0.72 µIU/ mL, 14.04±0.69 µIU/mL, and 13.71±1.32 μ UI/mL, respectively (FIGURE 1). A significantly different in the serum CA 15-3 level between the Normal Group, Positive Control Group, Treatment Group I, II and III compared to the Negative Control Group was observed (p<0.05). However, there was no significance difference between the Normal Group, Positive Control Group, Treatment Group I, II and III (LSD test and HSD test; p>0.05). Therefore, the most effective dose of EEDO for chemoprevention on DMBA induced breast cancer in rats cannot be concluded in this study.

DISCUSSION

7,12 Dimethylbenz(α)antracene is a potential carcinogen compound. This compound is an inactive procarcinogen (proximate carcinogen) in the body. It undergoes changes to become a primary carcinogen or an ultimate carcinogen. The ultimate carcinogen is the final metabolite of DMBA, which damages the DNA structure through the formation of radical cations and epoxide dihydrodiol. Epoxide dihydrodiol alters the DNA structure by covalently binding to the exocyclic amino groups of DNA purines and forming a stable DNA adduct, while the radical cation binds to N7 or C8 positions, resulting in unstable DNA adducts due to the loss of purines in DNA or depurination.¹⁹⁻²¹

7,12 Dimethylbenz(α)antracene undergoes activation in mammary gland epithelial cells and produces active metabolites in the form of DNA adducts, which are complexes formed by spesific DNA sections that are covalently bound to DMBA mutagen compounds.²¹ Reactive oxygen species (ROS) are also products of DMBA metabolism and are formed during DMBA metabolic activation. Reactive oxygen spesies cause DNA adducts to bind to guanine bases in DNA, causing oxidative damage to the structure and function of DNA, proteins and lipids. This oxidative damage results in DNA to mutation. Cellular DNA can return to normal if the DNA repair mechanism takes place normally, if this mechanism does not function normally then the mutated cells will grow and develop into tumors.^{20,21}

There is a difference in serum CA 15-3 levels between the Normal Group and the Negative Control Group, where the serum CA 15-3 level in the Negative Group was higher than the Normal Group. This was one of the pieces of evidence for the success of breast tumor induction in the negative control group.²² According to Lee *et al.*²² serum CA 15-3 levels in patients with breast tumors tend to increase compared to normal conditions, this increase tends to be even higher when the tumor becomes invasive and metastasizes to other tissues.

The difference in serum CA 15-3 levels between the Negative Control Group and Treatment Groups I, II, and III demonstrated that there is an effect of the administration of the EEDO on the serum CA 15-3 levels in rats with breast tumors. Spesifically, the EEDO was effective in reducing serum CA 15-3 levels in these rats. The most effective dose in reducing serum CA 15-3 levels in this study was the dose in the Treatment Group I (180 mg/kgBW).

Based on several previous studies, the EEDO has anticancer activities.^{13,18,23,24} Dayak onion bulbs contain active compounds such as naphthoquinones, anthraquinones, and naphthalene.^{11,13,16,17} Eleutherinol which is one of the derivatives of naphthoquinones, is an active compound known to have the most potent anticancer activity among other active compounds in dayak onion.^{13,18} One of the known effects of dayak onion extract is the suppression of mutant p53 expression. Mutant p53 is a p53 protein that undergoes a missense mutation, resulting in the p53 protein losing its tumor suppression ability and promote tumorigenesis.^{25,26}

The results of this study are consistent with in vitro studies by Lubis et al.13 which showed a suppressive effect of the EEDO on the expression of mutant p53 protein in T47D cancer cells.¹⁸ According to Fitri *et al.*¹⁸ the anticancer mechanism of dayak onion is achieved by inhibiting the cell cycle at the G0-G1 phase, causing the cell to be trapped in the G0 or G1 phase. This mechanism occurs through the process of inhibiting the expression of cyclin D, so that cyclin D cannot bind to CDK4 and CDK6. As a result, the phosphate group on CDK is unable to phosphorylate Retinoblastoma protein (Rb). Unphosphorylated Rb protein will bind to the E2F transcription factor and inhibit the transcription of cyclin E and cyclin A, which are needed to enter the S phase of cell replication, causing the cell will be stuck in the G1 phase.¹⁸

The termination of the cell cycle in the G0-G1 phase provides an opportunity for the repair process to occur in the mutated DNA, or if the mutated DNA cannot be repaired, the cell will undergo apoptosis to prevent further spreading. This apoptosis process is trigerred by the inhibition of BCL2, which is an antiapoptotic protein.¹⁸ The decreased rate of cell proliferation and the cessation of the cell cycle result in the inhibition of the growth and development of mammary tumor cells, preventing the metastasis process from occuring.

Cancer antigen 15-3 protein is the epitope part of Mucin 1 (MUC1). MUC1 is a transmembrane glycoprotein that is found on the surface of epithelial cells of mammary glands, pancreas, prostate, testes, liver, lungs, and kidneys.²⁷ In normal condition, MUC1 plays a role in cell hydration, defense against microorganisms and degenerative enzymes, as well as inhibiting interactions between cells. When the cells become malignant, MUC1 levels increase above normal, and MUC1 becomes underglycosylated and overexpressed. The location of MUC1 and growth factor receptors also become irregular due to changes in cell shape.^{2,28}

Due to its extracellular location, CA 15-3 can be released and go along with the bloodstream. The amount of CA 15-3 is directly proportional to the amount of MUC1. If the levels of MUC1 increases, the levels of CA 15-3 in the blood will also increase.^{2,29}

MUCI 1 and CA 15-3 are known to be predictors of prognosis in patients with breast tumors, with elevated MUC1 levels being associated with poor prognosis. MUC1 is likely to play a role tumorigenesis, progression in and metastasis in tumors. The association of MUC1 with EGFRs, β-catenin, and NFκb can also affect tumor progression invasiveness.³⁰ Overexpression and of MUC1 has been shown to increase angiogenesis and chemoresistance in breast tumors.^{29,31,32} Therefore, a low level of MUC1 is a factor associated with a positive prognosis in breast tumor patients.

Increased tumorigenesis activity and the number of tumor cells in breast tissue lead to increased MUC1, which in turn further worsens the condition of the tumor.^{2,28} Conversely, a decrease in the amount of MUC1 increases the possibility of a good prognosis for patients with breast tumors. Inhibition of cyclin D by the EEDO can lead to a decrease in the number of tumor cells, resulting in a reduction in the amount of MUC1 in tumor cells.^{2,28} The decrease in the number of MUC1 can be predicted from the decreased CA 15-3 protein levels in the serum, which are lower than in the Negative Control Group that did not receive the EEDO.

This study has some limitations. The

EEDO use in this study is not an isolated pure bioactive compound. In addition, the most effective dose of the EEDO for breast cancer chemoprevention could not be concluded, yet. Therefore, we recommend isolating bioactive compounds from dayak onion and investigating the most effective dose of dayak onion for chemoprevention.

CONCLUSION

In conclusion, the EEDO possesses a chemopreventive effect on DMBAinduced breast cancer in rats. Further study to investigate the most effective dose of the EEDO is recommended.

ACKNOWLEDGMENT

We would like to express our gratitude to the staff at the Faculty of Medicine Tanjungpura University, West Kalimantan for valuable assistances during the study.

REFERENCES

 Bray F, Ferlay J, Soerjomataram I, Siegel RL, Torre LA, Jemal A. Global cancer statistics 2018: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. CA Cancer J Clin 2018; 68(6):394-424.

htps://doi.org/10.3322/caac.21492

- 2. Nath S, Mukherjee P. Muc1: a multifaceted oncoprotein with a key role in cancer progression. Trends Mol Med 2014; 20(6):332-42. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. molmed.2014.02.007
- Li X, Dai D, Chen B, Tang H, Xie X, Wei W. Determination of the prognostic value of preoperative CA15-3 and CEA in predicting the prognosis of young patients with breast cancer. Oncol Lett 2018; 16(4):4679-88. https://doi.org/10.3892/ol.2018.9160
- 4. Di Gioia D, Dresse M, Mayr D, Nagel

D, Heinemann V, Stieber P. Serum HER2 in combination with CA 15-3 as a parameter for prognosis in patients with early breast cancer. Clin Chim Acta 2015; 440:16-22.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cca.2014.11.001

Nandhakumar 5. R. Salini K. S. Niranjali Devaraj Morin augments anticarcinogenic and antiproliferative efficacy against 7,12-dimethylbenz(a)-anthracene induced experimental mammary carcinogenesis. Mol Cell Biochem 2012; 364(1-2):79-92.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s11010-011-1207-5

- Kwon YJ, Ye DJ, Baek HS, Chun YJ. 7,12-Dimethylbenz[α]anthracene increases cell proliferation and invasion through induction of WNT/ β-catenin signaling and EMT process. Environ Toxicol 2018; 33(7):729-42. https://doi.org/10.1002/tox.22560
- Nassan MA, Soliman MM, Ismail SA, El-Shazly S. Effect of *Taraxacum* officinale extract on PI3K/Akt pathway in DMBA-induced breast cancer in Albino rats. Biosci Rep 2018; 38(6):BSR20180334. https://doi.org/10.1042/BSR20180334

nups://u01.01g/10.1042/BSR20180334

- 8. Alvarado A, Lopes AC, Faustino-Rocha AI, Cabrita AMS, Ferreira R, Oliveira PA, *et al.* Prognostic factors in MNU and DMBA-induced mammary tumors in female rats. Pathol Res Pract 2017; 213(5):441-6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.prp.2017.02.014
- 9. Gu KJ, Li G. An overview of cancer prevention: chemoprevention and immunoprevention. J Cancer Prev 2020; 25(3):127-35.

https://doi.org/10.15430/JCP.2020.25.3.127

- 10. Kodama M, Kodama T. The nature of tamoxifen action in the control of female breast cancer. In Vivo 2001; 15(4):319-25.
- 11. Insanu M, Kusmardiyani S, Hartati R. Recent studies on phytochemicals and pharmacological effects of *Eleutherine americana* Merr. Procedia Chem 2014; 13:221-8.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j. proche.2014.12.032

- 12. Paramita S, Nuryanto MK. Antiinflammatory activity of bawang dayak (*Eleutherine bulbosa* (Mill. Urb.)) ethanol bulb extracts. J Vocat Health Stud 2019; 2(2):51-5. https://doi.10.20473/jvhs.V2.I2.2018.51-55
- 13. Lubis IA, Ichwan MF, Mustofa M, Satria D. Anticancer activity of *Eleutherine bulbosa* (Mill.) Urb. extract on WIDR cell line *in vitro*. Atlantis Press 2017.

https://doi.org/10.2991/phico-17.2018.25

- 14. Bahtiar A, Annisa R. Effects of dayak onion bulbs (*Eleutherine bulbosa* (Mill.) Urb) on bone development of the hipoestrogen model rat. Pharmacog J 2018; 10(2):299-303. https://doi.org/10.5530/pj.2018.2.52
- Jiang H, Man WJ, Hou AJ, Yang L, Xing XD, Yan ML, *et al.* The chemical constituents from the active fractions of *Eleutherine bulbosa* with their antimicrobial activity. Nat Prod Res 2020; 34(12):1743-49. https://doi.org/10.1080/14786419.201 8.1530229
- 16. Daryono BS, Deisshinta W, Sudarsono. Identification of bawang sabrang (*Eleutherine americana* Merr. ex K. Heyne) in Indonesia based on chromosome characters. Indones J Pharm 2013; 24(1):22-9. https://doi.org/10.14499/ indonesianjpharm24iss1pp22-29
- 17. Rani V. Isolation of a compound from the bulbs of *Eleutherine bulbosa* (Miller) Urban (Iridaceae). Asian J Pharm Clin Res 2018; 11(6):406. https://doi.org/10.22159/ajpcr.2018. v11i6.25059
- Fitri Y, Rosidah, Suwarso E. Effects of inhibition cell cycle and apoptosis of sabrang onion extract (*Eleutherine bulbosa* (Mill.) Urb.) on breast cancer cells. Int J PharmTech Res 2014; 6(4):1392-96.
- 19. PubChem.7,12-Dimethylbenz[a]Anthracene.https://pubchem.ncbi.

nlm.nih.gov/ compound/6001

20. Androutsopoulos VP, Tsatsakis AM, Spandidos DA. Cytochrome P450 CYP1A1: wider roles in cancer progression and prevention. BMC Cancer 2009; 9:187.

https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2407-9-187

- 21. Rajalakshmi TR, AravindhaBabu N, Shanmugam KT, Masthan KMK. DNA adducts-chemical addons. J Pharm Bioallied Sci 2015; 7(Suppl 1):S197-9. https://doi.org/10.4103/0975-7406.155901
- 22. Lee JS, Park S, Park JM, Cho JH, Kim SI, Park BW. Elevated levels of serum tumor markers CA 15-3 and CEA are prognostic factors for diagnosis of metastatic breast cancers. Breast Cancer Res Treat 2013; 141(3):477-84. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10549-013-2695-7
- 23. Sudarmawan IH. Pengaruh pemberian fraksi etanolik dan petroleum eter ekstrak umbi bawang dayak (*Eleutherine palmifolia* (L), Merr) terhadap ekspresi p53 mutan galur sel kanker payudara T47D. [PhD Thesis]. Program Pendidikan Dokter Spesialis I Ilmu Bedah Fakultas Kedokteran, Universitas Sebelas Maret; 2009.
- 24. Putri ENA, Haryoto. Aktivitas antikanker ekstrak etanol umbi bawang dayak (*Eleutherine americana* Merr.)terhadapselkanker payudara T47D. Presiding of The 7th University Research Colloqium 2018STIKES PKU Muhammadiyah Surakarta, 7:192-203.
- 25. Muller PAJ, Vousden KH. Mutant p53 in cancer: New functions and therapeutic opportunities. Cancer Cell 2014; 25(3):304-17. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ccr.2014.01.021
- 26. Perri F, Pisconti S, Scarpati GDV. p53 mutations and cancer: a tight linkage. Ann Transl Med 2016; 4(24):522. https://doi.org/10.21037/atm.2016.12.40
- 27. Brayman M, Thathiah A, Carson DD. MUC1: a multifunctional cell surface component of reproductive tissue epithelia. Reprod Biol Endocrinol

2004; 2:4.

https://doi.org/10.1186/1477-7827-2-4

- 28. Yang C, Murray JL, Ibrahim NK. MUC-1 and cancer immunotherapy. Immunology 2018; 225-40. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-809819-6.00015-0
- 29. Pillai K, Pourgholami MH, Chua TC, Morris DL. MUC1 as a potential target in anticancer therapies. Am J Clin Oncol 2015; 38(1):108-18. https://doi.org/10.1097/ COC.0b013e31828f5a07
- 30. Bernier AJ, Zhang J, Lillehoj E, Shaw ARE, Gunasekara N, Hugh JC. Noncysteine linked MUC1 cytoplasmic

dimers are required for Src recruitment and ICAM-1 binding induced cell invasion. Mol Cancer 2011: 10:93.

https://doi.org/10.1186/1476-4598-10-93

31. Jing X, Liang H, Hao C, Yang X, Cui X. Overexpression of MUC1 predicts poor prognosis in patients with breast cancer. Oncol Rep 2019; 41(2):801-10.

https://doi.org/10.3892/or.2018.6887

32. Apostolopoulos V, Stojanovska L, Gargosky SE. MUC1 (CD227): a multitasked molecule. Cell Mol Life Sci 2015; 72(23):4475-500. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00018-015-2014-z

Indonesian Journal of Biomedicine and Clinical Sciences

EGFR mutation based on lung laterality in adenocarcinoma type of non-small cell lung cancer

Ryan Feraldy Haroen¹, Paranita Ferronika¹, Rita Cempaka¹, Indrawati¹, Bening Rahimi Titisari¹, Vincent Lau¹, Andrew Nobiantoro Gunawan¹, Brigitta Natasya Halim¹, Vincent Laiman², Lina Choridah², Didik Setyo Heriyanto^{1*}

¹Department of Anatomical Pathology, Faculty of Medicine, Public Health, and Nursing, Universitas Gadjah Mada/Dr Sardjito General Hospital, Yogyakarta, Indonesia, ²Department of Radiology, Faculty of Medicine, Public Health, and Nursing, Universitas Gadjah Mada/Dr Sardjito General Hospital, Yogyakarta, Indonesia

https://doi.org/10.22146/inajbcs.v56i3.15943

ABSTRACT

Submitted: 2023-10-22 Targeted therapies have shown promise in improving survival rates for lung Accepted : 2024-06-06 adenocarcinoma, a common and deadly malignancy. EGFR-targeting tyrosine kinase inhibitors (TKIs) are particularly effective among these therapies in cases with *EGFR* mutations. Detecting these mutations before TKI treatment is essential. Various radiological features have been linked to EGFR mutations. However, the relationship between tumor location and mutation types in Indonesian lung adenocarcinoma patients remains unexplored. This study aimed to identify the frequency of EGFR mutation in local lung adenocarcinoma cases based on the tumor location. Clinical data of lung adenocarcinoma patients (n = 272) diagnosed between 2018 and 2022 were retrospectively taken from the Department of Anatomical Pathology, Dr. Sardjito General Hospital, Yogyakarta. The qRT-PCR data of EGFR mutation status was obtained from the Department of Anatomical Pathology, Faculty of Medicine, Public Health, and Nursing, Universitas Gadjah Mada, Yogyakarta. Descriptive analysis was performed using STATA version 14.0. EGFR mutations were found in 60.7% of patients, with 58.2% having exon 19 mutations and 21.2% exhibiting exon 21 L858R mutations. Mutation status was found to be significantly different based on the patient's gender (p = 0.022) and age (p = 0.029) but not with lung laterality (p = 0.093). The proportion of exon 19, exon 21 L858R, and uncommon mutations in the right and left lung adenocarcinoma was similar across all samples. This study found no difference between specific EGFR mutation types and tumor location in lung adenocarcinoma.

ABSTRAK

Terapi berbasis target telah menunjukkan hasil yang menjanjikan dalam meningkatkan kesintasan untuk pasien dengan adenokarsinoma paru, suatu penyakit ganas yang sering terjadi dan mematikan. Inhibitor tirosin kinase (TKI) yang menargetkan EGFR telah diketahui efektif di antara terapi-terapi yang ada pada kasus dengan mutasi *EGFR*. Mendeteksi mutasi-mutasi ini sebelum pengobatan TKI adalah hal esensial. Berbagai ciri radiologis telah dikaitkan dengan mutasi EGFR, namun perbedaan antara lokasi tumor dan tipe mutasi pada pasien adenokarsinoma paru di Indonesia masih belum diketahui. Penelitian ini bertujuan untuk mengidentifikasi frekuensi mutasi EGFR pada kasus adenokarsinoma paru lokal berdasarkan lokasi tumor. Data klinis pasien adenokarsinoma paru (n = 272) yang didiagnosis antara tahun 2018 dan 2022 diambil secara retrospektif dari Departemen Patologi Anatomi, Rumah Sakit Umum Pusat Dr. Sardjito, Yogyakarta. Data qRT-PCR dari status mutasi EGFR diperoleh dari Departemen Patologi Anatomi, Fakultas Kedokteran, Kesehatan Masyarakat, dan Keperawatan, Universitas Gadjah Mada, Yogyakarta. Analisis deskriptif dilakukan menggunakan STATA versi 14.0. Mutasi EGFR ditemukan pada 60,7% pasien, dengan 58,2% memiliki mutasi ekson 19 dan 21,2% menunjukkan mutasi ekson 21 L858R. Status mutasi ditemukan memiliki perbedaan signifikan pada perbedaan jenis kelamin pasien (p = 0,022) dan usia (p = 0,029) tetapi tidak dengan lateralitas paru (p = 0,093). Proporsi mutasi ekson 19, ekson 21 L858R, dan mutasi tidak umum memiliki proporsi yang serupa antara paru kanan dan kiri pada keseluruhan sampel. Penelitian ini tidak menemukan perbedaan signifikan antara tipe mutasi EGFR spesifik dan lokasi tumor pada adenokarsinoma paru.

Keywords:

adenocarcinoma; *EGFR;* laterality; lung; tumor locationp

INTRODUCTION

carcinoma, malignant Lung а neoplasm originating from the rapid proliferation of epithelial cells within the pulmonary system,¹ is a considerable health concern. In Southeast Asia, approximately 20% of cancer diagnoses are lung carcinoma.² This disease not only stands as a global primary mortality contributorbutalsohasthehighestfatality rate (14.1%) including in Indonesia.^{3,4} A previously study has found that the fiveyear survival probability for individuals diagnosed with lung carcinoma between 2010 and 2014 hovered at a mere 10-20%.⁵ This worrisome statistic can be attributed to the lack of early-stage lung carcinoma screening methodologies and the suboptimal efficacy of systemic therapeutic approaches, both of which substantially impact survival rates. particularly among cases in advanced stages.^{6,7} Notably, an alarming 90% of Indonesian lung carcinoma patients receive their diagnosis only after the disease has progressed significantly.8

Recent advancements have given insights into the realm of genetic mutations as an innovative strategy for managing non-small cell lung particularly (NSCLC), cancer the subtype of adenocarcinoma. At present, identification and treatment the stratification for adenocarcinoma hinge upon the molecular characterization of tumors to enhance patient prognoses through more personalized therapies.⁶ According to guidelines stipulated by the National Comprehensive Cancer Network (NCCN), among the pivotal molecular assessments is the examination of genetic alterations within the EGFR gene.⁹ Across Asian populations, EGFR mutations manifest in approximately 40-60% of lung adenocarcinoma cases, contrasting with figures of around 12-15% in Caucasian counterparts.¹⁰ The existence of EGFR gene mutations gave path for targeted therapy, which are the tyrosine kinase inhibitors (TKIs).

Correct utilization of the first,

second or third generation of EGFR-TKI therapy in NSCLC significantly improves response rates and enhanced survival outcomes.¹¹ The effectiveness and resistance of different EGFR-TKI generations depend on the subtype of EGFR mutation that occurs, which are classified as the common mutations (deletion in exon 19 or L858R mutation exon 21) and the uncommon in mutations (other mutations along exon 18 to exon 21).^{10,12,13} This necessitates EGFR mutation analysis before initiating Nonetheless. therapy. Indonesia's molecular testing infrastructure could be improved, to reduce treatment delays. As such, investigations are imperative to predict the *EGFR* mutation status.

Research has been undertaken assess EGFR mutation status in to adenocarcinoma based on tumor anatomical location via radiological methodologies. A 2016 study in Taiwan by Tseng *et al.*¹⁴ revealed a higher prevalence of EGFR mutations (71%) in women with upper lobe adenocarcinoma compared to men harboring lower lobe adenocarcinoma (47%). They also reported¹⁴ that the L858R mutation within exon 21 exhibited more significant predominance in upper lobe tumors relative to the exon 19 deletion and wild-type variants. In 2017, Shi et al.¹⁵ published a study which assessed both common *EGFR* mutations in comparison to the wild type, and found similar tendency regarding the lobar occurrence, but it was not reported to be statistically different. Nevertheless, similar studies in terms of predicting EGFR mutation subtypes based on lung adenocarcinoma tumor localization are still lacking in Indonesia. Thus, additional research in this domain remains essential.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

Study design

This study constitutes a retrospective observational-analytical study employing a cross-sectional methodology. The primary objective is to assess the difference between tumor location based on radiological discoveries and the EGFR mutation status within lung adenocarcinoma cases documented at the Department of Anatomical Pathology, Dr. Sardjito General Hospital, Yogyakarta, between 2018 and 2022. Slides from patients diagnosed with adenocarcinoma type non-small cell lung carcinoma by cytopathology were included. These slides were stored in enclosed drawers at room temperature. The radiological data were accessed via the hospital's electronic medical records system. Initially, 438 lung adenocarcinoma cases were collected. inadequate However, cases with radiological data or specimens unsuitable for PCR examination were excluded. This resulted in a dataset of 272 patients, including 213 who had CTguided transthoracic needle aspiration (TTNA) and 59 who underwent pleural puncture. PCR examination for EGFR mutation was performed at the Department of Anatomical Pathology, Faculty of Medicine, Public Health, and Nursing, Universitas Gadjah Mada. The study adhered to the principles outlined in the Declaration of Helsinki. Specimen and data collection was approved by the Medical and Health Research Ethics Committee (MHREC), Universitas Gadjah Mada (reference number: KE-FK-0291-EC-2023).

DNA extraction

DNA extraction was performed from cytologic slides or cell blocks using GeneAll® Exgene™ Clinic SV mini 108-101 (Gene All Biotechnology Co., Ltd., Seoul, Korea) in adherence with the manufacturer's protocol.

Quantitative real-time polymerase chain reaction (qRT-PCR)

The DNA assay was done using The Human *EGFR* Gene Mutations Fluorescence Polymerase Chain Reaction (PCR) Diagnostic Kit by Amoy Diagnostics Co., Ltd. (Xiamen, China), which covers G719A, G719S, G719C, T790M, S768I, L858R, L861Q mutations, three insertions in exon 20, and 19 base changes in exon 19. Bioneer Exicycler[™] 96 Real-Time Quantitative Thermal Block was utilized for quantitative PCR examination. The application of real-time PCR in this study was preferred as it is more efficient than conventional PCR, while also being in accordance with previous study.¹⁵ The diagnostic kit and the PCR system were per the manufacturer's guidelines.

The DNA region of interest was amplified using PCR with specific primers and probes for mutant gene detection. Amplification continued until doublestranded DNA separation occurred. The mutation detection was based on the cycle threshold (Ct) values and would be determined as positive (present) if there were any signals exceeding the kit background fluorescence. For every cycle we conduct, we consistently utilize both positive and negative controls of the kit to ensure the accuracy of mutation detection. The real-time PCR included an initial denaturation cycle at 95 °C for 5 min, followed by 15 cycles of annealing at 95 °C for 25 sec and 64 °C for 20 sec, and then 31 cycles of extension at 93 °C for 25 sec, 60 °C for 35 sec, and 72 °C for 20 sec.

Data analysis

The PCR results for *EGFR* mutations were classified according to the previous literatures,^{12,15} as wild-type, common mutation, and uncommon mutation. Negative *EGFR* mutation PCR result was considered as wild-type. Deletion in exon 19 and L858R mutation in exon 21 were both classified as the common mutations, while the other detected mutations were classified as the uncommon mutations.

Statistical analysis was conducted through STATA software version 14, whereby data consisting of age, gender, tumor location and *EGFR* mutation status was analyzed with chi-square test. In cases where the data did not align with the prerequisites for the chi-square test, Fisher's exact test was implemented. The proportional difference would be considered statistically different if the p-value is less than 0.05.

RESULTS

Among the study cohort, 153 individuals (56.3%) were female, while 119 (43.7%) were male. The mean age of the participants was 60 yr, predominantly comprising those aged >50 (78.7%), with the oldest participant being 92 y.o. and the youngest being 17 y.o. The prevalence of adenocarcinoma was notably higher in the right lung, accounting for 59.2% of cases, in contrast to the left lung (39.3%), and a minority manifested in both lungs simultaneously (1.5%). Most adenocarcinoma patients (60.7%) exhibited a positive *EGFR* mutation status. The most prevalent EGFR mutation was identified in exon 19, manifesting in 96 individuals (58.2%), followed by the L858R mutation within exon 21, observed in 35 patients (21.2%). A comprehensive overview of the subjects' attributes is provided in TABLE 1.

Within the scope of this investigation, a significant difference was identified between EGFR mutations and gender (p=0.022), as well as age (p=0.029). Regarding the tumor's distribution, the EGFR mutation status demonstrated no statistically significant link to lung laterality (p=0.226). Nevertheless, an observation emerged indicating а marginally elevated frequency of EGFR mutations within the right lung relative to the left lung. The specific difference between EGFR mutation status and gender, age, and lung laterality are outlined in TABLE 2.

Characteristics	Frequency			
Gender				
Male	119 (43.7)			
Female	153 (56.3)			
Age [median (min. – max.) yr]	59 (17-92)			
≤ 50 [n (%) yr]	58 (21.3)			
> 50 yr [n (%) yr]	214 (78.7)			
Lung laterality [n (%)]				
Right	161 (59.2)			
Left	107 (39.3)			
Bilateral	4 (1.5)			
EGFR mutation [n (%)]				
Mutation (+)	165 (60.7)			
Exon 19	96 (58.2)			
Exon 21 (L858R)	35 (21.2)			
Uncommon	34 (20.6)			
Mutation (-)	107 (39.3)			
Total [n (%)]	272 (100)			

TABLE 1. Characteristics of study subjects

EGFR: epidermal growth factor receptor

Daramatar	Mutation st	atus [n (%)]	n
Parameter	Negative	Positive	þ
Gender			
Male	56 (47.1)	63 (52.9)	0 000*
Female	51 (33.3)	102 (66.7)	0.022**
Age			
≤ 50 yr	30 (51.7)	28 (48.3)	0 020*
> 50 yr	77 (36.0)	137 (64.0)	0.029
Laterality			
Right	66 (41.0)	95 (59.0	
Left	38 (35.5)	69 (64.5)	0.226+
Bilateral	3 (75.0)	1 (25.0)	

TABLE 2. EGFR mutation status based on gender,age and lung laterality

EGFR: epidermal growth factor receptor; *Analyzed using chi-square test; *Analyzed using Fischer's exact test.

TABLE 3. Frequency of mutation in exon 19, 21 (L858R), and
others based on lung laterality

T	Exo	*		
Lung laterality	19	21 (L858R)	Uncommon	p.
Right	55 (57.9)	24 (25.3)	16 (16.8)	
Left	41 (59.4)	10 (14.5)	18 (26.1)	0.093
Bilateral	0 (0.0)	1 (100)	0 (0.0)	

*Analyzed using Fisher's exact test.

The prevailing mutations identified within the right and left lungs during this study predominated on exon 19. Furthermore, it was observed that the proportion of exon 19, exon 21 L858R, and uncommon mutations in the right and left lung adenocarcinoma was similar across all samples. TABLE 3 shows the frequency distribution of common mutations within exon 19, exon 21 (L858R), and the uncommon mutations categorized by lung laterality.

TABLE 4 demonstrates the frequency distribution of exon 19 and exon 21 (L858R) mutations alongside

the uncommon mutations, focusing on gender and age aspects within each side of lung. Notably, across all age groups and genders in both lungs, the most prevalent mutations occurred within exon 19. The right lung exhibited the highest prevalence of exon 21 (L858R) mutation among older female patients diagnosed with lung adenocarcinoma. In contrast, it was observed that the uncommon mutations were primarily localized in the left lung of younger patients. Nevertheless, female no differences were identified.

Gender Age (yr)		Lunglatarality	EGFR mutation [n (%)]			~*
		Lung lateranty	19	21(L858R)	Uncommon	þ
		Right	4 (66.7)	1 (16.7)	1 (16.7)	
	≤ 50	Left	0 (-)	0 (-)	0 (-)	-
Male		Bilateral	0 (-)	0 (-)	0 (-)	
mare		Right	19 (65.5)	5 (17.2)	5 (17.2)	
> 50	Left	18 (64.3)	4 (14.3)	6 (21.4)	1.000	
	Bilateral	0 (-)	0 (-)	0 (-)		
		Right	8 (80)	2 (20)	0 (0)	
	≤ 50	Left	6 (50)	2 (16.7)	4 (33.3)	0.207
Female > 50	Bilateral	0 (-)	0 (-)	0 (-)		
		Right	24 (48)	16 (32)	10 (20)	
	> 50	Left	17 (58.6)	4 (13.8)	8 (27.6)	0.156
		Bilateral	0 (0)	1 (100)	0 (0)	

TABLE 4. Frequency of mutation in exon 19, 21 (L858R), and others based on lung laterality, stratified by gender and age

EGFR: epidermal growth factor receptor; *Analyzed using Fisher's exact test.

DISCUSSION

Adenocarcinoma of the lung stands as the most documented subtype within non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC), as indicated by multiple studies^{16,17} and is associated with a notably high global mortality rate, as reported by Sung et al.4 in 2021. Notably, EGFR mutations exhibit a higher incidence among patients with lung adenocarcinoma in Asia than in other continents. At the same time, Europe showcases the lowest prevalence, as noted in studies by Malapelle *et al.*¹⁰ in 2021 and Melosky *et* al.¹⁸ in 2022. Identifying EGFR mutations in adenocarcinoma of the lung opens therapeutic avenues for targeted interventions, potentially vielding improvements in overall prognosis.¹¹

In this study, lung adenocarcinoma predominantly affected females (56.3% of all cases), as previously reported by Barta *et al.*,¹⁹ with a more pronounced gender disparity in Asia due to indoor cooking smoke exposure.²⁰ Individuals over 50 years accounted for 78.7% of diagnoses, consistent with a study by Zhou *et al.*,²¹ which is likely to be related to age-associated oncogenic mutation accumulation.22 Adenocarcinoma was more prevalent in the right lung, attributed to its anatomical features.^{23,24} EGFR mutations were identified in 60.7% of cases, primarily exon 19 (58.2%) and exon 21 L858R mutations (21.2%), in line with previous research findings.^{25,26} The detection of exon 19 deletions and L858R mutations in this study was noteworthy as lung adenocarcinoma with these common mutations are sensitive with the more widely available first-line therapy of EGFR-TKIs, such as gefitinib, erlotinib and afatinib.^{13,15} This phenomenon was thought to be related with the specific protein alteration by common mutations that lower the affinity of adenosine triphosphate (ATP) in contrast to the wild-type receptor, and making it more responsive to EGFR-TKI instead.13

This study underscores a notable difference in the prevalence of positive *EGFR* mutations between genders, with 66.7% of cases occurring in females. This observation is consistent with earlier research, which reported a heightened

occurrence of *EGFR* mutations in females, with frequencies ranging from 54.9 to 71.5%. This trend is particularly pronounced in Asian populations, including Indonesia, as documented in a Syahruddin *et al.*,²⁷ study in 2018. One hypothesis was that Asian women may exhibit elevated estrogen levels compared to the Caucasian population.²⁸ Also, a correlation between estrogen receptors and *EGFR* mutations in lung adenocarcinoma has been suggested.²⁹

high prevalence The of lung adenocarcinoma exhibiting positive EGFR mutations among the elderly population (64%) in this study aligns with the earlier investigation.²² EGFR mutations, besides being linked to the genetic changes that accumulate with age, are also characterized by their dormant nature, rendering them more challenging to detect at a younger age, as stated by Herceg and Hainaut.³⁰ In contrast, younger individuals diagnosed with adenocarcinoma of the lung tend to manifest a more aggressive disease profile and a rarer subtype of EGFR mutation, culminating in a less favorable prognosis and response to EGFR-TKI therapy, a phenomenon elucidated by Hsu et al.³¹

The prevalence of *EGFR*-mutant tumors in the right lung was found to be lower at 59% compared to 64.5% in the left lung, this is in contrast with the non-mutated *EGFR* group. It's important to note that while this observation did not reach statistical significance, it is in contrast with previous study conducted in Asian populations.²⁴ Furthermore, this study's findings align with those of Rizzo *et al.*,³² in Wisconsin, United States, involving a sample of 280 patients, which similarly reported no difference between tumor location and *EGFR* mutation status in lung adenocarcinoma.

In this investigation, no difference was observed between the affected lung in adenocarcinoma and the specific subtypes of *EGFR* mutations, a finding consistent with prior research conducted by Rizzo *et al.*³² However, there were variations in the distribution of *EGFR* mutation frequencies. While the occurrence of exon 19 mutations was comparable in both lungs, the L858R mutation in exon 21 manifested more frequently in the right lung, in contrast to uncommon mutations, which displayed a higher prevalence in the left lung.

previous study bv Shi А et *al.*¹⁵ involving 179 **EGFR-mutant** adenocarcinoma patients, indicated that both exon 19 and L858R mutations tended to occur more often in primary tumors of the right lung, at 59% and 57%, respectively. Similarly, Isaka et *al.*³³ presented a higher frequency of both exon 19 (53.4%) and exon 21 (59.7%) of EGFR-mutated tumors in the right lung among 212 Japanese lung adenocarcinoma patients, although statistical significance was not reached. The inconsistencies in these findings compared to our study may stem from differences in the proportional distribution of *EGFR* mutation subtypes. Both previous studies observed a higher frequency of exon 21 mutations relative to exon 19 mutations in their respective populations, hinting at potential racial variations in their prevalence.

The current study provides comprehensive profile of EGFR а mutations prevalent in Indonesian patients, revealing that 58.2% have exon 19 mutations and 21.2% exhibit exon 21 L858R mutations. This information is crucial for clinicians to make informed decisions regarding targeted therapies. By analyzing the relationship between tumor location and EGFR mutation types, the study concludes that there is no difference between specific EGFR mutation types and tumor location. This finding challenges previous assumptions and underscores the need for further investigation in this area. The study focuses on a specific population in Yogyakarta, Indonesia. Future research should include a more diverse geographic and sample representation to validate these findings and understand regional variations in *EGFR* mutation prevalence. Additionally, the current study did not examine exon 20 mutations of the *EGFR*. Further research is required as new targeted therapies, such as amivantamab, have been developed to target *EGFR* exon 20 mutations previously resistant to tyrosine kinase inhibitors.

CONCLUSION

The prevalence of *EGFR*-mutant lung adenocarcinoma at Dr. Sardjito General Hospital is 60.7%. *EGFR* mutations are more prevalent in females and individuals aged over 50 years. The study did not observe any differences in the proportions of *EGFR* mutation subtypes with respect to lung laterality.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We would like to thank Nur Eka Wiraditya for generously providing the essential data required for this study.

REFERENCES

- 1. Borczuk AC. WHO classification of tumours: thoracic tumours. International Agency for Research on Cancer; 2021.
- 2. Sharma R. Mapping of global, regional and national incidence, mortality and mortality-to-incidence ratio of lung cancer in 2020 and 2050. Int J Clin Oncol 2022; 27(4):665-75. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10147-021-02108-2
- 3. Ferlay J, Ervik M, Lam F, Laversanne M, Colombet M, Mery L, Piñeros M, et al. Global cancer observatory: cancer today. Lyon, France: International Agency for Research on Cancer 2024. https://gco.iarc.who.int/ media/globocan/factsheets/ populations/360-indonesia-fact-

sheet.pdf

- Sung H, Ferlay J, Siegel RL, Laversanne M, Soerjomataram I, Jemal A, *et al.* Global cancer statistics 2020: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. CA Cancer J Clin 2021; 71(3):209-49. https://doi.org/10.3322/caac.21660
- 5. Allemani C, Matsuda T, Di Carlo V, Harewood R, Matz M, Nikšić M, et al. Global surveillance of trends in cancer survival 2000-14 (CONCORD-3): analysis of individual records for 37 513 025 patients diagnosed with one of 18 cancers from 322 population-based registries in 71 countries. Lancet 2018; 391(10125):1023-75. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-

6736(17)33326-3

- Brainard J, Farver C. The diagnosis of non-small cell lung cancer in the molecular era. Mod Pathol 2019; 32(Suppl 1):16-26. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41379-018-0156-x
- 7. Socinski MA, Evans T, Gettinger S, Hensing TA, Sequist LV, Ireland B, *et al.* Treatment of stage IV nonsmall cell lung cancer: Diagnosis and management of lung cancer: American College of Chest Physicians evidence-based clinical practice guidelines. Chest 2013; 143(5):e341S-68S. https://doi.org/10.1378/chest.12-2361
- 8. Harsal A, Suratman E, Tambunan T. P1-038: Overview of lung cancer in Dharmais National Cancer Hospital, Jakarta, Indonesia. J Thor Oncol 2007; 2(8):S564. https://doi.org/10.1097/01. JTO.0000283652.11456.81
- Ettinger DS, Wood DE, Aisner DL, Akerley W, Bauman JR, Bharat A, et al. Non-small cell lung cancer, version 3.2022, NCCN clinical practice guidelines in oncology. J Natl Compr Canc Netw 2022; 20(5):497-530. https://doi.org/10.6004/jnccn.2022.0025

10. Malapelle U, Pilotto S, Passiglia F, Pepe F, Pisapia P, Righi L, *et al.* Dealing with NSCLC EGFR mutation testing and treatment: A comprehensive review with an Italian real-world perspective. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol 2021; 160:103300.

h t t p s : //d o i . o r g/10.1016/j. critrevonc.2021.103300

11. Mitsudomi T, Morita S, Yatabe Y, Negoro S, Okamoto I, Tsuratani J, *et al.* Gefitinib versus cisplatin plus docetaxel in patients with nonsmall-cell lung cancer harbouring mutations of the epidermal growth factor receptor (WJTOG3405): an open label, randomised phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol 2010; 11(2):121-8. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1470-

2045(09)70364-X

12. Gristina V, Malapelle U, Galvano A, Pisapia P, Pepe F, Rolfo C, *et al.* The significance of epidermal growth factor receptor uncommon mutations in non-small cell lung cancer: A systematic review and critical appraisal. Cancer Treat Rev 2020; 85:101994.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ctrv.2020.101994

- 13. Jorge SEDC, Kobayashi SS, Costa DB. Epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) mutations in lung cancer: preclinical and clinical data. Braz J Med Biol Res 2014; 47(11):929-39. https://doi.org/10.1590/1414-431X20144099
- 14. Tseng CH, Chen KC, Hsu KH, Tseng JS, Ho CC, Hsia TC, *et al.* EGFR mutation and lobar location of lung adenocarcinoma. Carcinogenesis 2016; 37(2):157-62.

https://doi.org/10.1093/carcin/bgv168

15. Shi Z, Zheng X, Shi R, Song S, Yang R, Zhang Q, *et al.* Radiological and clinical features associated with epidermal growth factor receptor mutation status of exon 19 and 21 in lung adenocarcinoma. Sci Rep 2017; 7(1):364.

https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-017-

00511-2

- 16. Lamberti G, Andrini E, Sisi M, Rizzo A, Parisi C, Federico AD, *et al.* Beyond EGFR, ALK and ROS1: Current evidence and future perspectives on newly targetable oncogenic drivers in lung adenocarcinoma. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol 2020; 156:103119. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.critrevonc.2020.103119
- 17. Mulawarman A, Haryana SM, Sadewa AH. Ekspresi Serum miR-148 dan miR-155 sebagai kandidat biomarker prognosis kanker paru jenis karsinoma bukan sel kecil (KPKBSK) stage lanjut di Indonesia menggunakan liquid biopsy [Dissertation]. Yogyakarta: Universitas Gadjah Mada; 2020.
- Melosky B, Kambartel K, Haentschel M,BennettsM,NickensDJ,Brinkmann J, et al. Worldwide prevalence of epidermal growth factor receptor mutations in non-small cell lung cancer: a meta-analysis. Mol Diagn Ther 2022; 26(1):7-18. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40291-021-00563-1
- 19. Barta JA, Powell CA, Wisnivesky JP. Global epidemiology of lung cancer. Ann Glob Health 2019; 85(1):8. https://doi.org/10.5334/aogh.2419
- 20. Nakamura H, Saji H. A worldwide trend of increasing primary adenocarcinoma of the lung. Surg Today 2014; 44(6):1004-12. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00595-013-0636-z
- 21. Zhou L, Li H, Yang S. Age does matter in adolescents and young adults vs. older adults with lung adenocarcinoma: A retrospective analysis comparing clinical characteristics and outcomes in response to systematic treatments. Oncol Lett 2022; 24(4):362.

https://doi.org/10.3892/ol.2022.13482

22. Ueno T, Toyooka S, Suda K, Soh J, Yatabe Y, Miyoshi S, *et al.* Impact of age on epidermal growth factor receptor mutation in lung cancer. Lung Cancer 2012; 78(3):207-11. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. lungcan.2012.09.006

- 23. Arslan SA, Aral İP, Altınışık İnan G, Karabuga H, Acikgoz S, Unal I, *et al.* Right predilection of lung cancer, does it affect oncologic outcome?. Acta Oncol Turc 2019; 52(2):232-7. https://doi.org/10.5505/aot.2019.01488
- 24. Liu G, Xu Z, Ge Y, Jiang B, Groen H, Vliegenthart R, *et al.* 3D radiomics predicts EGFR mutation, exon-19 deletion and exon-21 L858R mutation in lung adenocarcinoma. Transl Lung Cancer Res 2020; 9(4):1212-24. https://doi.org/10.21037/tlcr-20-122
- 25. Midha A, Dearden S, McCormack R. EGFR mutation incidence in non-small-cell lung cancer of adenocarcinoma histology: a systematic review and global map by ethnicity (mutMapII). Am J Cancer Res 2015; 5(9):2892-911.
- 26. Quan X, Gao H, Wang Z, Li J, Zhao W, Liang W, *et al.* Epidermal growth factor receptor somatic mutation analysis in 354 Chinese patients with non-small cell lung cancer. Oncol Lett 2018; 15(2):2131-8.

https://doi.org/10.3892/ol.2017.7622

27. Syahruddin E, Wulandari L, Sri Muktiati N, Rima A, Soeroso N, Ermayanti S, *et al.* Uncommon EGFR mutations in cytological specimens of 1,874 newly diagnosed Indonesian lung cancer patients. Lung Cancer (Auckl) 2018; 9:25-34.

https://doi.org/10.2147/LCTT.S154116

28. Imyanitov EN, Demidova IA, Gordiev MG, Filipenko ML, Kekeyeva TV, Moliaka YK, *et al.* Distribution of EGFR mutations in 10,607 Russian patients with lung cancer. Mol Diagn Ther 2016; 20(4):401-6.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s40291-016-0213-4

- 29. Tanaka K, Shimizu K, Kakegawa S, Ohtaki Y, Nagasima T, Kaira K, *et al.* Prognostic significance of aromatase and estrogen receptor beta expression in EGFR wild-type lung adenocarcinoma. Am J Transl Res 2016; 8(1):81-97.
- 30. Herceg Z, Hainaut P. Genetic and epigenetic alterations as biomarkers for cancer detection, diagnosis and prognosis. Mol Oncol 2007; 1(1):26-41. h t t p s://doi.org/10.1016/j. molonc.2007.01.004
- 31. Hsu CL, Chen KY, Shih JY, Ho CC, Yang CH, Yu CJ, *et al.* Advanced nonsmall cell lung cancer in patients aged 45 years or younger: outcomes and prognostic factors. BMC Cancer 2012; 12:241.

https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2407-12-241

32. Rizzo S, Petrella F, Buscarino V, De Maria F, Raimondi S, Barberis M, *et al.* CT radiogenomic characterization of EGFR, K-RAS, and ALK mutations in non-small cell lung cancer. Eur Radiol 2016; 26(1):32-42.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s00330-015-3814-0

 Isaka T, Yokose T, Ito H, Nagata M, FurumotoH,NishiiT,*etal*.Correlations between the EGFR mutation status and clinicopathological features of clinical stage I lung adenocarcinoma. Medicine (Baltimore) 2015; 94(42):e1784.

https://doi.org/10.1097/ MD.00000000001784

Indonesian Journal of Biomedicine and Clinical Sciences

C-reactive protein (CRP) and lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) as functional outcome predictors in stroke patients

Nyimas Farisa Nadhilla¹, Abdul Gofir^{2*}, Tommy Rachmat Setyawan², Siti Farida³, Mawaddah Ar Rochmah²

¹Neurology Department, Yukum Medical Center, Lampung, Indonesia, ²Department of Neurology, Faculty of Medicine, Public Health and Nursing, Universitas Gadjah Mada/Dr. Sardjito General Hospital, Yogyakarta, ³Department of Neurology, Banyumas General Hospital, Central Jave, Indonesia https://doi.org/10.22146/ingibcs.v56i2.15892

https://doi.org/10.22146/inajbcs.v56i3.15893

ABSTRACT

Submitted: 2023-08-31 Accepted : 2023-11-27 Stroke is a neurologic disorder with high mortality and disability. Its pathophysiology is associated with vascular inflammation. However, studies between vascular inflammatory markers and stroke outcomes are still limited. This study aimed to investigate the association between inflammatory markers and functional outcomes of stroke. This was a retrospective cohort study involving all stroke patients at the Dr. Sardjito General Hospital, Yogyakarta from October 2020 to August 2021 who meet the inclusion and exclusion criteria. Mann-Whitney was used for bivariate analysis, followed by multivariate analysis. A total of 269 subjects, with 213 infarcts (79.2%) and 56 hemorrhagic (20.8%) strokes. There were 83 subjects deceased (30.9%), with 66 infarct (31%) and 17 hemorrhagic (30.4%) strokes. High CRP levels had significant and independent associations with worse GCS, ADL, IADL, NIHSS, BI, SSGM, MRS, and higher mortality rates (p < 0.05). High LDH levels had a significant and independent association with worse GCS scores and higher mortality rates (p < 0.05). Sub-analysis showed high CRP and LDH had associations with high mortality rates in infarct (p < 0.001), but only CRP (p = 0.029) had associations with high mortality rates in hemorrhagic. There was no significant association between fibrinogen and procalcitonin with stroke outcomes (p > 0.05). Coxregression analysis showed CRP>24.5 mg/dL and LDH >300U/L associated with hazard ratios of 3.2 (p < 0.001) and 1.65 (p = 0.026). In conclusion. high CRP and LDH levels are associated with mortality rates in stroke patients.

ABSTRAK

Stroke merupakan kelainan neurologis dengan angka kematian dan kecacatan tinggi. Patofisiologi stroke dikaitkan dengan peradangan pembuluh darah. Namun, penelitian antara penanda inflamasi vaskular dan luaran stroke masih terbatas. Penelitian ini bertujuan untuk mengkaji hubungan antara penanda inflamasi dan luaran fungsional stroke. Penelitian ini merupakan penelitian kohort retrospektif yang melibatkan seluruh pasien stroke di RSUP Dr. Sardjito Yogyakarta pada bulan Oktober 2020 hingga Agustus 2021 yang memenuhi kriteria inklusi dan eksklusi. Mann-Whitney digunakan untuk analisis bivariat, dilanjutkan dengan analisis multivariat. Sebanyak 269 subjek, dengan rincian 213 infark (79,2%) dan 56 stroke hemoragik (20,8%). Subjek meninggal dunia sebanyak 83 orang (30,9%), stroke infark sebanyak 66 orang (31%) dan stroke hemoragik sebanyak 17 orang (30,4%). Tingkat CRP yang tinggi memiliki hubungan yang signifikan dan independen dengan GCS, ADL, IADL, NIHSS, BI, SSGM, MRS yang lebih buruk, dan angka kematian yang lebih tinggi (p <0,05). Tingkat LDH yang tinggi memiliki hubungan yang signifikan dan independen dengan skor GCS yang lebih buruk dan angka kematian yang lebih tinggi (p <0,05). Sub-analisis menunjukkan CRP dan LDH yang tinggi berhubungan dengan tingkat kematian yang tinggi pada infark (p <0,001), namun hanya CRP (p = 0,029) yang memiliki hubungan dengan tingginya angka kematian pada hemoragik. Tidak terdapat hubungan bermakna antara fibrinogen dan prokalsitonin dengan luaran stroke (p > 0,05). Analisis regresi Cox menunjukkan CRP>24,5 mg/dL dan LDH >300U/L berhubungan dengan rasio bahaya sebesar 3,2 (p < 0,001) dan 1,65 (p = 0,026). Kesimpulannya, kadar CRP dan LDH yang tinggi berhubungan dengan angka kematian pada pasien stroke.

Keywords:

C-reactive protein; functional outcome; lactate dehydogenes; stroke

INTRODUCTION

Stroke is a neurological disease with high morbidity and mortality.¹ World Stroke Organization reported 13.7 million new stroke cases and around 5.5 million deaths occur annually.¹ Approximately 87% of all deaths and disabilities due to stroke occur in low and middle-income countries. In Indonesia in 2018, the prevalence of stroke at the age of ≥ 15 y.o. was 10.9% or an estimated 2.120.362 people. East Kalimantan (14.7%) and Yogyakarta Special Region (14.6%) had the highest stroke prevalence in Indonesia.²

The pathophysiology of stroke begins with damage to blood vessel endothelial cells caused by a complex cascade that activates the systemic inflammatory response in both ischemic and hemorrhagic strokes.³ This inflammatory response activates the immune system, such as macrophages and T cells, then forms a plaque that attracts other inflammatory mediators. mediators Inflammatory of proinflammatory cytokines, free radicals, and proteases can induce plaque rupture and thrombosis. Both ischemic and hemorrhagic brain damage can stimulate the movement and migration of immune cells, predominantly neutrophils and macrophages, into the brain and induce a systemic inflammatory response.⁴

C-reactive protein (CRP) is a marker to detect systemic inflammatory status, evaluate therapy, and predict the risk of future atherosclerotic diseases such as stroke and cardiovascular disease.^{1,3} It is produced several hr after the onset of tissue injury until it peaks in 48-72 hr.⁵ Increasing inflammatory markers such as CRP, IL-1, and IL-6 contribute to the pathogenesis of the ischemic brain and worsen the functional neurological outcome.⁶

Lactate dehydrogenase (LDH) is a cytoplasmic enzyme, the end product of glycolysis, found in many body cells and tissues, including muscle, liver, and brain. The presence of extracellular LDH in serum indicates a process of cell or tissue damage caused by inflammatory processes or pathological conditions.^{7,8} It can be found in severe sepsis, malignancy, infection and acute myocardial infarction, hypoxicischemic encephalopathy, liver diseases such as hepatic cirrhosis, and hepatic metastases.^{7,9} Increased serum LDH is a marker of the process of intravascular hemolysis, thus making LDH a prognostic for patients with stroke. Although LDH is a negative indicator of functional outcomes for various diseases, the relationship between LDH and stroke is still unclear.9

Other inflammatory markers, such as procalcitonin and fibrinogen, play a role in the pathogenesis of stroke. Procalcitonin can lead to an inflammatory process that causes endothelial damage, thrombin formation, and microvascular disturbances.^{10,11} Conversely, fibrinogen causes endothelial cell damage through an inflammatory process resulting in unstable atherosclerotic plaque progression.¹²

Several scores can be used to assess functional status, cognition, and stroke severity. The degree of severity of stroke can be evaluated by using the NIHSS (National Institutes of Health stroke scale), SSGM (Skala Stroke Gadjah Mada), and MRS (modified ranking scale). In contrast, the functional outcomes of stroke patients are measured by BI (Barthel index) scores, ADL (activities of daily Living), and IADL (instrumental activities of daily living). Cognitive outcomes were assessed using MMSE (mini-mental state examination) and Moca-Ina(Indonesianversion of Montreal cognitive assessment) scoring. Functional status is essential in determining patient management, as prognostic testing using inflammatory markers is a good option.^{1,2,13} However, studies related to LDH, CRP, procalcitonin, and fibrinogen markers on stroke outcomes ae still limited. This study aimed to determine the prognostic relationship between LDH, CRP, procalcitonin, and fibrinogen and stroke patient outcomes.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Subject

This was a retrospective cohort study involving patients with stroke at Dr. Sardjito General Hospital, Yogyakarta from October 2020 to August 2021 who met the inclusion and exclusion critrai. The inclusion criteria were 1) patients who had been diagnosed with stroke assessed from anamnesis, physical examination, and head CT scan examination, 2) had complete laboratory examination, including CRP, LDH, procalcitonin, and fibrinogen on admission. The exclusion criteria were patients with incomplete variable data.

Variables measurement

C-reactive protein, LDH, fibrinogen, procalcitonin variables were and processed at the Clinical Pathology Laboratory of Dr. Sardjito General Hospital and measured by blood samples from subjects at admission. Measurement of functional status at the end of hospitalization was assessed by BI, ADL, and IADL, while stroke severity was evaluated by NIHSS, SSGM, and MRS. Cognitive status measures were considered by MMSE and Moca-Ina score. The NIHSS had a value range of 0-34, with the higher the value indicating the more severe the degree of stroke. The BI had a value range of 0-100, and SSGM had a value range of 0-38, with low values indicating severe functional impairment. The ADL had a value range of 0-18, and the IADL had a value range of 0-14, with higher values indicating severe functional impairment. The MRS score ranged from 0-6, with higher indicating severe functional impairment. The MMSE and Moca-Ina each have a score range of 0-30, with lower scores indicating worse cognition. Another variable was GCS to measure the level of consciousness. This GCS consists of four scales: Compos Mentis is where a person is fully awake and responsive, somnolence is where a person is drowsy but still responds to the tactile or auditory stimulus, stupor is where a person is difficult to wake and only responds to a vigorous stimulus and coma is where a person does not respond in any stimulus.¹⁴ Follow-up was carried out at the end of hospitalization to determine the duration of hospitalization and the subject's last condition. This study was approved by the Medical and Health Research Ethics Committee of the Faculty of Medicine, Public Health and Nursing, Universitas Gadjah Mada/Dr. Sardjito General Hospital, Yogyakarta (KE/FK/0288/EC).

Statistical analysis

Characteristics of the subject were presented in tabular form. Numerical variables will be analyzed for normality of the data using Shapiro-Wilk, with a p <0.05 indicating that the data was not normally distributed. A multivariate test was performed with adjustments for age, sex, and BMI (body mass index) for each variable with logistic regression (categorical dependent variable) or linear regression (numerical dependent Significant inflammatory variable). variables will be analyzed by the receiver operating characteristic curve (ROC) to determine the cutoff, and then Cox-regression analysis was performed to determine the hazard ratio (HR) of these inflammatory marker variables. SPSS version 20 was used for statistical analysis.

RESULTS

A total of 292 subjects were included in this study, with males 55.5% and females 44.5%. Based on the type of stroke, there were 213 infarction cases (77.7%) and 56 cases of hemorrhage (22.3%). Subjects who died amounted to 83 patients (30.4%). Initial characteristic data of subjects are presented in TABLE 1.

High CRP levels were significantly and independently associated with worsened GCS scores, ADL, IADL, NIHSS, BI, SSGM, MRS, and higher mortality in stroke patients (p<0.05) as presented in TABLE 2. High LDH levels were significantly and independently associated with worsened GCS admissions and higher mortality (p<0.05). Conversly, fibrinogen and procalcitonin levels were

not associated with stroke functional outcomes or stroke patient mortality (p>0.05). Meanwhile, increased levels of procalcitonin correlated with increased levels of CRP (p < 0.007) and increased levels of fibrinogen associated with increased levels of CRP and LDH (p<0.05).

	-	
Variable	Proportion (%)	Mean ± SD
Age (yr)	-	60.71±13.31
Gender (%)		
Male	162 (55.5)	-
Female	130 (44.0)	-
BMI (kg/m²)	-	24.11±3.99
GCS (%)		
Coma	27 (9.2)	-
Sopor	27 (9.2)	-
Somnolence	39 (13.4)	-
Compos mentis	199 (68.2)	-
Stroke type (%)		
Infact	227 (77.7)	-
Hemorrhage	65 (22.3)	-
CRP (mg/dL)	-	44.97±54.77
LDH (U/L)	-	331.73±528.41
Procalcitonin (ng/mL)	-	3.79 ± 8.18
Fibrinogen (mg/dL)	-	451.95±157.39
LoS (d)	-	6.76±5.24
ADL	-	12.76±5.68
IADL	-	11.02±4.06
NIHSS	-	10.97±8.99
Barthel Index	-	39.81±30.28
SSGM	-	23.13±11.49
MMSE	-	22.51±6.39
Moca-Ina	-	18.64±7.54
MRS	-	3.71±1.42
Mortality (%)		
Deceased	83 (30.9)	-
Alive	186 (69.1)	-

TABLE 1. Characteristics of subjects

Note. BMI: body mass index; GCS: Glasgow coma scale; CRP: C-reactive protein; LDH: lactate dehydrogenase; LoS: length of stay; ADL: activities of daily living; IADL: instrumental activities of daily living; NIHSS: National Institutes of Health stroke scale; SSGM: Gadjah Mada stroke scale; MMSE: mini-mental state examination; Mona-Ina: Indonesian version of Montreal cognitive assessment; MRS: modified ranking scale; SD: standard deviasion.

Variable	CRP	LDH	Procalcitonin	Fibrinogen
Age (yr) ^a				
r-adjusted	0.142	0.043	0.189	0.103
р	0.034	0.475	0.189	0.390
Gender ^b				
Male	43.31±53.45	314.91±182.33	4.15±9.10	486.08±174.87
Female	47.10±56.55	352.82±767.85	3.31±6.86	419.67±133.31
р	0.762	0.084	0.838	0.221
LoS (d) ^a				
r-adjusted	0.034	0.032	0.015	0.175
р	0.611	0.597	0.914	0.141
GCS ^a				
r-adjusted	-0.228	-0.130	0.036	0.002
р	< 0.001	0.028	0.797	0.986
ADL ^a				
r-adjusted	0.281	0.119	-0.010	0.022
р	< 0.001	0.047	0.941	0.856
IADL ^a				
r-adjusted	0.262	0.063	0.024	-0.048
р	< 0.001	0.291	0.864	0.694
NIHSS ^a				
r-adjusted	0.264	0.117	0.631	-0.074
р	< 0.001	0.05	0.631	0.544
BI ^a				
r-adjusted	-0.307	-0.071	-0.002	0.065
р	< 0.01	0.238	0.991	0.593
SSGM ^a				
r-adjusted	-0.254	-0.039	-	-0.047
р	0.003	0.607	-	0.839
MMSE ^a				
r-adjusted	-0.253	-0.162	-	0.067
р	0.02	0.098	-	0.853
Moca-Ina ^a				
r-adjusted	-0.207	-0.129	-	0.319
р	0.062	0.198	-	0.402
MRS ^a				
r-adjusted	0.283	0.052	0.022	-0.105
р	< 0.001	0.419	0.875	0.390
CRP (mg/dL) ^a				
r-adjusted	-	0.319	0.362	0.437
р	-	< 0.001	0.007	< 0.001

TABLE 2. Relationship between CRP, LDH, fibrinogen, and procalcitonin to various variables in all types of stroke

Variable	CRP	LDH	Procalcitonin	Fibrinogen
LDH, U/L ^a				
r-adjusted	0.344	-	0.219	0.356
р	< 0.001	-	0.115	0.003
Procalcitonin (ng/mL) ^a				
r-adjusted	0.353	0.219	-	-0.035
р	0.011	0.115	-	0.863
Fibrinogen (mg/dL)ª				
r-adjusted	0.437	0.356	-0.035	-
р	0.001	0.003	0.863	-
Stroke type ^b				
Infarct	49.26±56.27	339.62 ± 587.40	3.97 ± 8.44	473.25±170.89
Hemorrhage	30.03±36.57	304.04±221.78	1.58 ± 3.01	388.05±81.57
р	0.017	0.495	0.165	0.072
Mortality ^b				
Deceased	76.84±58.43	454.12±953.90	5.15 ± 9.90	463.73±170.86
Alive	32.36±47.45	287.97±170.20	1.76 ± 3.93	447.17±146.95
р	< 0.001	<0.001	0.061	0.859

TABLE 2. Cont

Information: ^aAnalysis using linear regression adjusted for age, sex, and BMI; ^bAnalysis using logistic regression adjusted for age, sex, and BMI; LoS: length of stay; ADL: activities of daily living; CRP: C-reactive protein; GCS: Glasgow coma scale; IADL: instrumental activities of daily living; LDH: lactate dehydrogenase; MMSE: mini-mental state examination; Mona-Ina: Montreal cognitive assessment Indonesian version; MRS: modified ranking scale; NIHSS: National Institutes of Health stroke scale; SSGM: Gadjah Mada stroke scale.

Sub-analysis based on the type of stroke in TABLE 3 showed that high CRP levels significantly correlated with lower GCS, BI, SSGM MMSE, Moca-Ina, and worsened NIHSS, ADL, IADL, MRS scores in stroke infarct patients (p<0.05). In cases of stroke infarction who deceased, CRP levels were higher (81.53 mg/dL) than the surviving group (35.03 mg/dL; p<0.001). For hemorrhagic stroke, only CRP levels were significantly and independently related

to mortality (p=0.029). High LDH levels correlated with worse GCS, ADL, and NIHSS scores (p<0.05) and were associated with higher mortality in stroke infarction (p<0.001). In hemorrhagic stroke, there was no significant relationship between LDH levels and patient outcomes (p> 0.05). Fibrinogen and procalcitonin levels were not significantly related to functional outcome and mortality from infarct or hemorrhage stroke (p> 0.05).

	CI	RP	LD	Н	Fibri	nogen	Procal	citonin
Variable	Infarct	Hemor- rhagic	Infarct	Hemorrhagic	Infarct	Hemorrhag- ic	Infarct	Hemorrhagic
LoS ^a								
r-adjusted	0.034	-0.150	0.097	-0.065	-0.049	0.632	0.202	0.505
р	0.611	0.240	0.151	0.614	0.731	0.368	0.144	0.033
GCS ^a								
r-adjusted	-0.265	-0.174	-0.153	-0.097	-0.07	0.833	-0.086	0.140
р	< 0.001	0.170	0.023	0.448	0.627	0.167	0.537	0.581
Mortality ^b								
Deceased	81.53±57.28	58.64±61.04	485.69±1069.65	337.11±201.79	5.46±10.31	-	486.91±187.20	387.57±61.48
Alive	35.03±49.23	22.23±38.91	284.18±143.49	302.81±251.01	1.85±4.01	-	463.13±160.14	392.22±68.78
р	< 0.001	0.029	< 0.001	0.397	0.063	-	0.720	0.918
ADL ^a								
r-adjusted	0.350	0.087	0.136	0.089	0.034	-	0.087	-0.060
р	< 0.001	0.506	0.045	0.500	0.814	-	0.531	0.826
IADL ^a								
r-adjusted	0.330	0.107	0.079	0.040	0.068	-	0.011	-0.196
р	< 0.001	0.412	0.245	0.764	0.635	-	0.938	0.466
NIHSS ^a								
r-adjusted	0.318	0.098	0.142	0.023	-0.085	0.949	0.004	-0.190
р	< 0.001	0.452	0.035	0.863	0.552	0.051	0.975	0.482
BI ^a								
r-adjusted	-0.307	-0.214	-0.073	-0.097	-0.042	0.895	0.018	0.009
р	< 0.001	0.098	0.278	0.459	0.772	0.105	0.894	0.974
SSGM ^a								
r-adjusted	-0.255	0.216	-0.047	0.097	-	-	-0.083	0.048
р	0.003	0.164	0.589	0.543	-	-	0.788	0.910
MMSE ^a								
r-adjusted	-0.253	0.081	-0.164	-0.208	-	-	0.120	-
р	0.020	0.727	0.130	0.379	-	-	0.778	-
Moca-Inaª								
r-adjusted	-0.270	0.215	-0.138	0.182	-	-	0.301	-
р	0.062	0.392	0.212	0.484	-	-	0.468	-
MRS ^a								
r-adjusted	0.283	0.094	0.068	0.037	0.065	-	-0.004	-0.474
р	< 0.001	0.511	0.349	0.795	0.655	-	0.977	0.064

TABLE 3. Relationship between CRP, LDH, fibrinogen, and procalcitonin to infarction stroke and hemorrhagic stroke

^aAnalysis using linear regression adjusted for age, sex, and BMI; ^bAnalysis using logistic regression adjusted for age, sex, and BMI. The sign indicates that the analysis could not be carried out because the number of subjects in each group did not meet; ADL: activities of daily living; CRP: C-reactive protein; GCS: Glasgow coma scale; IADL: instrumental activities of daily living; LDH: lactate dehydrogenase; MMSE: mini-mental state examination; Mona-Ina: Montreal cognitive assessment Indonesian version; MRS: modified ranking scale; NIHSS: National Institutes of Health stroke scale; SSGM: Gadjah Mada stroke scale. dehydrogenase

Variable	Cut off	р	Hazard ratio	95% CI
CRP	>24.5	< 0.001	3.225	1.96-5.29
LDH	>300	0.026	1.651	1.06-2.56
CI: confidence	interval;	CRP: C-r	eactive protein;	LDH: lactate

TABLE 4. Survival analysis CRP dan LDH towards stroke mortality

Logistic regression analysis included the four inflammatory marker variables above, and the predictor formula was obtained (12 x CRP) + LDH where the total values were 600, 1000, and >2000, indicating a stroke mortality rate of 26.25%, 47.5%, and >75%. TABLE 4 showed analysis using Cox regression, where CRP levels >24.5 mg/dL could increase mortality 3.2 times (p <0.001), and LDH levels >300 U/L could increase mortality 1.6 times in stroke patients (p = 0.026).

DISCUSSION

This study showed that elevated CRP levels (> 24.5) and high LDH (> 300) were associated with increased stroke mortality, especially in stroke infarction. This CRP is a marker of both acute and chronic systemic inflammation, where inflammation plays an essential role in the pathogenesis of cerebrovascular disease through the mechanism of atherosclerosis formation and plaque instability, which results in easy plaque rupture. Several studies had shown that inflammation can affect atherosclerotic plaques' composition, morphology, and stability, the most common cause of stroke infarction.^{15,16}

On the other hand, LDH is a marker whose levels will increase if tissue damage occurs. Increased LDH levels are markers of intravascular hemolysis, thus contributing to prognostic factors in stroke.¹⁷ Although the underlying mechanism in the relationship between LDH and stroke outcome and mortality is still unclear, several theories can explain the above conditions. First, LDH is an inflammatory biomarker in which inflammation is related to endothelial cell dysfunction. Second, LDH is an enzyme in many organ systems, and its levels will increase if there is a disturbance in these organs.^{8,18}

The mechanism between CRP and hemorrhagic stroke is still unclear. However. several studies showed that CRP levels are associated with the formation of lesions in the white matter, which indicates the involvement of the inflammatory process in the brain's small blood vessels. Bleeding may result from the rupture of small vessels from lipo hyalinosis secondary to hypertension or amyloid angiopathy. Liu *et al.*¹⁵ reported that hs-CRP (high sensitivity CRP) levels were associated with micro brain hemorrhages in the lobar and deeper structures.¹⁴ Other studies showed that there was a relationship between increased CRP levels and the development of stroke, as seen in increased mortality and the incidence of intracerebral hemorrhage after thrombolysis.18

In this study, high LDH levels did not significantly correlate with functional outcomes and hemorrhagic stroke mortality. In contrast, previous studies demonstrated that LDH levels had a positive relationship with mortality and poor functional outcome in ischemic stroke patients and in hemorrhagic stroke at three months and one-year follow-ups.¹⁷ Study with a longer follow-up duration is needed to show a significant relationship between LDH and functional outcome.

In this study, the relationship between and procalcitonin fibrinogen was insignificant to stroke patients' functional outcome and mortality (> 0.05). Another study reported no significant difference between fibrinogen and stroke function outcomes (p = 0.416), and there was no significant difference in fibrinogen levels between stroke patients and the control group.^{12,19} This differed from the study by Di Napoli *et al.*,²⁰ which reported a significant association between high fibrinogen levels and poor stroke function outcomes. For procalcitonin, several studies had shown mixed results. The study by Deng *et al.*¹¹ reported that procalcitonin levels were associated with stroke functional outcomes, as seen from the NIHSS score (<0.001). In contrast, the study by Miyakis et al.,21 showed significant association between no procalcitonin levels with mortality and stroke function outcomes based on stroke subtype. Further study to investigate the relationship between procalcitonin and fibrinogen on functional outcomes and stroke mortality is still needed.

The limitations of this study were the small number of subjects; we did not differentiate between first stroke or recurrent stroke, and the short follow-up duration. Further research is needed regarding this study. However, based on the researchers' knowledge to the present time, studies have yet to examine the relationship between CRP, LDH, fibrinogen, and procalcitonin on mortality and functional outcome of stroke as assessed by various rating scales comprehensively in Indonesia.

CONCLUSION

This study showed that CRP >24.5 mg/dL and LDH >300 U/L at admission could predict worsened functional

outcomes and increased mortality in stroke patients. Mortality and functional outcome of infarction stroke are associated with high CRP and LDH levels at admission, whereas only CRP is associated with mortality and functional development of hemorrhagic stroke.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

This research was conducted during the residency program of Nyimas Farisa Nadhilla in Study Program of Neurology Specialist, Department of Neurology, Faculty of Medicine, Public Health, and Nursing, UGM, apart from her final thesis.

REFERENCES

- Ahmadi-Ahangar A. Predictive ability of C-reactive protein for stroke. Caspian J Intern Med 2016; 7(3):151-2.
- Ministry of Health of Indonesia, Riskesdas Tahun 2018 (Basic Health Research 2018). https://pusdatin.kemkes.go.id/ download.php?file=download/ pusdatin/infodatin/infodatin-strokedont-be-the-one.pdf.
- 3. Bakhshayesh-Eghbali B, Roudbary SA, Basir Jafari S, Nabizadeh SP, Naderi-Asrami N, Sohrabnejad R. Ability of serum C-reactive protein and white blood cell count in predicting acute ischemic stroke. A short -term follow-up study. Caspian J Intern Med 2016; 7(3):206-10.
- 4. Shoaeb MA, Shehata MA, Taema KM, Hammouda MA. CRP in cerebrovascular stroke: Prognostic implications. Egyptian Crit Care Med 2014; 2(1):43-52. h t t p s ://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejccm.2014.03.001
- 5. Chauduri JR, Mridula KR, Umamahesh M, Swathi A, Balaraju B, Bandaru VC. High sensitivity C-reactive protein level in acute

ischemic stroke and subtypes: A study from a tertiary care center. Iran J Neurol 2013; 12(3):92-7.

6. Serpero LD, Bellissima V, Colivicchi M, Sabatini M, Frigiola A, Ricotti A, *et al.* Next generation biomarkers for brain injury. J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med 2013; 26(sup2):44-9. https://doi.org/10.3109/14767058.201

3.829688 7. Wu LW, Kao TW, Lin CM, Yang HF,

7. Wu LW, Rao TW, Elli CM, Tang III, Sun YS, Liaw FY, et al. Examining the association between serum lactic dehydrogenase and allcause mortality in patients with metabolic syndrome: a retrospective observational study. BMJ Open 2016; 6(5):e011186.

h t t p s : // d o i . o r g / 1 0 . 1 1 3 6 / bmjopen-2016-011186

 Yan D, Huang Q, Dai C, Ren W, Chen S. Lactic dehydrogenase to albumin ratio is associated with the risk of stroke-associated pneumonia in patients with acute ischemic stroke. Front Nutr 2021; 8:743216.

https://doi.org/10.3389/fnut.2021.743216

9. Wang A, Tian X, Zuo Y, Wang X, Xu Q, Meng X, *et al.* High lactate dehydrogenase was associated with adverse outcomes in patients with acute ischemic stroke or transient ischemic attack. Ann Palliat Med 2021; 10(10):10185-95.

https://doi.org/10.21037/apm-21-2195

 Yan L, Wang S, Xu L, Zhang Z, Liao P. Procalcitonin as a prognostic marker of patients with acute ischemic stroke. J Clin Lab Anal 2020; 34(7):e23301.

https:/doi.org/10.1002/jcla.23301

- Deng WJ, Shen RL, Li M, Teng JF. Relationship between procalcitonin serum levels and functional outcome in stroke patients. Cell Mol Neurobiol 2015; 35(3):355-61. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10571-014-0131-0
- 12. Giannopoulos S, Kosmidou M, Hatzitolios AI, Savopoulos CG, Ziakas

A, Karamouzis M. Measurements of endothelin-1, C-reactive protein and fibrinogen plasma levels in patients with acute ischemic stroke. Neurol Res 2008; 30(7):727-30.

https://doi.org/10.1179/174313208X297904

- 13. Prasetiyo YW, Husni A, Tugasworo Hubungan antara jumlah D. neutrofil dan kadar hs-CRP serum dengan luaran klinis penderita stroke iskemik. Neurona (Majalah Kedokteran Neuro Sains Perhimpunan Dokter Spesialis Saraf Indonesia). 2017; 34(3).
- 14. Adams RD, Victor M, Ropper AH, Samuels MA, Klein J. Principles of neurology: Chapter 16. Coma and Related Disorders of Consciousness Twelfth edition. New York: McGraw-Hill; 2023. p.361-86.
- 15. Liu Y, Wang I, Zhang L, Wang C, Wu J, Zhou Y, et al. Relationship between C-reactive protein and stroke: а large prospective community based study. PloS one 2014; 9(9):e107017. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pone.0107017
- 16. Matsuo R, Ago T, Hata J, Wakisaka Y, Kuroda J, Kuwashiro T, *et al.* Plasma C-reactive protein and clinical outcomes after acute ischemic stroke: a prospective observational study. PLoS One 2016; 11(6):e0156790. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pone.0156790
- 17. Wang A, Tian X, Zuo Y, Wang X, Xu Q, Meng X, *et al.* High lactate dehydrogenase was associated with adverse outcomes in patients with acute ischemic stroke or transient ischemic attack. Ann Palliat Med 2021; 10(10):10185-95.

https://doi.org/10.21037/apm-21-2195

18. Rocco A, Ringleb PA, Grittner U, Nolte CH, Schneider A, Nagel S. Followup C-reactive protein level is more strongly associated with outcome in stroke patients than admission levels. Neurol Sci 2015; 36(12):2235-41. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10072-015-2342-7

- 19. Liu LB, Li M, Zhuo WY, Zhang YS, Xu AD. The role of hs-CRP, D-dimer, and fibrinogen in differentiating etiological subtypes of ischemic stroke. PLoS One 2015; 10(2):e0118301. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pone.0118301
- 20. Di Napoli M, Papa F, Bocola V. Prognostic influence of increased

C-reactive protein and fibrinogen levels in ischemic stroke. Stroke 2001; 32(1):133-8.

https://doi.org/10.1161/01.str.32.1.133

21. Miyakis S, Georgakopoulos P, Kiagia M, Papadopoulou O, Pefanis A, Gonis A, *et al.* Serial serum procalcitonin changes in the prognosis of acute stroke. Clin Chim Acta 2004; 350(1-2):237-9.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cccn.2004.08.002



Health comorbidities in children with down syndrome (DS) at Dr. Sardjito General Hospital, Yogyakarta

Suryono Yudha Patria, Agung Triono*

Department of Child Health, Faculty of Medicine, Public Health, and Nursing, Universitas Gadjah Mada/Dr. Sardjito General Hospital, Yogyakarta, Indonesia https://doi.org/10.22146/inajbcs.v56i3.16062

ABSTRACT

Submitted: 2023-11-27 Down syndrome (DS) is a disease caused by trisomy of chromosome 21. The phenotype in DS leads to manifestations in several organ systems. This study Accepted : 2024-07-23 aimed to identify the pattern of comorbidities in DS patients. It was a singlecenter, cross-sectional study at Dr. Sardjito General Hospital, Yogyakarta. Medical records of pediatric patients with DS from a period of January 2022 to May 2023 were included. Descriptive analysis was performed to demonstrate demographic and clinical characteristics. A total of 355 pediatric patients with DS were found at Dr. Sardjito General Hospital and the majority were male (196 children or 55.2%). As much as 339 children (95.49%) had comorbidities. The highest comorbidity was congenital heart disease (230 patients or 67.84%) in specifics were atrial septal defect (41 patients or 12.39%), atrioventricular septal defect (29 patients or 8.17%), and patent ductus arteriosus (28 patients or 7.88%). The second highest comorbidity was endocrine system disorders (102 patients or 30.09%), with 100 patients (28.16%) children suffering hypothyroidism. The number of children who had one comorbidity was 248 patients (69.86%), 74 patients (20.48%) had two comorbidities, and 17 patients (4.79%) had three or more comorbidities. The highest co-prevalence of the two comorbidities was congenital heart disease and endocrine system disorders (36 patients or 10.14%). The highest co-prevalence of 3 or more comorbidities was a combination of congenital heart disease, visual impairment, and hearing impairment (6 patients or 1.69%). In conclusion, 95.49% of children with DS have comorbidities. The most common comorbidity was heart defects. About 25.63% of patients had more than one comorbidity. Children with DS who have comorbidities require more attention to prevent complications and to reduce morbidity.

ABSTRAK

Sindrom Down (SD) merupakan penyakit yang disebabkan oleh trisomi kromosom 21. Fenotipe dari SD menimbulkan manifestasi pada beberapa sistem organ. Penelitian ini bertujuan untuk mengidentifikasi pola penyebaran komorbid pada pasien SD. Penelitian pada satu senter, studi potong lintang di RSUP Dr. Sardjito, Yogyakarta. Rekam medis pasien anak dengan SD periode Januari 2022 sampai Mei 2023 diikutkan dalam penelitian. Analisis deskriptif dilakukan untuk menunjukkan demografis dan karakteristik klinis pasien SD. Total 355 pasien anak dengan SD di RSUP Dr. Sardjito pada kurun waktu penelitian dan mayoritas laki-laki yaitu sebanyak 196 pasien (55,2%). Sebanyak 339 pasien (95,49%) dengan komorbid. Komorbid tertinggi adalah penyakit jantung bawaan (230 pasien atau 67,84%) dengan perincian kasus atrial septal defect (41 pasien atau 12.39%), atrioventricular septal defect (29 pasien atau 8,17%), dan patent ductus arteriosus (28 pasien atau 7.88%). Komorbid tertinggi kedua adalah kelainan sistem endokrin (102 pasien atau 30,09%) dengan 100 pasien (28.16%) yang menderita hipotiroid. Jumlah yang memiliki satu komorbid sebanyak 248 pasien (69,86%), 74 pasien (20,48%) memiliki dua komorbid dan 17 pasien (4,79%) memiliki tiga komorbid atau lebih. Ko-prevalensi dua komorbid tertinggi adalah penyakit jantung bawaan dan kelainan sistem endokrin (36 pasien atau 10,14%). Ko-prevalensi tiga atau lebih komorbid tertinggi adalah kombinasi dari penyakit jantung bawaan, gangguan penglihatan, dan gangguan pendengaran (6 pasien atau 1,69%). Simpulan, anak dengan SD yang memiliki komorbid sebesar 95,49%. Komorbid terbanyak adalah kelainan jantung. Sebanyak 25,63% pasien memiliki komorbid lebih dari satu. Anak SD yang memiliki komorbid memerlukan perhatian lebih untuk mencegah komplikasi dan mengurangi morbiditas.

Keywords: children; comorbidities; down syndrome; prevalence; manifestation

INTRODUCTION

Down syndrome (DS) is one of the chromosomal disorders with the highest prevalence in humans, caused by the trisomy of chromosome 21.^{1,2} The phenotype in DS encompasses various clinical manifestations that can affect several organ systems, particularly the nervous, musculoskeletal, and systems.¹ Clinical cardiovascular features include intellectual disabilities, short stature, a flat facial profile, prominent epicanthal folds, upward slanting fissures of the eyelids, and a protruding tongue.²

According to WHO's data from 2018, the prevalence of DS is approximately one in every 1,000 births.² It is also found that the prevalence of DS has significantly increased as the global population grows. In the United States, the population prevalence of DS increased from around 50,000 in 1950 (3.3 per 10,000 individuals) to about 212,000 in 2013 (6.7 per 10,000 individuals).¹ Currently, in the United States, around 500 live births with DS occur each year, and over 200,000 individuals live with this disorder.³

Based on data from the Indonesian Ministry of Health of Republic of Indoensia (Pusdatin Kemenkes RI). the incidence of DS cases in Indonesia has risen over the years. In the Basic Health Research (Riskesdas) results of 2010, DS cases in children aged 24 to 59 mo were recorded at 0.12%, increasing to 0.13% in the 2013 Riskesdas, and further rising to 0.21% in the 2018 *Riskesdas*.⁴ According to the Hospital Information System (SIRS), among 2,488 hospitals, 1,657 cases of DS were reported in 2015. In 2016, data from 2,598 hospitals indicated 4,449 cases of DS, while in 2017, 2,776 hospitals reported 4,130 cases of DS.⁴

Down syndrome exhibits diverse clinical phenotypes that affect various organ systems. Over time, a study in England and Wales in 2020 reported that patterns and prevalence of comorbidities in DS may change due to improvements in care and treatment. Therefore, upto-date information on DS and its comorbidities is essential for clinical practitioners, individuals, families, and caregivers.⁵

Another study in the United Kingdom in 2023 reported multiple morbidities were found in DS patients that show distinct patterns of ageincidence trajectories related and clustering that differ from those found in the general population and in people with other intellectual disabilities. The multiple morbidities have implications for provision and timing of health-care screening, prevention, and treatment for people with DS.⁶

We also found no studies in Indonesia, especially in Yogyakarta Special Region, that show and elaborate different cases of morbidities in DS patients. Therefore, increasing trend of DS cases in Indonesia each year and the need for current information on the pattern of comorbidities in DS cases in Indonesia serve as the fundamentals of this study. This study is expected to contribute valuable information on the patterns of comorbidities in DS cases in Indonesia, particularly in Yogyakarta Special Region.

This study is essential as identifying patterns of common comorbidities, especially in Indonesia, can benefit healthcare services in Indonesia to foresee common comorbidities in DS patients and can benefit DS patients with early intervention and enhance the quality of healthcare.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

Design and subjects

It was a cross-sectional study conducted at Dr. Sardjito General Hospital, Yogyakarta using data of the medical records of pediatric patients who confirmed with a diagnosis of DS in a period of January 2022 to May 2023. The diagnosis of DS was established by a pediatric specialist and consultant endocrinologist based on clinical criteria as documented in the medical records.

Procedure

The data collected for this study include age, gender, and the comorbidity profile of patients with DS. Patients with confirmed diagnoses of DS were included in this study, and patients with incomplete data were excluded from this study. Comorbidities were established by a pediatric specialist based on clinical criteria as documented in the medical records. This study followed the criteria of medical ethics and was accepted by the Institutional Review Board of the Faculty of Medicine, Public Health, and Nursing, Universitas Gadjah Mada/Dr. Sardjito General Hospital, Yogyakarta (KE/FK/0666/EC/2023).

Data analysis

Data were presented as frequency and percentage. Descriptive analysis was employed to present the demographic and clinical characteristics of the patients.

RESULTS

A total of 355 children with DS were involved in this study. The characteristics of patients are presented in TABLE 1. More male patients were found in this study with the average age was 3.88 ± 3.73 yr.

Among 355 pediatric patients with DS, most the patients (339 children or 95.49%) had comorbidities (FIGURE 1). The highest comorbidity was congenital heart disease (230 children or 67.84%).

The most common comorbidity found was congenital heart disease (230 or 67.84%) in specifics were atrial septal defect (41 patients or 12.39%), atrioventricular septal defect (29 patients or 8.17%), and patent ductus arteriosus (28 patients or 7.88%). The second highest comorbidity was endocrine system disorders (102 patients or 30.09%), with 100 patients (28.16%) children suffering hypothyroidism (TABLE 2).

This study found that some patients has a combination of 2 comorbidities (74 patients or 20.48%). Congenital heart disease and endocrine system disorders are the most common combinations (36 patients or 10.14%). The most minor combination found was visual impairments along with hearing impairments (9 patients or 2.53%) (TABLE 3).

This study also found that some children were diagnosed with 3 combinations of comorbidities (TABLE 4). The highest combination of comorbidities found was congenital heart disease with visual impairments and hearing impairments (6 patients or 1.69%).

TABLE 1. Characteristics of pediatric patients with DS (n=355) at Dr. Sardjito General Hospital, Yogyakarta

Characteristics	Number
Age (mean ±SD yr)	3.88 ± 3.73
Gender [n (%)]	
• Male	196 (55.2)
• Female	159 (44.8)



FIGURE 1. Number of comorbidities of pediatric patients with DS (n=339) at Dr. Sardjito General Hospital, Yogyakarta
Comorbidities	Number [n (%)]
Central nervous system disorders	21
 Global developmental delay 	12 (3.38)
 Epilepsy 	7 (1.97)
Sleep apnea	2 (0.56)
Congenital heart disease	230
• Atrial septal defect	41 (12.39)
Atrioventricular septal defect	29 (8.17)
• Patent ductus arteriosus	28 (7.88)
 Ventricular septal defect 	16 (4.60)
 Tricuspid insufficiency 	10 (2.81)
Tetralogy of fallot	4 (1.12)
 Mitral insufficiency 	3 (0.84)
Atresia of pulmonary artery	3 (0.84)
Pulmonary valve insufficiency	3 (0.84)
Pulmonary valve stenosis	1 (0.28)
Persistent foramen ovale	1 (0.28
Tricuspid stenosis	1 (0.28)
Ebstein anomaly	1 (0.28)
Dextrocardia	1 (0.28)
Endocrine system disorders	102
Hypothyroidism	100 (28 16)
Growth and skeletal anomalies	3 (0.84)
Congenital foot deformities	3(0.84)
Thyrotoxicosis	1 (0.28)
 Diabetes mellitus 	1 (0.28)
Genitourinary system disorders	10
Cryptorchidism	10 (2 81)
Gastrointestinal system disorders	28
Biliary obstruction	9 (2 53)
Hirschsnrung's disease	9 (2.53)
 Duodenal atresia and/or stenosis 	6 (1 69)
 Anal atrasia and/or stanosis 	A (1 12)
Visual impairments	- (1.12)
Refractive errors	13 (3 66)
Cataracte	6 (1 60)
• Calaracis	0(1.03)
• Strabistitus	4(1.12)
- Nysiaginus Hooring impoirments	4 (1.14 <i>)</i> 21
Sonsori noural bearing loss	31 20 (0 16)
Jelisoli-fieural fiearing loss	29 (0.10)
Auditory perception disorders	<u> </u>
	10tai 339 (95.49)

TABLE 2. Detailed comorbidities profile of pediatric patients with DS at Dr. Sardjito General Hospital

TABLE 3. Co-prevalence of 2 comorbidities of pediatric patients with DS at Dr. Sardjito General Hospital, Yogyakarta

Co-prevalence comorbidities of patients with DS		Number [n (%)]
Congenital heart disease + endocrine system disorders		36 (10.1)
Congenital heart disease + hearing impairments		14 (3.94)
Congenital heart disease + visual impairments		12 (3.38)
Visual impairments + hearing impairments		9 (2.53)
	Total	71 (19.95)

TABLE 4. Co-prevalence of 3 comorbidities of pediatric patients with DS at Dr. Sardjito General Hospital, Yogyakarta

Connection of a set of the set of	
co-prevalence conformations of patients with DS	[n (%)]
Congenital heart disease + visual impairments + hearing impairments	6 (1.69)
Congenital heart disease + endocrine system disorders + hearing impairments	2 (0.56)
Congenital heart disease + gastrointestinal system disorders + visual Impairments	1 (0.28)
Congenital heart disease + endocrine system disorders + genitourinary system disorders	1 (0.28)
Visual impairments + growth and skeletal anomalies + hearing impairments	1 (0.28)
Endocrine system disorders + growth and skeletal anomalies + gastrointestinal system disorders	1 (0.28)

DISCUSSION

In this study, it was observed that children with DS were predominantly male, consistent with findings from other studies indicating a higher prevalence of males among individuals with DS.^{5,7}

Based on other studies, children with DS are known to have a higher risk of congenital anomalies such as heart and abdominal wall disorders. Additionally, they are more susceptible to vision and hearing impairments, sleep apnea, as well as growth and skeletal disorders. Individuals with DS also exhibit vulnerabilities to immune and endocrine system disorders.⁸ Our study indicates that patients with DS may have multiple comorbidities, potentially more than one concurrent condition.

In this study, several children with DS were found to have comorbid epilepsy, aligning with a study by Altuna *et al.*,⁹ which revealed a vulnerability to epilepsy in individuals with DS. This susceptibility may be attributed to various mechanisms, including frontal and temporal lobe hypoplasia, dendritic dyskinesia, abnormal neuronal lamination, reduced neuron density, disruptions in inhibitory GABAergic interneuron function, changes in membrane ion channel activities, and other metabolic abnormalities.⁹

Patients with DS in this study were also identified with global developmental delay. This aligns with the findings of Ferreira-Vagues and Lamonica, indicating that individuals with DS perform lower, especially in language and fine motor domains.¹⁰ According to other studies, individuals with DS are more vulnerable to brain function disorders due to several factors, including morphological disorders of pyramidal neurons or excessive changes in inhibitory function.¹¹ Other studies have proposed hypotheses causing developmental delays, especially in motor skills. These include 1) Changes in the shape and size of neurons and the cerebrum; 2) Maturity disorders of the central nervous system; 3) Pathophysiological processes such as degeneration of the nervous system, disorders in the regulation of neuron apoptosis, excessive gene expression, and decreased neurotransmitter release.¹²

The majority of patients with DS in this study were found to have congenital heart

disease. This aligns with several studies that found congenital heart disease to be the most frequently encountered anomaly in individuals with DS.^{7,8} In this study, atrial septal defect was the most prevalent congenital heart disease, although other studies have reported atrioventricular septal defect as the most common.^{8,13} However, geographical variations may lead to differences in the types of congenital heart diseases in individuals with DS.¹³

According to other studies, individuals with DS are prone to congenital heart disease due to two hypotheses. The first is the gene dosage amplification theory, stating that an increased genetic dosage from chromosome 21 (Hsa 21) in DS can enhance genetic expression leading to congenital heart disease. The second theory, the gene mutation theory, suggests that mutations on the trisomy 21 locus can increase the occurrence of congenital heart disease.¹⁴

Most patients with DS in this study, with comorbid endocrine system disorders, suffered from hypothyroidism. This aligns with other studies reporting that individuals with DS are significantly more vulnerable to hypothyroidism compared to normal children, up to 25-38 times higher.^{8,15-17} Theoretically, this vulnerability can occur due to several hypotheses, including 1) Excessive TRH stimulation, causing delayed maturation of the hypothalamus-pituitarythyroid axis, leading to high TSH levels with normal fT4 and fT3 and negative anti-thyroid antibodies at three years of age; 2) Peripheral resistance to thyroid hormones, causing reduced TRH secretion; 3) Lack of TSH release due to central disorders or disruption of dopaminergic control; 4) TSH insensitivity; and 5) Reduced TSH bioactivity.15

Patients with DS in this study were also found to have growth and skeletal anomalies. This finding aligns with other studies suggesting that individuals with DS may experience arthropathy, joint weakness, hypermobility, foot deformities, scoliosis, and hip instability.⁹ This aligns with the study by Foley and Killeen, which found that the majority of patients with DS suffer from Pes Planus.¹⁸

The study also identified patients with DS who had genitourinary system disorders, all presenting with cryptorchidism. Another study found that individuals with DS may experience disorders in the genitourinary system, such as posterior urethral valves, pyelectasis, megaureter, kidney malformations (renal hypoplasia, horseshoe kidney, renal ectopia), hypospadias, cryptorchidism, and small penis.⁸

In this study, comorbid gastrointestinal system disorders were also found, consistent with other studies that reported congenital anomalies in the gastrointestinal system in individuals with DS, such as duodenal atresia, anal atresia/stenosis, esophageal atresia, and esophageal fistula. Hirschsprung's disease, constipation, celiac disease, and biliary obstruction were also identified.^{8,19}

Patients with DS in this study were also found to have visual impairments. Visual impairment findings in this study align with other studies indicating an increased incidence of refractive disorders due to the failure of emmetropization processes. Additionally, oblique astigmatism, cataracts, blepharitis, and nystagmus were found in patients with DS.^{8,20}

The study also identified patients with DS with comorbid hearing impairments, especially sensorineural hearing loss. Another study found that 38%-78% of individuals with DS experience hearing impairments, most commonly caused by otitis media effusion and sensorineural hearing loss.⁸ Another study found that the likelihood of sensorineural hearing loss is due to cochlear nerve deficiency, genetic factors, or excessive noise exposure.²¹

In this study, several patients with DS were diagnosed with multiple comorbidities. most prevalent combination The of comorbidities in this study was congenital heart disease and endocrine system disorders. This aligns with the study conducted by Mulu and Fantahun, which found a significant association between hypothyroidism and congenital heart disease in patients with DS.¹³ Yaqoob *et al.*²² also found a high number of individuals with DS having thyroid function disorders and congenital heart diseases. According to Lerner et al.,²³ patients with congenital heart disease have a high prevalence of thyroid dysfunction, both genetically and embryonically determined.

This study provides new insights into characteristics and patterns of comorbidities in children with DS in Indonesia, especially in Yogyakarta. These new insights can benefit healthcare services, especially in Indonesia, to foresee common comorbidities in children with DS and benefit patients with early diagnosis, early intervention, and enhanced healthcare quality.

On the downside, this study can only provide a descriptive analysis. However, this study is a cornerstone for future studies, especially in Indonesia, to better understand comorbidities and DS in children, especially in Indonesia, with more complete data and analysis in the future. Future studies to include nutritional data and analysis on comorbid outcomes of DS patients are recommended.

CONCLUSION

This study finds that most children with DS in Dr. Sardjito General Hospital, Yogyakarta suffer at least one comorbid. The most common comorbid found was congenital heart disease. Future studies are needed to enhance health care, especially for DS patients in Indonesia.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Authors would like to thank all parties who have supported this study.

REFERENCES

- Antonarakis SE, Skotko BG, Rafii MS, Strydom A, Pape SE, Bianchi DW, *et al.* Down syndrome. Nat Rev Dis Primers 2020; 6(1):9.
 - https://doi.org/10.1038/s41572-019-0143-7
- 2. MacLennan S. Down's syndrome. InnovAiT 2020; 13(1):47-52. https://doi.org/10.1177/1755738019886612
- Bull MJ. Down syndrome. N Engl J Med 2020; 382(24):2344-52. https://doi.org/ 10.1056/NEJMra1706537
- 4. Kemenkes RI. Info Datin Pusat Data dan Informasi Kementrian Kesehatan Republik Indonesia. Jakarta: Kementerian Kesehatan, Republik Indonesia, 2019.
- Startin CM, D'Souza H, Ball G, Hamburg S, Hithersay R, Hughes KMO, *et al.* Health comorbidities and cognitive abilities across the lifespan in Down syndrome. J Neurodev Disord 2020; 12(1):4. https://doi.org/10.1186/s11689-019-9306-9

- 6. Baksh RA, Pape SE, Chan LF, Aslam AA, Gulliford MC, Strydom A. Multiple morbidity across the lifespan in people with Down syndrome or intellectual disabilities: a population-based cohort study using electronic health records. Lancet Public Health 2023; 8(6):e453-62. https://doi.org/10.1016/S2468-2667(23)00057-9
- Nakousi Capurro N, Cares Basualto C, Alegría Olivos A, Gaínza Lein M, López Aristizabal L, Gayan Torrente A, *et al.* Congenital anomalies and comorbidities in neonates with down syndrome. Rev Chil Pediatr 2020; 91(5):732-42. https://doi.org/10.32641/rchped.vi91i5.1518
- Lagan N, Huggard D, Mc Grane F, Leahy TR, Franklin O, Roche E, *et al.* Multiorgan involvement and management in children with Down syndrome. Acta Paediatrica 2020; 109(6):1096-111. https://doi.org/10.1111/apa.15153
- 9. Altuna M, Giménez S, Fortea J. Epilepsy in Down syndrome: A Highly Prevalent Comorbidity. J Clin Med 2021; 10(13):2776.

```
https://doi.org/10.3390/jcm10132776
```

- 10. Ferreira-Vasques AT, Lamônica DAC. Motor, linguistic, personal and social aspects of children with Down syndrome. J Appl Oral Sci 2015; 23(4):424-30. https://doi.org/10.1590/1678-775720150102
- 11. Abukhaled Y, Hatab K, Awadhalla M, Hamdan H. Understanding the genetic mechanisms and cognitive impairments in Down syndrome: towards a holistic approach. J Neurol 2023; 27(1):87-104. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00415-023-11890-0
- Malak R, Kostiukow A, Krawczyk-Wasielewska A, Mojs E, Samborski W. Delays in motor development in children with Down syndrome. Med Sci Monit 2015; 21:1904-10. https://doi.org/10.12659/MSM.893377
- Benhaourech S, Drighil A, El Hammiri A. Congenital heart disease and Down syndrome: various aspects of a confirmed association. CVJA 2016; 27(5):287-90.

```
https://doi.org/10.5830/CVJA-2016-019
```

 Zhang H, Liu L, Tian J. Molecular mechanisms of congenital heart disease in Down syndrome. Genes Dis 2019; 6(4):372-7.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gendis.2019.06.007 15. Amr NH. Thyroid Disorders in Subjects with Down syndrome: an update. Acta Biomed 2018; 89(1):132-9.

https://doi.org/10.23750/abm.v89i1.7120

16. Mulu Fantahun Β, B. Thyroid abnormalities in children with Down syndrome at St. Paul's hospital millennium medical college, Ethiopia. Endocrinol Diabetes Metab 2022: 5(3):e00337.

https://doi.org/10.1002/edm2.337

17. Szeliga K, Antosz A, Skrzynska K, Kalina-Faska B, Januszek-Trzciakowska A, Gawlik A. Subclinical hypothyroidism as the most common thyroid dysfunction status in children with Down's syndrome. Front Endocrinol 2022; 12:782865.

https://doi.org/10.3389/fendo.2021.782865

- 18. Foley C, Killeen OG. Musculoskeletal anomalies in children with Down syndrome: an observational study. Arch Dis Child 2019; 104(5):482-7. h t t p s : // d o i . o r g / 1 0 . 1 1 3 6 / archdischild-2018-315751
- Bermudez BEBV, De Oliveira CM, De Lima Cat MN, Magdalena NIR, Celli A. Gastrointestinal disorders in Down syndrome. Am J Med Genet A 2019; 179(8):1426-31.

https://doi.org/10.1002/ajmg.a.61258

20. Postolache L, Monier A, Lhoir S. Neuroophthalmological manifestations in children with Down syndrome: current perspectives. Eye Brain 2021; 13:193-203.

https://doi.org/10.2147/EB.S319817

21. De Schrijver L, Topsakal V, Wojciechowski M, Van De Heyning P, Boudewyns A. Prevalence and etiology of sensorineural hearing loss in children with Down syndrome: a cross-sectional study. Int J Pediatr Otorhinolaryngol 2019; 116:168-72.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijporl.2018.10.048

- 22. Yaqoob M, Manzoor J, Hyder SN, Sadiq M. Congenital heart disease and thyroid dysfunction in Down syndrome reported at children`s hospital, lahore, Pakistan. Turk J Pediatr 2019; 61(6):915-24. https://doi.org/10.24953/turkjped.2019.06.013
- 23. Lerner RK, Gruber N, Pollak U. Congenital heart disease and thyroid dysfunction: combination, association, and implication. World J Pediatr Congenit Heart Surg 2019; 10(5):604-15. https://doi.org/10.1177/2150135119857704

Indonesian Journal of Biomedicine and Clinical Sciences

Effects of garlic tablet (GARLET) in combination with telmisartan on high blood pressure

Rahimi Ahmad Mustafa*, Haseebullah Ayami, Mahbubullah Halimi

¹Department of Para Clinic, Faculty of Medicine, Alberoni University, Kapisa, Afghanistan https://doi.org/10.22146/inajbcs.v56i3.12029

ABSTRACT

Hypertension (HTN) is a health problem worldwide affecting tens of millions Submitted: 2024-02-01 of people. Giving modern antihypertensive alone is not enough to cure this Accepted : 2024-05-31 disease. Garlic has been used to treat and cure various diseases, including high blood pressure (BP). This study aims to evaluate the effectiveness of administering telmisartan with garlic in reducing BP. In this study, 96 people with mild to moderate HTN were randomly selected and assigned to three groups consisting of 32 subjects; each participant in the garlic group received 400mg BD, the telmisartan group received 20mg OD, and the mixed group received 400 mg garlic BD and 20mg telmisartan OD for 8 wk of treatment. Blood pressure was measured at the beginning of each week, as well as on the closing day of the 8 wk. Combining telmisartan with garlic is more effective in reducing systolic blood pressure/SBP (113.0±22.9 mmHg) compared to telmisartan (147.7±4.6 mmHg; p=0.015) and diastolic blood pressure/DBP (71.0±21.2 mmHg vs 90.75±11.9 mmHg; p=0.038) during 8 wk of treatment in hypertensive patients. No significant side effects were identified during the treatment period. In conclusion, garlic, like other BP control pills, increases the effectiveness of chemical pills to lower SBP and DBP.

ABSTRAK

Hipertensi (HTN) merupakan masalah kesehatan di seluruh dunia yang mempengaruhi puluhan juta orang. Pemberian antihipertensi saja tidak cukup untuk menyembuhkan penyakit ini. Bawang putih telah digunakan untuk mengobati dan menyembuhkan berbagai penyakit, termasuk tekanan darah tinggi. Penelitian ini bertujuan untuk mengevaluasi efektivitas pemberian telmisartan dengan bawang putih dalam menurunkan tekanan darah. Dalam penelitian ini, 96 orang penderita HTN ringan hingga sedang dipilih secara acak dan dibagi menjadi tiga kelompok yang terdiri dari 32 subjek; setiap peserta dalam kelompok bawang putih menerima BD 400mg, kelompok telmisartan menerima OD 20mg, dan kelompok campuran menerima BD bawang putih 400 mg dan OD telmisartan 20mg selama 8 minggu pengobatan. Tekanan darah diukur pada awal setiap minggu, serta pada hari penutupan minggu ke-8. Kombinasi telmisartan dengan bawang putih lebih efektif menurunkan tekanan darah sistolik/SBP (113,0±22,9 mmHg) dibandingkan telmisartan (147,7±4,6 mmHg; p=0,015) dan tekanan darah/DBP diastolik (71,0±21,2 mmHg vs 90,75±11,9 mmHg; p=0,038) selama 8 minggu pengobatan pada pasien hipertensi. Tidak ada efek samping signifikan yang diidentifikasi selama masa pengobatan. Kesimpulannya, bawang putih, seperti pil pengontrol tekanan darah lainnya, meningkatkan efektivitas pil kimia untuk menurunkan SBP dan DBP.

Keywords:

garlic; telmisartan; systolic blood pressure; diastolic blood pressure; hypertension

INTRODUCTION

Hypertension (HTN) is alternatively referred to as high or elevated blood pressure (BP). The vessels deliver blood from the heart to each location of the body. When blood is pumped by the heart, it presses on the walls of blood vessels, or arteries, creating BP. The heart pumps blood throughout the body with a force known as systolic pressure, represented by a greater number. Meanwhile, the resistance to blood flow in the blood arteries between heartbeats as blood circulates in the heart is known as the diastolic pressure (lower number).¹ High BP is one of most prevalent factors globally that brings about considerable risks of death and morbidity. High systolic blood pressure (SBP), poor diet, and cigarette use are the main risk factors for death and morbidity based on the latest findings from the Global Burden of Diseases (GBD).² Some of the fatal risk factors of high BP pointed out are stroke, coronary artery disease, failure of the heart, chronic renal illness, peripheral arterial disease, and arterial aneurysms.³⁻⁴

Morbidity and mortality rates are increasing along with the increase in the global elderly population caused by increasing vascular hypertension and the prevalence of systemic hypertension.⁵ According to the World Health Organization, there will be close to 1.6 billion adults worldwide by 2025 who have high BP and its related consequences, including cardiovascular diseases (CVD).²

A SBP of >140 mmHg and a diastolic blood pressure (DBP) of > 90 mmHg are signs of the complex condition known as HTN. However, adults who are assessed to be at the pre-HTN stage and who have a DBP of 80 to 89 mmHg and an SBP of 120 to 139 mmHg are at a higher risk of having high BP.^{4,6} Secondary HTN can be treated if the motivating causes are adequately identified. On the other hand, 90% of all instances of identified cases are embodied by critical HTN.

Although the underlying pathological processes are partially unclear, it is considered that lifestyle is one of several contributing variables. Luckily, most of these factors can be regulated to control the commonness of morbidity. Diet is thought to have a vital role in the emergence of HTN and associated illness, through a host of lifestyle variables. Age, gender, race, heredity, and genetic susceptibility are other extrinsic variables.⁷

Hydrogen sulfide $(H_{3}S)$ was identified by Abe and Kimura as an endogenous gas transmitter in 1996. This discovery is regarded as a turning point for the emerging field of study that has had a substantial influence on physiopharmacology.⁸ In the previous 25 yr, H₂S has been proven as a fundamental compound for maintaining the equilibrium of various systems. The cardiovascular (CV) system is among the most substantial domains in which the function and importance of H₂S have been studied.⁹ Since various mechanisms of action, such as the activation of potassium channels like vascular potassium channel (Kv7) or ATPsensitive potassium channel (KATP) and the inhibition of 5-phosphodiesterase (5-PDE) enzymes, are connected, the H₂S compound demonstrated that it was able to promote vasodilation.^{10,11} This observation opened the foundation for the investigation of exogenous H₂Sdonors, or compounds that can release H₂S, to develop cutting-edge HTN treatment methods of garlic.¹²

This directed the researchers to the finding that sure natural molecules acquired from *Alliaceae* (i.e., garlic) and *Brassicaceae* (i.e., rocket or broccoli) botanical households suggest the profile of sluggish H_2S -donors (i.e., suggesting that they will display an H_2S -liberating profile extra analogous to that of the unhurried endogenous manufacturing of this gasotransmitter). This belongings puts forth that the Alliaceae and Brassicaceae derivatives, whether or not they are natural extracts or pure molecules (polysulfides or isothiocyanates), might be incredibly successful in treating hypertension or pre-hypertension symptoms.⁹ Garlic (Allium sativum) has pharmacologically been used for thousands of years; with a thorough study of the benefits of garlic supplements and fresh garlic preventing atherosclerosis in and protecting the heart, however, little was previously known about and supported by research on its therapeutic and pharmacological features.¹³

Drugs that are used as reninangiotensin converting enzyme inhibitors (ACEIs) are successfully used for the treatment of HTN at any age.¹⁴ The angiotensin-tow (AT-II) receptor antagonist telmisartan, which connects specifically to the angiotensin one (AT1) receptor, restrains the pro-hypertensive effects associated with AT-II, including chloride preservation, sodium vasoconstriction, vascular and cardiac muscle expansion, and pro-fibrotic characteristics in both the renal and cardiovascular systems.¹⁵ Telmisartan is licensed to treat cardiovascular conditions and systemic hypertension in humans.16

Many studies were conducted on the combined effect of garlic with BPlowering drugs such as calcium channel blockers, beta-blockers, and ACEIs. Telmisartan is an angiotensin II receptor blocker (ARB) and it is a common drug that is used to treat high BP. However, until now no study conducted to evaluate the effect of combination telmisartan with garlic.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

Design of the research

The clinical trial was carried out

with 96 outpatient men with HTN (aged 40 to 80 yr) who were randomized and double-blinded. Prior to receiving various medications such as diuretics. ACEIs (angiotensin-converting enzyme inhibitors), beta/alpha-blockers, and other locally sourced herbal remedies that proved ineffective, the patients were all diagnosed with HTN. This study was conducted in the Department of Internal Diseases, Alami Curative Hospital. While conducting this study, we followed the 1975 Declaration of Helsinki Principles and the 1983 amendments. This study turned into permitted via the Institutional Ethical Committee, Department of Research of Medical School, Alberoni University.

Inclusion criteria in this study are male patients between ages 40 and 80 yr, who receive treatment of continuous ARB and are not assisted by other anti-hypertensive drugs. Criteria for exclusion in this study are patients with cancer, heart disease, failure Kidney, the inability to handle garlic or telmisartan, in the age range between 40 and 80 yr. In this investigation, the SBP for patients ranged from 160 to 190 mmHg, while DBP ranged from 90 to 115 mmHg. Patients fulfilling eligibility criteria (inclusion and exclusion criteria) were randomized into three treatment groups as follows: Group A: the patients were given lowdose monotherapy of telmisartan 20 mg, OD, for 8 wk (Getz Pharma Karachi, Pakistan). Group B: patients were given low-dose monotherapy of 400 mg of garlic tablet BD for 8 wk (Amin Pharmaceutical Co., Isfahan, Iran). Group C: patients were given a combination of telmisartan 20 mg OD and a 400 mg garlic tablet BD for 8 wk. Follow-up visits were performed after the time of inclusion of the participants, once every week, and at the end of the 8 wk. The randomization was carried out using a random number All groups' generator. treatment periods came to an end after 8 wk. The participants adopted a low-salt, low-fat diet and adhered to the same dietary and behavioral recommendations.

Demographic information

Age, weight, height, and length of high BP were noted for the participants under study. When the patient was seated, a mercury sphygmomanometer was used to take their BP. The patient was given a five-minute rest before having their SBP and DBP checked and recorded.

Measurements of BP

Arterial BP was checked at the time of inclusion of the participants, once every week, and after the 8 wk. It was consistently measured in the left and right arms in the supine, sitting, and standing postures early in the morning. The results obtained from both the second and third readings were documented, and using the mean value of the 12 readings, an integral estimate of arterial BP was calculated.

Statistical Analysis

The data were analyzed using SPSS version 10.1.7 (SPSS, Chicago, IL, USA). Following a review of the variable distribution, within-group effect calculations were made using Wilcoxon statistics, and between-group comparisons were made using one-way Anova. Data were presented as means, standard error of the mean (SEM), median for non-parametric data, and 95% confidence interval (CI) where applicable. Significance was determined at the 0.05 level of confidence.

RESULTS

A total of 96 participants involved in this study. Eight patients stopped taking study drugs throughout the treatment period: 2 in the garlic group owing to gastrointestinal discomforts, 3 in the telmisartan group, and 3 in the combination group (garlic + telmisartan) group for unidentified reasons. After the 8 wk therapy period, 88 individuals: 30 in the garlic group, 27 in the telmisartan group, and 31 in the combined group (garlic + telmisartan) were assessed.

Demographic indicators between telmisartan and combination groups

TABLE 1 listed the demographic data, which included height, weight, age, and the number of months that the elevated BP had persisted. The age (62.4 ± 10.4 vs. 61.9 ± 11 yr; p=0.9) and weight (76.2 ± 9.9 vs. 76.7 ± 1.7 kg; p=0.7) as well as height (163 ± 26 vs. 166.4 ± 18 cm; p=0.1) and duration of HTN (33.2 ± 15 vs. 33.1 ± 12 mo; p=0.16) are the demographic data that differentiate the telmisartan group from the combination group. The results unequivocally demonstrate that there were no discernible demographic differences between the combination group and the telmisartan group.

TABLE 1. Demographic of subjects (mean ±SD) between telmisartanand combination groups

Demographic of subjects	Telmisartan (n=32)	Combination (n=32)	р
Age (yr)	62.4±10.4	61.9±11	0.9
Weight (kg)	76.2±9.9	76.7±1.7	0.7
Height (cm)	163±26	166.4±18	0.1
Duration (mo)	33.2±15	33.1±12	0.16

Measuring systemic BP

Blood pressure is the pressure exerted by circulating blood on the walls of arterial blood vessels within the systemic circulatory system. Blood pressure refers to the force exerted by blood flow upon the blood vessel' inner walls. This pressure stems from the rhythmic contraction of the heart, which circulates the blood throughout the body's vascular system. Blood pressure has two components a maximum (systolic) and a minimum (diastolic) throughout pressure each cardiac cycle. Generally, a person's BP is usually indicated in terms of either SBP or DBP. It is guantified in units known as millimeters of mercury (mmHg), often illustrated, for instance, as 120/80.

We evaluated the SBP among telmisartan and combination groups. At first, these individuals undergoing treatment telmisartan 20 mg OD or telmisartan 20 mg plus garlic 400mg BD for 8 wk. The measurement of BP was initially taken, subsequently weekly, and finally after the completion of 8 wk. When the BP were compared after 8 wk of treatment, it was discovered that the group receiving combined treatment demonstrated reduced SBP levels (median:102.5 vs 150.0 mmHg; p=0.015) in contrast to the telmisartan group. However, the level of DBP in the telmisartan group was (90.75±11.9

vs 71.0±21.2 mmHg; p=0.038) in the combination group.

The significant differences were also shown in SBP among the garlic group (176.6±2.6 mmHg) vs telmisartan group $(148.7 \pm 4.6 \text{ mmHg})$ vs the combination group (113±29.9 mmHg) and DBP in telmisartan (90.7±11.9 mmHg) vs combination group (71±21.2 mmHg) as shown (FIGURE 1A and B). As compared with post treatment either with telmisartan 20mg OD or telmisartan 20mg plus garlic 400mg BID in the study participants, there was no notable variance in the SBP when comparing the telmisartan group with the combination group up to the 5 wk. However, a substantial decline in BP measurements started to be evident from the 6 wk and continued steadily until the 8 wk. On the other hand, the DBP levels experienced a significantly steep decrease, a trend which was noticeable much earlier, commencing from the 3rd wk and maintaining until the 8th wk. In contrast, the degree of DBP weas reduced drastically, which was observed much earlier and maintained continuity from week 3 until week 8. Thus, the results specify a statistically significant decrease in SBP and DBP in the combination group as compared to the telmisartan group (FIGURE 1A and B). Also, the individuals who participated in this study showed good compliance, and none of them developed side effects.



FIGURE 1. The mean of SBP (A) and DBP (B) in the garlic group, telmisartan group and combination group after the 8 wk treatment.

DISCUSSION

Hypertension, characterized by a SBP of 140 mm Hg or higher and a DBP of 90 mm Hg or above, is a pressing global issue affecting nearly a billion people. Current guidelines underscore the significance of treating hypertension and outline various methodologies, including preventive measures for regulating and managing BP levels. These guidelines also address individuals with pre-hypertension (SBP 120-139/DBP 80-89 mm Hg).¹⁷

The primary approach to managing hypertension hinges lifestyle on alterations like increased physical activity, weight reduction, and dietary modifications, potentially including dietary supplementation. Nevertheless, in cases where lifestyle adjustments fail to yield results or are insufficient, medication becomes a necessary course of action. These alternative therapies are necessitated.

Humans have relied on herbal medicines for decades, for curative purposes. In numerous nations, certain substances are more easily accepted by the human body, resulting in fewer adverse reactions. Garlic, scientifically known as *A. sativum*, is a prime example of such substance, renowned for its antihypertensive properties. This common dietary component also plays a significant medicinal role.¹⁸ Multiple scientific investigations have underscored the beneficial impact of garlic on human health. These researches reveal that garlic can lower cholesterol levels, deter platelet clumping, decrease BP, and bolster antioxidant status. It functions as an effective anti-hypertensive agent and also exhibits cardio-protective benefits, these protective effects include reduction of unstable chest pain, improvement of blood vessel elasticity, and reduction of disorders triggered by blockage of peripheral arteries.

Nevertheless, there is a scarcity of

clinical trials investigating the combined effects of garlic with contemporary medicine on humans. In carrying out this study, the study found that the garlic tablet combined with telmisartan significantly decreases BP, both (SBO and DBP). This result is the same as previous studies. Telmisartan is a wellknown drug for the treatment of high BP, and its effects in reducing BP have been proven in numerous studies, was generally similar in efficacy to enalapril, more effective than submaximal dosages of losartan, and better tolerated than linsoprile.¹⁹ Researchers and clinicians are interested in combining garlic with antihypertensive drugs like amlodipine, diuretics, and they reached satisfying results. This result is analogous to those of the other studies that have shown the hypotensive properties of the products containing garlic.^{8,20-22} Thus, this study is carried out to screen the effectiveness of garlic extract in plus telmisartan in patients with high BP.

Blood pressure was measured at baseline, weekly, and at the end of eight weeks. The results revealed that the telmisartan group exhibited low levels of SBP (median:102.5mmHg vs median: 150.0mmHg; p=0.015) as compared to the combination group; whereas, the level of DBP in the telmisartan group was (90.7±11.9 mmHg vs 71.0±21.2 mmHg; p=0.038) in the combination group. Thus, the results specify a statistically significant decrease in SBP and DBP in the combination group as compared to the telmisartan group (FIGURE 1A and B). The result obtained is similar to the study conducted by Satyanand et al. in 2013 on the effect of the combination of amlodipine (5 mg) once a day and garlic (8 mg) once a day.²³ Furthermore, the participants involved in the research exhibited robust health, with no instances of side effects. The data we obtained demonstrates that the combination of garlic supplements and telmisartan more effectively

lowers systemic BP compared to when telmisartan is utilized independently in patients with hypertension.

Past scientific research has posited that the BP lowering effect of garlic may be attributed to the production of hydrogen sulfide and the inherent active component, allicin, which is released from alliin with the assistance of the enzyme alliinase, known for its inhibiting effects on angiotensin II and its capacity for vasodilation.^{24,25} In a prior study, the daily dosage of garlic powder, ranging from 600-900 mg, delivered 3.6-5.4 mg of allicin; conversely, fresh garlic cloves (approximately 2 g) resulted in an allicin yield of 5-9 mg. Hence, different garlic preparations lead to varying degrees of BP reduction, for instance, aged garlic extract or heat-treated garlic contains a lesser amount of the allicin compound, potentially restricting its BP lowering abilities.26

The conclusions drawn from this research bear resemblance to the collective analysis of numerous randomized, placebo-controlled investigations, these studies treated hypertensive individuals (with a SBP of at least 140 mmHg and a DBP of at least 90 mmHg) with a daily dosage of 400 mg of garlic powder showed a mean decrease of 9.5 mmHg in SBP and 8.5 mmHg in DBP. Interestingly, there was no significant reduction in SBP with garlic preparations in studies including normotensives. Similarly, Auer et al. showed a reduction in supine DBP in the group receiving garlic treatment from 102 to 91 mm Hg after 8 wk (p<0.01) as compared to the placebo group.²¹ In another study, Morgan *et al.* research has indicated that the impact of garlic supplements on overall BP is akin to the decrease in SBP by 5 mm Hg, as seen with beta-blocker usage. Similarly, it also matches the 8 mm Hg SBP reduction observed with ACEIs.²⁷ Additionally, it is comparable to a 10.3 mm Hg decrease in DBP associated with angiotensin II type 1 receptor antagonists.²⁸

CONCLUSION

This study indicates that telmisartan with garlic worked better than telmisartan alone to manage SBP and DBP. We suggest adding garlic in addition to other BP-lowering medications. However, more research is needed to confirm the effectiveness of garlic added to traditional anti-hypertension medicines.

ACKNOWLEDGMENT

Special thanks go to the Alemi Curative Hospital President, Dr. Fared Hassni, and Getz Pharma for providing a supportive environment and logistic support for this study.

REFERENCES

- 1. Giles TD, Berk BC, Black HR, Cohn JN, Kostis JB, Izzo JL Jr, *et al.* Expanding the definition and classification of hypertension. J Clin Hypertens (Greenwich) 2005; 7(9):505-12. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1524-6175.2005.04769.x
- WHO. Global action plan on physical activity 2018-2030: more active people for a healthier world. Genewa: World Health Organization. 2019.
- 3. Chen ZY, Peng C, Jiao R, Wong YM, Yang N, Huang Y. Anti-hypertensive nutraceuticals and functional foods. J Agric Food Chem 2009; 57(11):4485-99. https://doi.org/10.1021/jf900803r
- 4. Cowley AW Jr, Nadeau JH, Baccarelli A, Berecek K, Fornage M, Gibbons GH, *et al.* Report of the National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute Working Group on epigenetics and hypertension. Hypertension 2012; 59(5):899-905.

h t t p s : / / d o i . o r g / 1 0 . 1 1 6 1 / HYPERTENSIONAHA.111.190116

5. Jugdutt BI. Clinical effectiveness of telmisartan alone or in combination therapy for controlling BP and

vascular risk in the elderly. Clin Interv Aging 2010; 5:403-16. https://doi.org/10.2147/CIA.S6709

6. Korean Society Hypertension (KSH); Hypertension Epidemiology Research Working Group; Kim HC, Cho MC. Korea hypertension fact sheet 2018. Clin Hypertens 2018; 24:13.

https://doi.org/10.1186/s40885-018-0098-0

- 7. Shouk R, Abdou A, Shetty K, Sarkar D, Eid AH. Mechanisms underlying the antihypertensive effects of garlic bioactives. Nutr Res 2014; 34(2):106-15. h t t p s : // d o i . o r g / 10.1016/j. nutres.2013.12.005
- Silagy CA, Neil HA. A meta-analysis of the effect of garlic on BP. J Hypertens, 1994; 12(4):463-8. https://doi.org/10.1097/00004872-199404000-00017
- Piragine E, Citi V, Lawson K, Calderone V, Martelli A. Potential effects of natural H2S-donors in hypertension management. Biomolecules 2022; 12(4):581.

https://doi.org/10.3390/biom12040581

- Rahimi AM, Nabavizadeh F, Ashabi G, Halimi S, Rahimpour M, Vahedian J, et al. Probiotic lactobacillus rhamnosus supplementation improved capecitabine protective effect against gastric cancer growth in male BALB/c Mice. Nutr Cancer 2021; 73(10):2089-99. https://doi.org/10.1080/01635581.202 0.1832237
- 11. Martelli A, Testai L, Breschi MC, Lawson K, McKay NG, Miceli F, Taglialatela M, Calderone V. Vasorelaxation by hydrogen sulphide involves activation of Kv7 potassium channels. Pharmacol Res 2013; 70(1):27-34.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.phrs.2012.12.005

12. Calderone V, Martelli A, Testai L, Citi V, Breschi MC. Using hydrogen sulfide to design and develop drugs. Expert Opin Drug Discov 2016;11(2):163-75. https://doi.org/10.1517/17460441.201 6.1122590

- 13. Sobenin IA, Andrianova IV, Fomchenkov IV, Gorchakova TV, Orekhov AN. Time-released garlic powder tablets lower systolic and diastolic BP in men with mild and moderate arterial hypertension. Hypertens Res 2009;32(6):433-7. https://doi.org/10.1038/hr.2009.36
- 14. Hao G, Wang Z, Guo R, Chen Z, Wang X, Zhang L, *et al.* Effects of ACEI/ARB in hypertensive patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus: a meta-analysis of randomized controlled studies. BMC Cardiovasc Disord 2014;14:148. https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2261-14-148

https://doi.org/10.1186/14/1-2261-14-148

- 15. Glaus TM, Elliott J, Herberich E, Zimmering T, Albrecht B. Efficacy of long-term oral telmisartan treatment in cats with hypertension: Results of a prospective European clinical trial. J Vet Intern Med 2019; 33(2):413-22. https://doi.org/10.1111/jvim.15394
- 16. Camilleri M. Assessment of medicinal products: a comparative study between Europe and United States of America [Dissertation]. Malta: L-Università ta' Malta. 2018.
- 17. Fuchs FD, Whelton PK. High BP and cardiovascular disease. Hypertension, 2020; 75(2):285-92. h t t p s : // d o i . o r g / 1 0 . 1 1 6 1 / HYPERTENSIONAHA.119.14240
- 18. Matsutomo T. Potential benefits of garlic and other dietary supplements for the management of hypertension. Exp Ther Med, 2020; 19(2):1479-84. h t t p s : // d o i . o r g / 1 0 . 3 8 9 2 / etm.2019.8375
- 19. Sharpe M, Jarvis B, Goa KL. Telmisartan: a review of its use in hypertension. Drugs 2001; 61(10):1501-29. https://doi.org/10.2165/00003495-200161100-00009
- 20. Ernst E. Cardiovascular effects of garlic (*Allium sativum*): a review. Pharmatherapeutica 1987; 5(2):83-9.
- 21. Auer W, Eiber A, Hertkorn E,

Hoehfeld E, Koehrle U, Lorenz A, *et al.* Hypertension and hyperlipidaemia: garlic helps in mild cases. Br J Clin Pract Suppl 1990; 69:3-6.

- 22. Neil HA, Silagy CA, Lancaster T, Hodgeman J, Vos K, Moore JW, Jones L, Cahill J, Fowler GH. Garlic powder in the treatment of moderate hyperlipidaemia: a controlled trial and meta-analysis. J R Coll Physicians Lond 1996; 30(4):329-34.
- 23. Satyanand V, Reddy CB, RamaMohan P, Kumar MR, Narayanaswamy D, Seelam A, *et al.* Effects of garlic extract (*Allium sativum*) in combination with Amlodipine in mild to moderate essential hypertensive patients: An open randomized parallel group study. J Pharmace Res Dev 2013; 2(4):181-8.
- 24. Afzaal M, Saeed F, Rasheed R, Hussain M, Aamir M, Hussain S, *et al.* Nutritional, biological, and therapeutic properties of black garlic: A critical review. Int J Food Proper 2021; 24 (1):1387-402. https://doi.org/10.1080/10942912.202

1.1967386

- 25. Sobenin IA, Myasoedova VA, Iltchuk MI, Zhang DW, Orekhov AN. Therapeutic effects of garlic in cardiovascular atherosclerotic disease. Chin J Nat Med 2019; 17(10):721-8. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1875-5364(19)30088-3
- 26. Rahman K, Lowe GM. Garlic and cardiovascular disease: a critical review. J Nutr 2006; 136(3 Suppl):736S-740S. https://doi.org/10.1093/jn/136.3.736S
- 27. Voora R, Cohen DL, Townsend RR. Evaluation and management of hypertension. In National Kidney Foundation Primer on Kidney Diseases. Elsevier; 2018: 616-28. https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-323-47794-9.00065-2
- 28. Baguet JP, Legallicier B, Auquier P, Robitail S. Updated metaanalytical approach to the efficacy of antihypertensive drugs in reducing BP. Clin Drug Investig, 2007;27(11):735-53.

https://doi.org/10.2165/00044011-200727110-00001

Indonesian Journal of Biomedicine and Clinical Sciences

The profile of bacteria isolated from urine culture of adults with urinary tract infection in Yogyakarta 2007-2022

Abu Tholib Aman^{1,2*}, Titik Nuryastuti¹, Alia Hanifa Aman², Vitia Ajeng Nur Linda², Yuli Mawarti^{2,3}

¹Department of Microbiology, Faculty of Medicine, Public Health and Nursing, Universitas Gadjah Mada, ²INA-RESPOND Site 580 Faculty of Medicine, Public Health and Nursing, Universitas Gadjah Mada, ³Laboratory of Microbiology, Sardjito General Hospital, Yogyakarta, Indonesia

https://doi.org/10.22146/inajbcs.v56i3.15890

ABSTRACT

Submitted: 2023-08-28 Accepted : 2023-12-21 Local data regarding antimicrobial susceptibility patterns of bacteria from urine culture is limited in Indonesia, particularly in Yogyakarta. This study was conducted to provide epidemiology data of bacteria and their resistance profile, including the profile of bacteria that producing extended-spectrum beta-lactamase (ESBL) and carbapenemase in the urine of patients with urinary tract infection (UTI) in Yogyakarta. A descriptive retrospective study was conducted by assessing laboratory records of urine culture from adult patients at the Microbiology Laboratory, Department of Microbiology, Faculty of Medicine, Public Health, and Nursing, Universitas Gadjah Mada, Yogyakarta between 2007 and 2022. Of the 842 urine cultures, 464 (55.11%) isolates were recovered. Among these isolates, 50 (10.78%) were fungi, 67 (14.44%) were Gram-positive bacteria, and 347 (74.78%) were Gram-negative bacteria. Enterococcus sp. (41 (61.19%)) was the most bacteria found in the Gram-positive bacteria group, while Escherichia coli (38.90%) were the most bacteria found in the Gram-negative bacteria group. This study also identified Gram-negative bacteria producing ESBL enzymes (58.70%) and carbapenemases (27.94%). Gram-negative bacteria are the most common bacteria found in urine cultures of adult UTI patients in Yogyakarta, and the resistance profile of these bacteria is concerning.

ABSTRAK

Data lokal terkait pola kepekaan kuman terhadap antimikroba pada urin relatif jarang dijumpai di Indonesia, khususnya di Yogyakarta. Penelitian ini bertujuan untuk menyediakan data epidemiologi terkait bakteri dan profil kepekaannya, termasuk profil bakteri penghasil extended-spectrum *beta-lactamase* (ESBL) dan *carbapenemase* pada urin pasien dewasa dengan infeksi saluran kemih (ISK) di Yogyakarta. Penelitian retrospektif deskriptif dilakukan dengan menilai catatan laboratorium kultur urin dari pasien dewasa di Laboratorium Mikrobiologi, Fakultas Kedokteran, Kesehatan Masyarakat, dan Keperawatan UGM, Yogyakarta antara tahun 2007 hingga 2022. Dari 842 kultur urin, 464 (55,11%) isolat ditemukan. Diantara isolat tersebut, 50 (10.78%) adalah jamur, 67 (14,44%) bakteri Gram positif, dan 347 (74,78%) bakteri Gram negatif. Enterococcus sp. (41 (61,19%) merupakan bakteri terbanyak yang ditemukan pada kelompok bakteri Gram positif, sedangkan, sedangkan Escherichia coli (38,90%) merupakan bakteri terbanyak yang ditemukan pada kelompok bakteri Gram negatif. Penelitian ini juga mengidentifikasi bakteri Gram negatif penghasil enzim ESBL (58,70%) dan carbapenemase (27,94%). Bakteri Gram negatif adalah bakteri yang paling umum ditemukan pada kultur urin pasien ISK dewasa di Yogyakarta, dan profil resistensi bakteri ini mengkhawatirkan.

Keywords:

bacteria; infection; urine; urinary tract infection; Yogyakarta

INTRODUCTION

Urinary tract infections (UTIs) can cause significant public health problems. particularly severe infections which can be a major economic burden on the healthcare system and deter patients from an optimal guality of life.¹ It affects 150 million people each year worldwide with high recurrence rates and rehospitalization.^{1,2} UTIs are commonly treated with β-lactam antibiotics that raised a global concern for the emergence of antimicrobial resistance including extended-spectrum beta-lactamase (ESBL) and carbapenemase-producing bacteria.^{3,4} These resistance, in addition to the existing patient's comorbidities or risk factors, and the limited choice of effective antibiotics, increase the number of attributable deaths, disabilityadjusted life years, and the economic burden of the infections.^{1,4,5}

Careful assessment of signs, symptoms, and history of disease are important components to diagnose clinical UTI. However urine culture is crucial to identify the cause of infection and establish the diagnosis.6 The urine culture is a part of diagnostic stewardship that can supply information on the causative agents and their susceptibility patterns.⁶ Therefore, it will subsequently facilitate the most suitable antibiotic treatment, reduce cost, and improve patient outcomes.^{6,7} However, urine culture is not always available in Indonesia and many limited resources countries.⁸ It also required several days to produce a result.⁸

Local surveillance for UTIcausing pathogens and antimicrobial susceptibility is necessary in the absence of urine culture.⁹ It will also share benefits in predicting the cause of infection as well as the empiric antibiotic treatment of UTI patients in the same area or similar characteristics of environment.⁹ However, the data was scarcely available or published in limited-resources areas, particularly in Yogyakarta. This study was conducted to supply epidemiology data of bacteria and their resistance profile, including the profile of ESBL- and meropenemaseproducing bacteria from the UTI patients in Yogyakarta.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

Design of study

A descriptive retrospective study was conducted by collecting data of urine culture from a register of laboratory (secondary records data) at the Microbiology Laboratory, Department of Microbiology, Faculty of Medicine, Public Health, and Nursing, Universitas Gadjah Mada, Yogyakarta during the period of 2007-2022. API (BioMerieux) was used for microorganism identification, then the susceptibility test was conducted with a disk diffusion method to evaluate their sensitivity against antibiotics on Mueller-Hinton agar. Result interpretation was performed following the Performance Standards for Antimicrobial Susceptibility Testing of Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute (CLSI) M100.

The CLSI definition was used in this study to screen ESBL producer which can be identified from their phenotypic resistance against extended penicillin, monobactam (aztreonam), 3rd generation cephalosporinswithorwithoutresistance against 4th generation cephalosporins.¹⁰ Carbapenemase producer was identified from their resistant trait against one or more carbapenems (i.e. meropenem, imipenem, ertapenem, or doripenem) phenotypically.¹⁰ Meropenem is used to screen carbapenemase producers as it offers the best sensitivity and specificity features compared to other carbapenems.11

Data analysis

Data were collected using an anonymous data sheet to keep patient confidentiality and analyzed using STATA 17 ME. The species or genus of microbes that were recovered from the urine culture were tabulated, also their susceptibility profile against the antibiotics tested. Summary statistics was conducted for descriptive study using the command "tab" to obtain frequency distribution tables, crosstabulation, or two-way tables. The positive results were presented in the frequency distribution table [n (%)] with the detail of calculation in the footnote of TABLE 2 and 3. A total of 842 urine cultures from adult (18 y.o. or older) patients were documented during the study period. Before the study initiation, ethical approval was obtained from the Institutional Review Board (The Medical and Health Research Ethics Committee (MHREC)) of Faculty of Medicine, Public Health, and Nursing, Universitas Gadjah Mada, Yogyakarta (Reference number: KE/FK/0052/EC/2023).

RESULTS

Of the 842 urine cultures, 464 (55.11%) isolates were recovered during examination. Among those isolates, we identified 50 (10.78%) fungal isolates, 67 (14.44%) Gram-positive isolates, and 347 (74.78%) Gram-negative isolates.

Gram-positive isolates recovered from the urine culture

Among Gram-positive bacteria isolates, the most frequent bacteria identified in UTIs were *Enterococcus* sp. [41 (61.19%)], followed by *Staphylococcus aureus* [12 (17.91%)], *Enterococcus faecalis* [11 (16.42%)], *Streptococcus agalactiae* [2 (2.99%)], and *S. pneumoniae* [1 (1.49%)] (TABLE 1).

ESBL-producing and Gram-negative isolates recovered from the urine culture

This research elucidated that the most common Gram-negative bacteria identified from urine patients with UTIs were E. coli, accounted for 38.90% of total Gram-negative isolates (TABLE 2). The other Gram-negative bacteria recovered from those cultures were Pseudomonas sp. [60 (17.29%)], P. aeruginosa [42 (12.10%)], Klebsiella pneumoniae [38 (10.95%)], Enterobacter sp. [12 (3.46%)], Proteus mirabilis [10 (2.88%)], Klebsiella sp. [8 (2.31%)], K. aerogenes (also known as *E. aerogenes*) [4 (1.15%)], *P.* fluorescens [4 (1.15%)], Acinetobacter baumannii [3 (0.86%)], Citrobacter sp. [3 (0.86%)], Providencia rettgeri [3 (0.86%)], Proteus penneri (2 (0.58%)), Proteus sp. [2 (0.58%)], P. putida [2 (0.58%)], Serratia sp. [2 (0.58%)], and less common Gramnegative bacteria [17 (4.90%)].

TABLE 1. Gram-positive bacteria isolated from urine samplesof UTI patients in Yogyakarta 2007-2022

Name of bacteria/species	n (%)
Enterococcus sp.	41 (61.19)
S. aureus	12 (17.91)
E. faecalis	11 (16.42)
S. agalactiae	2 (2.99)
S. pneumoniae	1 (1.49)
Total	67 (100.00)

Bacteria with "sp." means that the isolate identification was only up to genus level

TABLE	2.	Gram-negative bacteria which isolated from urine samples of
		UTI patients and ESBL-producing pathogens in Yogyakarta 2007-
		2022

Name of bacteria/ spesies	Isolates recovered from urine samples [n (%)]*	Isolates tested for ESBL [n (%)]**	Isolates with ESBL phenotypes [n(%)]***
E. coli	135 (38.9)	135(100)	57 (42.22)
Pseudomonas sp.	60 (17.29)	55 (91.67)	49 (89.09)
P. aeruginosa	42 (12.1)	41 (97.62)	35 (85.37)
K. pneumoniae	38 (10.95)	38 (100)	20 (52.63)
Enterobacter sp.	12 (3.45)	12 (100)	7 (58.33)
P. mirabilis	10 (2.88)	9 (90)	1 (11.11)
Klebsiella sp.	8 (2.30)	8 (100)	5 (62.5)
K. aerogenes	4 (1.15)	4 (100)	4 (100)
P. fluorescens	4 (1.15)	4 (100)	3 (75)
A. baumannii	3 (0.86)	3 (100)	1 (33.33)
Citrobacter sp.	3 (0.86)	3 (100)	2 (66.67)
P. rettgeri	3 (0.86)	3 (100)	1 (33.33)
P. penneri	2 (0.58)	2 (100)	1 (50)
Proteus sp.	2 (0.58)	2 (100)	1 (50)
P. putida	2 (0.58)	2 (100)	1 (50)
<i>Serratia</i> sp.	2 (0.58)	2 (100)	1 (50)
S. maltophilia	1 (0.29)	1 (100)	0 (0)
Escherichia sp.	1 (0.29)	1 (100)	0 (0)
E. fergusonii	1 (0.29)	1 (100)	1 (100)
E. cloacae	1 (0.29)	1 (100)	1 (100)
A. caviae	1 (0.29)	1 (100)	1 (100)
B. pseudomallei	1 (0.29)	1 (100)	1 (100)
C. youngae	1 (0.29)	1 (100)	0 (0)
Kluyvera sp.	1 (0.29)	1 (100)	0 (0)
<i>Leclercia</i> sp.	1 (0.29)	1 (100)	0 (0)
P. alcaligenes	1 (0.29)	1 (100)	1 (100)
P. alcalifaciens	1 (0.29)	1 (100)	0 (0)
S. marcescens	1 (0.29)	1 (100)	1 (100)
S. odorifera	1 (0.29)	N/D	N/D
S. liquefaciens	1 (0.29)	1 (100)	1 (100)
Yersinia rohdei	1 (0.29)	1 (100)	1 (100)
Edwardsiella tarda	1 (0.29)	1 (100)	1 (100)
<i>Edwardsiella</i> sp.	1 (0.29)	1 (100)	1 (100)
Total	347 (100)	339 (97.69)	199 (58.70)

N/D: no data; (%)* is the number of Gram-negative isolates divided by total of Gramnegative isolates recovered from the urine culture; (%)** is the number of Gram-negative isolates which were tested for ESBL phenotypes divided by total of respective Gramnegative species or isolates recovered from the urine culture; (%)***) is the number of Gram-negative isolates with ESBL phenotypes divided by total of respective Gramnegative isolates or species which were tested for ESBL phenotypes; Bacteria with "sp." means that the isolate identification was only up to genus level

Name of bacteria/ Species	Isolates tested for carbapenem- resistant phenotype [n (%)]	Isolates with carbapenem- resistant phenotype [n (%)] ^{¢¢}
Pseudomonas sp.	60 (100)	27 (45)
E. coli	135 (100)	23 (17.04)
K. pneumoniae	38 (100)	10 (26.32)
P. aeruginosa	40 (95.24)	10 (25)
Enterobacter sp.	12 (100)	5 (41.67)
Klebsiella sp.	8 (100)	4 (50)
P. fluorescens	4 (100)	3 (75)
Serratia sp.	2 (100)	2 (100)
Proteus sp.	2 (100)	1 (50)
Citrobacter sp.	2 (66.67)	1 (50)
P. rettgeri	3 (100)	1 (33.33)
A. caviae	1 (100)	1 (100)
B. pseudomallei	1 (100)	1 (100)
Edwardsiella sp.	1 (100)	1 (100)
E. tarda	1 (100)	1 (100)
Leclercia sp.	1 (100)	1 (100)
S. liquefaciens	1 (100)	1 (100)
Y. rohdei	1 (100)	1 (100)
P. mirabilis	10 (100)	1 (10)
A. baumannii	3 (100)	0 (0)
C. youngae	1 (100)	0 (0)
E. cloacae	1 (100)	0 (0)
K. aerogenes	4 (100)	0 (0)
E. fergusonii	1 (100)	0 (0)
Escherichia sp.	1 (100)	0 (0)
<i>Kluyvera</i> sp.	1 (100)	0 (0)
P. penneri	1 (50)	0 (0)
P. alcalifaciens	1 (100)	0 (0)
P. alcaligenes	1 (100)	0 (0)
P. putida	2 (100)	0 (0)
S. marcescens	1 (100)	0 (0)
S. odorifera	1 (100)	0 (0)
Total	342	95 (27.94)

TABLE 3. Gram-negative carbapenem-resistant bacteria from urine samples of UTI patients in Yogyakarta 2007-2022

(%)⁺ is the number of gram-negative isolates or species which were tested for carbapenemresistant phenotypes divided by total of respective gram-negative isolates which recovered from the urine culture; (%)⁺⁺ is the number of gram-negative isolates with carbapene- resistant phenotypes divided by total of respective gram-negative isolates which were tested for carbapenem-resistant phenotypes; Bacteria with "sp." means that the isolate identification was only up to genus level

During the study period, a total of 199 (58.70%) ESBL-producing gramnegative bacteria were identified from those isolates. We identified that 57 (42.22%) E. coli phenotypically exhibited the characteristic of ESBL-producing bacteria. Other gram-negative bacteria were also often phenotypically presented ESBL-producing bacteria; as those including Pseudomonas sp. (49 (89.09%)), *P. aeruginosa* (35 (85.37%)), and *K.* pneumoniae (20 (52.63%)). Enterobacter sp., Klebsiella sp., K. aerogenes, and P. fluorescens were less identified as ESBLproducing bacteria accounted for 7 (58.33%), 5 (62.5%), 4 (100%), and 3 (75%) isolates respectively. Other bacteria were also shown as ESBL producers, but they are limited in number (TABLE 2).

Carbapenem-resistant Gram-negative bacteria identified from the urine culture

This study recorded that among Gram-negative bacteria which isolated tested against carbapenem and (meropenem), resistance was identified in 27.94% of them (TABLE 3). Although some bacteria isolates revealed a relatively high percentage of carbapenem resistance, this research sample size is limited. Among Gram-negative bacteria isolates tested against carbapenem, Pseudomonas sp., E. coli, K. pneumoniae, P. aeruginosa, Enterobacter sp., Klebsiella sp., P. fluorescens, and Serratia sp. were relatively common as carbapenemase producers which accounted for 27 (45%), 23 (17.04%), 10 (26.32%), 10 (24.39%), 5 (41.67%), 4 (50%), 3 (75%), 2 (100%) isolates, respectively.

DISCUSSION

This study described the UTI's etiology and their resistance against antibiotics by observing their phenotypic characteristics as ESBL-producing and or carbapenemase-producing bacteria. This data can serve as local surveillance in Yogyakarta that enables benefits in diagnostic and antimicrobial stewardship programs.¹² This study showed of all recovered isolates from urine culture, Gram-negative bacteria were identified as the predominant (74.78%)uropathogens, whereas Gram-positive bacteria and fungi were represented only in 14.44% and 10.78%, respectively. This finding was similar to a study from East China (2021) that conducted urine culture from 1760 UTIs patients, and reported uropathogens which consisted of 90.5% Gram-negative bacteria, 9.3% Gram-positive bacteria, and 0.2% fungi.¹³ In Indonesia, a study of asymptomatic UTI in pregnant women revealed that Gram-negative bacteria (72%) were more frequently isolated from their urine culture, as compared to Gram-positive bacteria (28%).¹⁴ A study in Surabaya, Indonesia also reported similar result, Gram-negative (59.67%) and Gram-positive (14.51%) bacteria, as well as fungi (Candida sp.) (25.81%) were identified in the urine culture of diabetic patients with UTI.15

Gram - positive bacteria as uropathogens

The East China study reported E. faecalis as the most prevalent (31.7%) gram-positive bacteria, then followed by S. agalactiae (24.4%), S. saprophyticus (18.3%), E. faecium (9.1%) and others (16.5%).¹³ Our study has slightly different pattern, we reported *Enterococcus* sp., S. aureus, and E. faecalis as the majority (95.52% in total) of Gram-positive bacteria identified from urine culture, whereas S. agalactiae was only accounted for 2.99% of Gram-positive bacteria involved in UTIs. A study in Jakarta revealed that S. agalactiae (33.33%), E. faecalis (19.04%), and S. saprophyticus (14.28%) were the frequently identified gram-positive bacteria of asymptomatic UTI in pregnant women.¹⁴ In Surabaya, *E*.

faecalis (66.66%) was the gram-positive bacteria which frequently isolated from urine culture of diabetic patients with UTI.¹⁵

This study found that S. pneumoniae, which is commonly associated with respiratory or central nervous infection. was detected in a urine sample from a patient with UTI.¹⁶ This extraordinary finding came from a patient who also suffered from S. pneumoniae bacteraemia, as suggested by the positive results of two blood cultures (also yielded S. pneumoniae) which accompanied the urine culture. Although uncommon, in Munich, Germany, S. pneumoniae as urinary tract pathogen was reported in a 82-year-old man with pyelonephritis urosepsis.¹⁶ Pneumococcosuria and where S. pneumoniae identified as an agent of infection in urinary tract was scarce.¹⁷ A study at the Department for Infectious Diseases, University Hospital of Heidelberg, reported that 26 urine samples from 18 different patients (age of 3-72 years) contained S. pneumoniae between January 2010 and December 2014.¹⁷ The literature suggested that in children, S. pneumoniae is rarely identified from urine samples (less than 1%).18

Gram - negative bacteria as uropathogens

Escherichia coli was accounted for 75-95% of uropathogens in UTIs all over the world.¹⁹ A study in Japan which included a total of 2049 UTI patients reported that 1682 (82.1%) of UTIs were caused by gram-negative bacteria. It comprised *E. coli* (93.3%), *Klebsiella* sp. (6.2%), and *P. mirabilis* (0.5%).²⁰ Interestingly, a metaanalysis study in Iran found comparable finding among pregnant women, that *E. coli* and *Klebsiella* were the common gram-negative bacteria causing UTIs which accounted for 61.6% and 13.9% respectively.²¹ Similarly, the study in US Veterans Affairs medical centers (in Minnesota and Texas) highlighted that *E. coli* was a predominant uropathogen which accounted for 40.7%.²²

A study of asymptomatic UTI in pregnant women in Indonesia reported that the gram-negative bacteria which frequently isolated in the urine culture were E. coli (37.04%) and K. pneumoniae (27.78%).¹⁴ In Surabaya, a study of UTI in diabetic patients reported that the gramnegative bacteria which frequently isolated in the urine culture were E. coli (54.05%), A. baumannii (10.81%), and Enterobacter spp. (8.10%).¹⁵ Similarly, our study reported that *E. coli* was the most prevalent (38.9%) gramnegative bacteria recovered from UTIs, however the second and third most frequent gram-negative uropathogens were Pseudomonas sp. (17.29%) and P. aeruginosa (12.10%) respectively. We also found a various species of other gram-negative bacteria which involved in UTIs comprising K. pneumoniae (10.95%), Enterobacter sp. (3.45%), P. *mirabilis* (2.88%), and others (14.43%).

ESBL producing Gram - negative bacteria

Our study highlighted that gramnegative bacteria were the major pathogen (74.78%) causing UTIs, and around 59% of those isolates shared similar phenotypic trait as ESBL producer. ESBLs are defined as a rapidly evolving group of enzymes produced by certain bacteria that can hydrolize extended spectrum cephalosporin.^{23,24} These enzymes found to be effective against one or more of third and fourth generation of cephems (such as ceftazidime, ceftriaxone, cefotaxime, cefepime), extended spectrum penicillin (i.e. piperacillin), and monobactam (i.e. aztreonam) but are inhibited by tazobactam.²³⁻²⁵ clavulanic acid or Therefore the presence of ESBLs in gram-negative bacteria warrant special attention due to the associated risks of antibiotic therapy failure.²⁶

ESBL-producing *Enterobacteriaceae* (i.e. E. coli, K. pneumoniae, Enterobacter sp., *Proteus* sp.) are the most prevalent causative agents of UTIs.²⁵ They can be a major threat to the global public as their resistance against *B*-lactam antibiotics leads to treatment failure in many infections.²⁵ While our study reported 42.22% ESBL-producing E. coli in the urine of UTI patients, a study in Jordan (2019) reported a higher proportion (62%).²⁷ A systematic review in Ethiopia reported a high rate of ESBL-producing gam-negative bacteria among clinical samples with a pooled rate of 50.1% among different species and varied in the groups of *Klebsiella* spp. (65.7%), Enterobacter spp. (62.2%), Salmonella spp. (48.4%), E. coli (47.0%), Citrobacter spp. 46.8%, Providencia spp. (43.8%), Proteus spp. (28.3%), P. aeruginosa (17.4%), Acinetobacter spp. (9.4%), and other Gram-negative bacteria (20.8%).²⁸

A five-year global surveillance "SMART program" (2015 - 2019)by reported that the prevalence of noncarbapenem-resistant ESBL-producing Enterobacteriaceae was 30% globally, and exceeded 50% in India, Thailand, Vietnam, China, Russia, Mexico, Kenya, and Kuwait.²⁵ The SMART program estimated that the prevalence of noncarbapenem-resistant ESBL-producing K. pneumoniae was 25.4% globally, and more than 40% in Portugal, Chile, Ecuador, Guatemala, Mexico, Israel, Morocco, Lithuania, Kenya, and Kuwait.²⁵ They also reported that the prevalence of non-carbapenem-resistant ESBL-producing *E. coli* increased significantly (p < 0.05) in Asia (excluding China), Australia, New Zealand, and Latin America.²⁵ Furthermore, the noncarbapenem-resistant ESBL-producing *K. pneumoniae* prevalence increased significantly (p< 0.05) in Latin America, USA, and Canada.²⁵ Unfortunately, no data from Indonesia was included in the SMART surveillance.²⁵

A retrospective study in Bali. Indonesia (2019-2020) revealed that ESBL-producing E. coli (56.32%) and K. pneumoniae (54%) were identified in the urine culture of patients with UTI and chronic kidney disease.²⁹ Another study in Medan reported that ESBL-producing *E. coli* was contributed to 8.4% of urine associated catheter infections in adult patients who admitted into the intensive care unit from July to August 2018.³⁰ Differences in clinical settings, study period, study population, and methods might modify the result, thus explaining the heterogeneity of the ESBL-producing bacteria prevalence worldwide.²⁸

ESBLs are enzymes encoded in plasmids and can be easily transferred to other bacteria.³¹ Apart from ESBLproducing Klebsiella and E. coli, our study also reported a relatively high prevalence of ESBL-producing Grambacteria, including negative nonlactose-fermenting bacteria such as P. aeruginosa, Pseudomonas spp., and a wide variety of other Gram-negative bacteria causing UTIs.³² These bacteria have also been reported as the causative pathogen in UTIs, especially in healthcare associated UTIs.³²

Carbapenem - resistant in Gram - negative bacteria

Carbapenems have а β-lactam ring that differs from penicillins by replacing the sulphur atom at C-1 with a carbon atom and adding a double bond between C-2 and C-3.³³ In addition to this characteristic, the side chain of carbapenemisinthetranspositioninstead of the cis- position, making this drug insensitive to the effect of β-lactamases.³³ Carbapenems were previously effective treatening-drug resistant (MDR) in bacteria, including ESBL-producing bacteria which resistant to penicillin cephalosporins.³⁴ Unfortunately, and the acquisition of carbapenemase genes causes these bacteria to be able to hydrolize carbapenem, leaving a limited choice of antibiotic treatment for MDR bacteria.³⁵

Carbapenemase emergence and spread have increased dramatically over the last decade following its discovery in K. pneumoniae in the US in 1996.^{34,36} The increasing prevalence of carbapenemresistant gram-negative bacteria as the cause of infections is a global threat, hence the WHO highlighted those pathogens, particularly carbapenem-Enterobacterales resistant (CRE), carbapenem-resistant Р. aeruginosa (CRPA) and carbapenem-resistant A. baumanii (CRAB) in the global priority list of pathogens in 2017.³⁷ Carbapenemproducing bacteria surveillance is an important strategy to control its spread and enable a positive impact for public health.38

Carbapenem-resistant bacteria in this study were reported in 95 (27.94%) of gram-negative bacteria isolated from urine cultures of UTI samples. Our study identified various percentage of carbapenem resistance among different bacterial species isolated from UTI patients, including Klebsiella sp. (50%), K. pneumoniae (26.32%), E. coli (17.04%), Pseudomonas sp. (45%), Enterobacter sp. (41.67%), *P. fluorescens* (75%), and many more as described in TABLE 3. A review study comprising data mostly from Asia, North America, and Europe (2017) reported that proportion of carbapenem-Enterobacteriaceae in resistant community setting was ranged from 0 to 29.5% with the highest proportion of carbapenem- resistant Enterobacteriaceae was identified in Asia.³⁹ In Taiwan, the prevalence of carbapenem-resistant *P*. aeruginosa was increasing from 12% in 2012-2015 to 19-23% in 2018–2021.40 Surveillance of carbapenem resistance, especially in patients with UTI is remain scattered and fragmented, moreover various surveillance models were adapted to fit with the requirements and capacities of each setting or country.⁴¹ Furthermore, developing countries struggle with political and social dilemmas due to weak laboratory capacity, poor health systems governance, lack of health information systems, and limited resources.^{41,42} Despite the challenges, a local antibiogram or data regarding uropathogen and its susceptibility pattern is important to inform local treatment guidelines and promote antimicrobial stewardship program.43

Study limitation

This study has limitations, including the small sample size of each bacteria species, limited clinical information, and the passive nature of a secondary laboratory records.

CONCLUSION

This study highlighted the profile of bacteria associated with UTIs in Yogyakarta during 2007-2022 that could be useful for antimicrobial stewardship. The recovery proportion of pathogen of urine culture from UTIs patients was relatively high (55.11%), and like other studies in the world, gram-negative bacteria was the most prevalent pathogen isolated from urine of UTI cases. Escheriachia coli and bacteria in the genus Pseudomonas and Klebsiella were the most frequently identified in this population. In addition, this study revealed the high proportion of ESBLsand carbapenemase-producer among gram-negative bacteria associated with UTIs. Future study is required to refine the epidemiology of bacteria that cause UTI in developing countries or limitedresource region, especially in Yogyakarta.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to thank INA-RESPOND Site 580, Ms Mulyani, and everyone who gave support to our effort to write down this article. This study is partially funded by INA-RESPOND Site 580.

REFERENCES

- 1. Babich T, Eliakim-Raz N, Turjeman A, Pujol M, Carratala J, Shaw E, *et al.* Risk factors for hospital readmission following complicated urinary tract infection. Sci Rep 2021; 11(1):6926. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-021-86246-7
- 2. Flores-Mireles AL, Walker JN, Caparon M, Hultgren SJ. Urinary tract infections: epidemiology, mechanisms of infection and treatment options. Nat Rev Microbiol 2015; 13(5):269-84.

https://doi.org/10.1038/nrmicro3432

3. Zalmanovich A, Katzir M, Chowers M, Matar A, Rodrig J, Alon D. Improving urinary tract infection treatment through a multifaceted antimicrobial stewardship intervention in the emergency department. Am J Emerg Med 2021; 49:10-3.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajem.2021.05.037

4. Zhang H, Liang B, Wang J, Cai Y. Non-carbapenem beta-lactam/ beta-lactamase inhibitors versus carbapenems for urinary tract infections caused by extendedspectrum beta-lactamase-producing Enterobacteriaceae: a systematic review. Int J Antimicrob Agents 2021; 58(4):106410.

h t t p s : // d o i . o r g / 10.1016/j. ijantimicag.2021.106410

5. Kang SW, Park S, Kim A, Han J, Lee J, Seo H, *et al.* Clinical characteristics of and risk factors for subsequent c a r b a p e n e m a s e - p r o d u c i n g enterobacterales (CPE) bacteremia in rectal CPE carriers. Int J Antimicrob Agents 2023; 62(5):106959.

h t t p s : // d o i . o r g / 1 0 . 1 0 1 6 / j . ijantimicag.2023.106959

6. Goebel MC, Trautner BW, Grigoryan L. The five Ds of outpatient antibiotic stewardship for urinary tract infections. Clin Microbiol Rev 2021; 34(4):e0000320.

https://doi.org/10.1128/CMR.00003-20

7. Lee ALH, Leung ECM, Lee MKP, Lai RWM. Diagnostic stewardship programme for urine culture: impact on antimicrobial prescription in a multi-centre cohort. J Hosp Infect 2021; 108:81-9.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhin.2020.10.027

- Ginting F, Sugianli AK, Kusumawati RL, Parwati I, de Jong MD, Schultsz C, *et al.* Predictive value of the urinary dipstick test in the management of patients with urinary tract infectionassociated symptoms in primary care in Indonesia: a cross-sectional study. BMJ Open 2018; 8(8):e023051. https://10.1136/bmjopen-2018-023051
- 9. Bazaid AS, Saeed A, Alrashidi A, Alrashidi A, Alshaghdali K, Hammam SA, *et al.* Antimicrobial surveillance for bacterial uropathogens in Ha'il, Saudi Arabia: A five-year multicenter retrospective study. Infect Drug Resist 2021; 14:1455-65.

https://doi.org/10.2147/IDR.S299846

- Lewis JS, Weinstein MP, Bobenchik AM, Campeau S, Cullen SK, Dingle T, et al. CLSI performance standards for antimicrobial susceptibility testing M100. USA: The Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute 2023. 30th ed.
- 11. (EUCAST) ECoAST. EUCAST guidelines for detection of resistance mechanisms and specific resistances of clinical and/or epidemiological importance. EUCAST. 2017; 1-43.
- 12. Sugianli AK, Ginting F, Kusumawati RL, Parwati I, de Jong MD, van Leth F, *et al.* Laboratory-based versus population-based surveillance of antimicrobial resistance to inform empirical treatment for suspected urinary tract infection in Indonesia. PLoS One 2020; 15(3):e0230489. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pone.0230489
- 13. Quan J, Dai H, Liao W, Zhao D, Shi Q,

Zhang L, *et al.* Etiology and prevalence of ESBLs in adult community-onset urinary tract infections in East China: A prospective multicenter study. J Infect 2021; 83(2):175-81. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jinf.2021.06.004

- 14. Rosana Y, Ocviyanti D, Halim M, Harlinda FY, Amran R, Akbar W, *et al.* Urinary tract infections among Indonesian pregnant women and its susceptibility pattern. Infect Dis Obstet Gynecol 2020; 2020:9681632. https://doi.org/10.1155/2020/9681632
- 15. Norafika, Arbianti N, Prihatiningsih S, Indriani DW, Indriati DW. A retrospective cross-sectional study of urinary tract infections and prevalence of antibiotic resistant pathogens in patients with diabetes mellitus from a public hospital in Surabaya, Indonesia. Germs 2020; 10(4):157-66.

https://doi.org/10.18683/germs.2020.1201

 Dufke S, Kunze-Kronawitter H, Schubert S. Pyelonephritis and urosepsis caused by Streptococcus pneumoniae. J Clin Microbiol 2004; 42(9):4383-5.

h t t p s : // d o i . o r g / 1 0 . 1 1 2 8 / JCM.42.9.4383-4385.2004

17. Burckhardt I, Panitz J, van der Linden M, Zimmermann S. *Streptococcus pneumoniae* as an agent of urinary tract infections - a laboratory experience from 2010 to 2014 and further characterization of strains. Diagn Microbiol Infect Dis 2016; 86(1):97-101.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j. diagmicrobio.2016.06.009

- 18. Pougnet R, Sapin J, De Parscau L, Pougnet L. *Streptococcus pneumoniae* urinary tract infection in pedeatrics. Ann Biol Clin (Paris) 2017; 75(3):348-50. https://doi.org/10.1684/abc.2017.1241
- 19. Kubone PZ, Mlisana KP, Govinden U, Abia ALK, Essack SY. Antibiotic susceptibility and molecular characterization of uropathogenic *Escherichia coli* associated with

community-acquired urinary tract infections in urban and rural settings in South Africa. Trop Med Infect Dis 2020; 5(4):176.

h t t p s : / / d o i . o r g / 1 0 . 3 3 9 0 / tropicalmed5040176

20. Ohnishi T, Mishima Y, Naito T, Matsuda N, Ariji S, Umino D, et al. Clinical features and treatment strategies of febrile urinary tract infection caused bv extendedspectrum beta-lactamase-producing Enterobacteriaceae in children: multicenter retrospective А observational study in Japan. Int J Infect Dis 2022; 125:97-102.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijid.2022.09.033

21. Azami M, Jaafari Z, Masoumi M, Shohani M, Badfar G, Mahmudi L, *et al.* The etiology and prevalence of urinary tract infection and asymptomatic bacteriuria in pregnant women in Iran: a systematic review and meta-analysis. BMC Urol 2019; 19(1):43.

https://doi.org/10.1186/s12894-019-0454-8

- 22. Drekonja DM, Trautner B, Amundson C, Kuskowski M, Johnson JR. Effect of 7 vs 14 days of antibiotic therapy on resolution of symptoms among afebrile men with urinary tract infection: A randomized clinical trial. JAMA 2021; 326(4):324-31. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2021.9899
- 23. Rawat D, Nair D. Extended-spectrum beta-lactamases in Gram-negative bacteria. J Glob Infect Dis 2010; 2(3):263-74.

https://10.4103/0974-777X.68531

- 24. Ghafourian S, Sadeghifard N, Soheili S, Sekawi Z. Extended spectrum betalactamases: definition, classification and epidemiology. Curr Issues Mol Biol 2015; 17:11-21.
- 25. Karlowsky JA, Lob SH, DeRyke CA, Siddiqui F, Young K, Motyl MR, et al. Prevalence of ESBL non-CRE Escherichia coli and Klebsiella pneumoniae among clinical isolates collected by the SMART global

surveillance programme from 2015 to 2019. Int J Antimicrob Agents 2022; 59(3):106535.

h t t p s : //d o i . o r g / 1 0 . 1 0 1 6 / j . ijantimicag.2022.106535

26. Apostolakos I, Mughini-Gras L, Fasolato L, Piccirillo A. Impact of selective and non-selective media on prevalence and genetic makeup of ESBL/pAmpC-producing *Escherichia coli* in the broiler production pyramid. Vet Microbiol 2020; 240:108536.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j. vetmic.2019.108536

- 27. Al-Jamei SA, Albsoul AY, Bakri FG, Al-Bakri AG. Extended-spectrum betalactamase producing *Escherichia coli* in urinary tract infections: A two-center, cross-sectional study of prevalence, genotypes and risk factors in Amman, Jordan. J Infect Public Health 2019; 12(1):21-5. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jiph.2018.07.011
- 28. Tufa TB, Fuchs A, Tufa TB, Stotter L, Kaasch AJ, Feldt T, *et al.* High rate of extended-spectrum beta-lactamaseproducing Gram-negative infections and associated mortality in Ethiopia: a systematic review and metaanalysis. Antimicrob Resist Infect Control 2020; 9(1):128. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13756-020-00782-x
- 29. Wijaya C, Eriata AH, Rustawan INT, Candra IKBA, Budayanti NNS. Prevalence of uropathogen producing extended spectrum beta lactamase (ESBL) at urinary tract infection in chronic kidney disease patient. J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis (JCMID) 2023; 3(1):12-5.

https://doi.org/10.51559/jcmid.v3i1.29

30. Anggi A, Wijaya DW, Ramayani OR. Risk Factors for Catheterassociated urinary tract infection and uropathogen bacterial profile in the Intensive Care Unit in Hospitals in Medan, Indonesia. Open Access Maced J Med Sci 2019; 7(20):3488-92. https://doi.org/10.3889/oamjms.2019.684

- 31. Hosu MC, Vasaikar SD, Okuthe GE, Apalata T. Detection of extended spectrum beta-lactamase genes in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* isolated from patients in rural Eastern Cape Province, South Africa. Sci Rep 2021; 11(1):7110. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-021-86570-y
- 32. Wagenlehner FME, Bjerklund Johansen TE, Cai T, Koves B, Kranz J, Pilatz A, *et al.* Epidemiology, definition and treatment of complicated urinary tract infections. Nat Rev Urol 2020; 17(10):586-600. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41585-020-0362-4
- 33. Aurilio C, Sansone P, Barbarisi M, Pota V, Giaccari LG, Coppolino F, et al. Mechanisms of action of carbapenem resistance. Antibiotics (Basel) 2022; 11(3):421. h t t p s : // d o i . o r g / 1 0 . 3 3 9 0 / antibiotics11030421
- 34. Hansen GT. Continuous evolution: perspective on the epidemiology of carbapenemase resistance among enterobacterales and other Gramnegative bacteria. Infect Dis Ther 2021; 10(1):75-92. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40121-020-00395-2
- 35. Chen Y, Marimuthu K, Teo J, Venkatachalam I, Cherng BPZ, De Wang L, *et al.* Acquisition of plasmid with carbapenem-resistance gene bla(KPC2) in hypervirulent *Klebsiella pneumoniae*, Singapore. Emerg Infect Dis 2020; 26(3):549-59. https://doi.org/10.3201/eid2603.191230
- 36. Chen L, Mathema B, Chavda KD, DeLeo FR, Bonomo RA, Kreiswirth BN. Carbapenemase-producing *Klebsiella pneumoniae*: molecular and genetic decoding. Trends Microbiol 2014; 22(12):686-96.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.tim.2014.09.003

37. Nordmann P, Poirel L. Epidemiology and diagnostics of carbapenem resistance in Gram-negative bacteria. Clin Infect Dis 2019; 69(Suppl 7):S521-S8. https://doi.org/10.1093/cid/ciz824

38. Gomides MDA. Fontes AMS. Silveira A, Matoso DC, Ferreira AL, Sadoyama G. The importance of active surveillance of carbapenemresistant Enterobacterales (CRE) in colonization rates in critically PLoS ill patients. One 2022; 17(1):e0262554.

https://doi.org/10.1371/journal. pone.0262554

- 39. Kelly AM, Mathema B, Larson EL. Carbapenem-resistant enterobacteriaceae in the community: A scoping review. Int J Antimicrob Agents 2017; 50(2):127-34. h t t p s : // d o i . o r g / 1 0 . 1 0 1 6 / j . ijantimicag.2017.03.012
- 40. Karlowsky JA, Wise MG, Hsieh TC, Lu HC, Chen WT, Cheng MH, *et al.* Temporal and geographical prevalence of carbapenem-resistant *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* and the *in vitro* activity of ceftolozane/ tazobactam and comparators in Taiwan-SMART 2012-2021. J Glob

Antimicrob Resist 2023; 34:106-12. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jgar.2023.06.013

- 41. Perez F, Villegas MV. The role of surveillance systems in confronting the global crisis of antibioticresistant bacteria. Curr Opin Infect Dis 2015; 28(4):375-83. https://doi.org/10.1097/ QCO.00000000000182
- 42. Iskandar K, Molinier L, Hallit S, Sartelli M, Hardcastle TC, Haque M, *et al.* Surveillance of antimicrobial resistance in low- and middleincome countries: A scattered picture. Antimicrob Resist Infect Control 2021; 10(1):63. https://doi.org/10.1186/s13756-021-

00931-w

43. Khatri D, Freeman C, Falconer N, de Camargo Catapan S, Gray LC, Paterson DL. Clinical impact of antibiograms as an intervention to optimize antimicrobial prescribing and patient outcomes: A systematic review. Am J Infect Control 2024; 52(1):107-22.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ajic.2023.08.013

Indonesian Journal of Biomedicine and Clinical Sciences

Characteristics, management, and major adverse cardiac events of ST-elevation myocardial infarction (STEMI) patients in rural area: a Jember acute coronary syndrome medical records study

Calista Padma Paramitha Sugiyanto¹, Suryono^{2*}, Ayu Munawaroh³

¹Faculty of Medicine, University of Jember, ²Department of Cardiology and Vascular Medicine, Faculty of Medicine, University of Jember/Dr. Soebandi District Hospital, Jember, East Java, ³Department of Histology, Faculty of Medicine, University of Jember, East Java, Indonesia https://doi.org/10.22146/inajbcs.v56i3.15988

ABSTRACT

Submitted: 2023-11-15 Accepted : 2024-04-30

The mortality and morbidity of ST-elevation myocardial infarction (STEMI) remain high, and it is still the leading cause of death worldwide. Timely reperfusion lowers the risk of MACE and improves survival. However, reperfusion delay is still a significant issue in developing countries, particularly rural area. This study aimed to determine the characteristics, management, and major adverse cardiac events of STEMI patients in Jember Distric to enhance reperfusion therapy in rural areas. It was an analytical observational crosssectional study with a quantitative method. A total of 108 medical records of STEMI patients of the Dr. Soebandi District Hospital, Jember in period of 2019 to 2020 were included using the consecutive sampling technique. As much as 78 (62%) of the patients did not receive reperfusion therapy while the remaining patients (41 or 38%) received the therapy, namely percutaneous coronary intervention (20 or 18.5%), fibrinolytic therapy (19 or 17.6%), and both (2 or 1.9%). Multivariate analysis for reperfusion was statistically significant (p=0.016; OR 3.688 95% CI: 1.274-10.679). The level of education, health funding, and distance to the hospital did not affect the delay of the reperfusion therapy. Reperfusion was highly associated with the incidence of MACE and this study discovered a threefold benefit of reperfusion in lowering the occurrence of MACE (*p*=0.016). In conclusion, the majority of STEMI patients does not get reperfusion therapy. Delays in reperfusion treatment are not related to the patient's level of education, health funding, or distance to the hospital. Nonetheless, the delay my be attributed to the Jember community's lack of awareness of STEMI symptoms.

ABSTRAK

Mortalitas dan morbiditas ST-elevation myocardial infarction (STEMI) masih tinggi, dan menjadi penyebab kematian tertinggi di dunia. Reperfusi yang tepat waktu menurunkan risiko MACE dan meningkatkan kelangsungan hidup. Namun, keterlambatan reperfusi masih menjadi masalah nyata di negaranegara berkembang, khususnya di daerah pedesaan. Penelitian ini bertujuan untuk mengetahui karakteristik, penatalaksanaan, dan kejadian jantung buruk mayor pasien STEMI di Kabupaten Jember untuk meningkatkan terapi reperfusi di daerah pedesaan. Penelitian ini merupakan penelitian analitik observasional cross-sectional dengan metode kuantitatif. Sebanyak 108 rekam medis pasien STEMI tahun 2019-2020 diikutsertakan dengan menggunakan teknik sampling konsekutif. Sebanyak 78 (62%) pasien tidak mendapatkan terapi reperfusi sedangkan pasien lainnya (41 atau 38%) mendapatkan terapi, yaitu: intervensi koroner perkutan (20 atau 18,5%), terapi fibrinolitik (19 atau 17,6%), dan keduanya (2 atau 1,9%). Analisis multivariat untuk reperfusi secara statistik signifikan (p=0,016; OR 3,688; 95% CI: 1,274-10,679). Tingkat pendidikan, dana kesehatan, dan jarak ke rumah sakit tidak mempengaruhi keterlambatan terapi acute coronary syndrome; reperfusi. Reperfusi sangat terkait dengan kejadian MACE dan penelitian ini menemukan manfaat tiga kali lipat reperfusi dalam menurunkan kejadian MACE (p=0,016). Dapat disimpulkan bahwa mayoritas pasien STEMI tidak mendapatkan terapi reperfusi. Keterlambatan perawatan reperfusi tidak berhubungan dengan tingkat pendidikan pasien, dana kesehatan, atau jarak ke rumah sakit. Meskipun demikian, keterlambatan tersebut mungkin disebabkan oleh kurangnya kesadaran masyarakat Jember terhadap gejala STEMI.

Keywords:

major adverse cardiovascular events (MACE); reperfusion; ST-elevation myocardial infarction

INTRODUCTION

Cardiovascular disease is a global health issue, accounting for 31% of both morbidity and mortality. In 2025, the mortality rate of coronary heart disease (CHD) was 20 million, and it is expected to rise to 23.6 million by 2030.1 Acute myocardial infarction (AMI) is one of the CHD is still the leading cause of mortality worldwide, with a prevalence of 12.2 % or around 7.2 million individuals. The prevalence of acute myocardial infarction with ST elevation has jumped from 25 to 40%. According to the Basic Research Data statistics from 2018, the STEMI mortality rate is also the primary cause of cardiovascular death in Indonesia.²

ST-elevation myocardial infarction (STEMI) is one of the spectra of acute coronary syndromes due to the sudden decrease of coronary artery blood flow by thrombus occlusion following a rupture of pre-existing atherosclerotic plague. The American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association and the European Society of Cardiology recommend reperfusion therapy as the first-line therapy of STEMI, either fibrinolytic therapy or percutaneous coronary intervention (PCI). The therapy of PCI has a success rate of 99 %, while fibrinolytic therapy has a success rate of 20-30 %.3 Those patients who do not have reperfusion therapy are more likely to have complications. Late-onset presentation (> 12 hr), the patient's source of financing, low education level, psychosocial factors, and other relative contraindications are possible reasons for not conducting reperfusion treatment.³ Major adverse cardiovascular events (MACE) are the term for complications of the reperfusion treatment. This includes failure, cardiogenic shock, heart arrhythmias, and death.⁴

Very few data regarding the characteristics, management, and MACE in STEMI patients in Jember, East Java, Indonesia. Therefore, registry data study is required in order to improve reperfusion treatment. This study aimed to determine the characteristics, management, and major adverse cardiac events of STEMI patients in Jember to enhance reperfusion therapy in the rural area.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

Design of study

It was an analytical observational cross-sectional study using the quantitative method conducted at Dr. Soebandi General Hospital, Jember, East Java, Indonesia from February until March 2021 after ethical clearance approval by the Ethics Committee of the Faculty of Medicine, University of Jember, Number /H25.1.11/KE/2021/456.

Procedure

The study used secondary data from STEMI patient's medical records. All subjects were recruited using the consecutive sampling technique. A total of 119 STEMI patients at Dr. Soebandi General Hospital, Jember in period of 2019 to 2020 were selected in this study. As much as 108 patients met the inclusion and exclusion criteria, while 11 others were excluded. The inclusion criteria of the study were the following: 1) STEMI patients both receiving and not receiving reperfusion therapy for 5 d of evaluation in 2019-2020; 2) Complete medical record data. The following data were also obtained from the medical records: age, sex, the onset of chest pain, comorbidities, level of education, health funding, distance to hospital, and evaluation length. Patients with incomplete data were excluded.

Data analysis

Data were presented as frequency or percentage and analyzed by descriptive, bivariate, and multivariate analysis. Univariate analysis (descriptive analysis) was aimed to describe the characteristics of each study variable. The Chi-square test was used to compare categorical parameters to evaluate the association between each parameter and MACE (bivariate analysis) in STEMI patients followed by a multivariate analysis logistic regression test with a 95% confidence interval (95%CI). A p value of < 0.05 was defined as statistically significant.

RESULTS

Among 119 STEMI patients who were selected in this study, 108 patients who met the inclusion criteria, while eleven others were excluded. The characteristics, management, and major adverse cardiac events of STEMI patients are presented in TABLE 1.

Characteristic	[n (%)]
Reperfusion therapy	
Yes	41 (38.0)
PCI	20 (18.5)
Fibrinolytic	19 (17.6)
Both	2 (1.9)
No	78 (62.0)
MACE	
Yes	70 (64.8)
None	38 (35.2)
Age	
<50 y.o.	20 (18.5)
≥50 y.o.	88 (81.5)
Sex	
Males	83 (76.9)
Females	25 (23.1)
Chest pain onset	
<12 hr	51 (47.2)
>12 hr	57 (52.8)
Comorbidities	
Yes	72 (66.7)
None	36 (33.3)
Level of education	
Complete compulsory education	52 (48.1)
Incomplete compulsory education	56 (51.9)
Health funding	
Universal health coverage	0 (0.0)
Dues assistance recipients (PBI)	31 (28.7)
Premium paid	74 (68.5)
Personal funding	3 (2.8)
Distance to the hospital	
Near	14 (13.0)
Far	94 (87.0)

TABLE 1. Distribution of study parameters variables

A significant relationship between reperfusion therapy and the occurrence of MACE (p=0.008; OR = 3.345) was observed (TABLE 2). It was demonstrated that STEMI patients who does not get reperfusion treatment has a 3.345 times higher risk of MACE than those who does. TABLE 2 also revealed a significant relationship between MACE with age (p = 0.010; OR=3.577), gender (p=0.022; OR=3.643), onset of pain (p=0.004; OR=3.254), comorbidities (p=0.046; OR 2.5), and level of education (p=0.033; OR 2.419), however no significant relationship with health funding (p=0.946; OR= 0.919).

Variable	MACE	[n (%)]	Total	Total OP		n
Vallable	Yes	No	Total	UK	95%CI	þ
Reperfusion therapy						
Yes	33 (30.6)	8 (7.4)	41 (38.0)	2 245	1 246 0 211	0 000
No	37 (34.3)	30 (27.8)	67 (62.0)	3.343	1.340-8.311	0.008
Total	70 (64.8)	38 (35.2)	108 (100)			
Age						
<50 y.o.	8 (7.4)	12 (11.1)	20 (18.5)			
≥50 y.o.	62 (57.4)	26 (24.1)	88 (81.5)	3.577	1.309-9.772	0.010
Total	70 (64.8)	38 (35.2)	108 (100)	0.077	1000 01772	0.010
Sex						
Males	49 (45.4)	34 (31.5)	83 (76.9)			
Females	21 (19.4)	4 (3.7)	25 (23.1)	3 643	1 147-11 566	0 022
Total	70 (64.8)	38 (35.2)	108 (100)	5.045	1.147-11.500	0.022
Onset pain						
<12 hr	26 (24.1)	25 (23.1)	51 (47.2)			
>12 hr	44 (40.7)	13 (12.0)	57 (52.8)	3.254	1,423-7,442	0.004
Total	70 (64.8)	38 (35.2)	108 (100)	0.201		01001
Comorbidities						
Yes	42 (38.9)	30 (27.8)	72 (66.7)			
None	28 (25.9)	8 (7.4)	36 (33.3)	2.500	1.001-6.241	0.046
Total	70 (64.8)	38 (35.2)	108 (100)			
Level of education						
Complete compulsory	39 (36.1)	13 (12.0)	52 (48.1)			
Incomplete compulsory	31 (28.7)	25 (23.1)	56 (51.9)	2.419	1.066-5.490	0.033
Total	70 (64.8)	38 (35.2)	108 (100)			
Health funding						
Universal health coverage	68 (63.0)	37 (34.3)	105 (97.2)	0.010	0 001 10 470	0.040
Personal funding	2 (1.9)	1 (0.9)	3 (2.8)	0.919	0.081-10.4/6	0.946
Total	70 (64.8)	38 (35.2)	108 (100)			

TABLE 2. Bivariate analysis between reperfusion & parameters with MACE

Distance to	Reperfusion th	erapy [n (%)	Total			Total OB 05% (n	
hospital	Yes	No	Iotal OK	95% CI	р			
Near	7 (6.5)	7 (6.5)	14 (13.0)	0.567	0.183-1.752	0.320		
Far	34 (31.5)	60 (55.6)	94 (87.0)					
Total	41 (38.0)	67 (62.0)	108 (100)					

TABLE 3. Bivariate analysis between distance to the hospital and reperfusion therapy

Variable	Coefficient	OR	95% CI	р
Reperfusion therapy	1.305	3.688	1.274-10.679	0.016
Age	1.271	3.564	1.115-11.393	0.032
Sex	1.420	4.136	1.154-14.816	0.029
Pain onset	1.021	2.776	1.068-7.218	0.036
Comorbidities	-0.268	0.765	0.593-0.987	0.039
Constant	-5.724	0.003	-	0.001

TABLE 4. Multivariate analysis of the incidence of MACE

TABLE 3 presented no significant relationship between the distance to the hospital and reperfusion (p=0.320; OR=0.567). Multivariate analysis using logistic regression test (TABLE 4) confirmed these variables to be significantly associated with MACE: reperfusion (p=0.016), age (p=0.032), sex (p=0.029), onset since pain (p=0.036), and comorbidities (p=0.039) (TABLE 4). The overall percentage value in this study was 77.8%. Education level was not significantly related with p = 0.301.

DISCUSSION

The delay in reperfusion treatment was unaffected by the level of education, health funding, or distance to the hospital. Patients did not receive reperfusion treatment for a variety of reasons, including presenting late pain onset (>12 hr), declined reperfusion therapy, and poor level of education (38%) that might fuel the inadequacy of knowledge on STEMI symptoms. Nonetheless, multivariate studies indicated they were not statistically significant. The lack of funding (no universal health coverage), as well as contraindications in some patients, such as a history of stroke (0.9%) and post cardiopulmonary resuscitation (2.8%), and decreased consciousness, patient's fear, and the lack of understanding of the indications and symptoms of STEMI were the reasons of not receiving therapy. Moreover, the referral mechanism was ineffective. The distance to Dr. Soebandi General Hospital, Jember also did not affect reperfusion therapy.

The total number of patients who did not receive therapy was 62% of patients, while 38% of patients received reperfusion therapy. There were more patients receiving PCI therapy (20 patients or 18.5%) than fibrinolytic therapy (19 patients or 17.6%), while 2 patients received both PCI and fibrinolytic therapy (1.9%). Multivariate analysis indicated that reperfusion therapy significant effected the incidence of MACE with an OR of 3.688 (95%CI: 1.274-10.679). In other words, patients who did not get reperfusion therapy had an increased risk of MACE 3.688 higher than patients with reperfusion therapy. These results are consistent with the study conducted by Yang *et al.* that reperfusion therapy is associated with decreased risk of MACE than the patients who does not get reperfusion therapy.⁵

Reperfusionaimstofixthemyocardial blood flow, saving myocardium, maintaining the function of the left ventricle, and reducing the mortality level.⁶ A successful reperfusion therapy greatly relies on the period passing between the symptom appearance and the therapy. Early reperfusion with a short period between "symptom-toneedle" and "door-to-needle" in patients with myocardial infarction is the main goal of reperfusion.

The key factor in STEMI treatment is the ischemic time, or when the symptoms appear until the reperfusion therapy.⁷ The longer the artery is exposed to occlusion, the wider the ischemic wave which extends from the endocardium to the epicardium so an immediate reperfusion act must made.⁸ Percutaneous be coronary intervention is the treatment of choice in the management of patients with acute STEMI which significantly reduces mortality and morbidity compared to fibrinolytics as a reperfusion strategy.

Clinical outcomes in STEMI patients are influenced by the occurrence of complications known as MACE, which consists of left ventricular dysfunction, recurrent ischemia, early reinfarction, severe coronary disease, stroke and malignant arrhythmias.⁵ According to the data and result of studies, reperfusion therapy can lower the risk of MACE.

A study by Parung *et al.* stated that the number of patients who did not get reperfusion treatment was higher than the number of patients who did.⁹ The number of STEMI patients who received reperfusion therapy at Dr. Soetomo General Hospital, Surabaya in 2013 was 41%, where 28% of them received PCI while 72% received fibrinolytic therapy. About 59% of STEMI patients did not receive reperfusion therapy. This occurred because the National Health Insurance (Jaminan Kesehatan Nasional/ JKN) had yet to begin in 2013, and most patients were still unable to afford reperfusion therapy.⁹ This condition increases the incidence of MACE in patients with no reperfusion therapy. As recommended by the European Society of Cardiology, individuals with clinical symptoms of STEMI and persistent STsegment elevation or new LBBB on the ECG should be treated as soon as possible within 12 hr.10

According to Huber *et al.*¹¹ three factors contributed to the time delay between the onset of chest pain and the start of reperfusion therapy: delayed patient's decision to get to the hospital (1.5 to 3 hr), delayed prehospital transportation (30 to 130 min) and delayed STEMI management. Furthermore, a referral system might lengthen the time it takes for patients to get reperfusion treatment. Another factor affecting the delay was the patient's inaccuracy in perceiving the symptoms of chest pain.¹² About 41% of the patients perceive that the symptoms of chest pain experienced were not heart disease and 64.1% of them had delayed treatment. The patient's ability to correctly perceive the symptoms would determine the patient's response.13,14

The patient's level of education has an impact on their knowledge and decision-making. Patients who did not complete obligatory education (low education) had a limited understanding and decision-making, of symptoms whereas patients who completed their compulsory education (higher education) had sufficient information considering options for and clear judgments.¹⁵ Furthermore, as the level of education affected the reperfusion therapy, it might also indirectly affect the incidence of MACE. Multivariate analysis in this study showed that education level does not influence reperfusion treatment delay. This might be due to other important factors: local cultural and the size of the study's sample. Local culture practice might cloud patient's judgment of STEMI symptoms.¹⁶

The National Health Insurance covered treatment costs for the majority of STEMI patients in Dr. Soebandi General Hospital. Patients with premium-paid the National Health Insurance participants (non-PBI) presented more STEMI cases than those with dues assistance recipients (PBI) participants. The PBI patients accounted for 31 patients (28.7%), while the non-PBI group consisted of 74 patients (68.5%). The personal decision to whether to receive reperfusion treatment or not was heavily influenced by their health insurance coverage. Patients who received reperfusion therapy were often residents covered by the National Health Insurance, while those who were not covered by the National Health Insurance were found to receive less reperfusion therapy. A total of 19 out of 108 patients (17,6%) received fibrinolytic reperfusion therapy with streptokinase as a fibrinolytic drug. This is due to the low cost of streptokinase.9,10

CONCLUSION

In conclusion, reperfusion is proven to be effective in reducing MACE with an OR of 3.688. The delay in reperfusion therapy is not related to the level of education, health funding, and distance to the hospital. Lack of awareness of STEMI is suspected to be the major cause of the delay in reperfusion therapy. This can be seen from late-onset presentation (> 12 hr) and psychosocial factors. Lateonset STEMI patients (>12 hr) have a 3.254 times higher risk of MACE than patients presented with early onset STEMI.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

We express our gratitude to all parties who cannot be mentioned one by one, who have helped in the process of collecting data and writing this study.

REFERENCES

- World Health Organization. Cardiovascular Diseases (CVDs). World Health Organization 11 June 2021. https://www.who.int/news-room/ fact-sheets/detail/cardiovasculardiseases-(cvds)
- 2. Badan Penelitian dan Pengembangan Kesehatan. Laporan Nasional Riset Kesehatan Dasar 2018. Jakarta: Kementerian Kesehatan Republik Indonesia, 2018.
- 3. Bambari HA, Agnes LP, Joseph VFF. Terapi reperfusi pada infark miokard dengan ST-Elevasi. e-CliniC 2021; 9(2):287-98. https://doi.org/10.35790/ ecl.9.2.2021.32850
- Bosco E, Hsueh L, McConeghy KW, Gravenstein S, Saade E. Major adverse cardiovascular event definitions used in observational analysis of administrative databases: a systematic review. BMC Med Res Methodol 2021; 21(1):241. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12874-021-01440-5
- 5. Yang Y, Hao Y, Liu J, Yang N, Hu D, Sun Z, *et al.* Practice of reperfusion in patients with ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction in China: findings from the Improving Care for Cardiovascular Disease in China-Acute Coronary Syndrome project. Chin Med J (Engl) 2022; 135(23):2821-8. https://10.1097/CM9.00000000002257
- 6. Nasution SA, Hendra P, Eka G, Ikhwan R. In-hospital major adverse cardiac events factor predictors on

ST-Elevation myocardial infarction after primary percutaneous coronary intervention at Dr. Cipto Mangunkusumo General Hospital. eJKI 2022; 10:(2):107-113.

https://doi.org/10.23886/ejki.10.193.107-13

- Bohula EA, Morrow DA. ST elevation myocardial infarction: management. In: Zipes D, Libby P, Bonow R, Mann D, Tomaselli G, Braunwald E, editors. Braunwald's Heart Disease: a Textbook of Cardiovascular Medicine (11th ed). Philadelphia: Elsevier Inc, 2020; p 1123-80.
- 8. Vogel B, Claessen BE, Arnold SV, Chan D, Cohen DJ, Giannitsis E, *et al.* ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction. Nat Rev Dis Primers 2019; 5(1):39.

https://doi.org/10.1038/s41572-019-0090-3

- 9. Parung AA, Liben P, Herwanto B. Tingkat mortalitas terapi reperfusi pada penderita STEMI di RSUD Dr. Soetomo Surabaya. JUXTA J Ilm Mhs Kedokt Univ Airlangga 2016; 8:17-23.
- 10. Thygesen K, Alpert JS, Jaffe AS, Chaitman BR, Bax JJ, Morrow DA, *et al.* Fourth universal definition of myocardial infarction (2018). J Am Coll Cardiol 2018; 72(18):2231-64. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jacc.2018.08.1038
- 11. Huber K, De Caterina R, Kristensen SD, Verheugt FWA, Montalescot G, Maestro LB, *et al.* Pre-hospital reperfusion therapy: a strategy to improve therapeutic outcome in patients with ST-elevation myocardial infarction. Eur Heart J 2005; 26(19):2063-74.

https://doi.org/10.1093/eurheartj/ehi413

12. Hendrawati, Rohman MS, Tjahjono

CT, Widito S, Satrijo B, Waranugraha Y, *et al.* Percutaneous coronary intervention in ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction: late is better than not done at all. Heart Sci J 2020; 1(3):21-6.

https://doi.org/10.21776/ ub.hsj.2020.001.03.5

- 13. Novrianti I, Dhani W, Faizal M, Sari W. Pharmacological therapy for ST-Segment elevation myocardial infarction: a review. J Islamic Pharm 2020; 5(2):9-13.
- 14. Wong GC, Welsford M, Ainsworth C, Abuzeid W, Fordyce CB, Greene J, *et al.* 2019 Canadian Cardiovascular Society/Canadian Association of Interventional Cardiology Guidelines on the acute management of STelevation myocar-dial infarction: focused update on regionalization and reperfusion. Can J Cardiol 2019; 35(2):107-32.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cjca.2018.11.031

15. Yang HT, Xiu WJ, Zheng YY, Liu F, Gao Y, Ma X, *et al.* Invasive reperfusion after 12 hours of the symptom onset remains beneficial in patients with ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction: evidence from a metaanalysis of published data. Cardiol J 2019; 26(4):333-42.

https://doi.org/10.5603/CJ.a2018.0034

16. Guo Q, Jinyu H, Yong S, Guoxin T, Li H, Shasha M. The role of late reperfusion in ST-segment elevation myocardial infarction: a real-world retrospective cohort study. BMC Cardiovas Disord 2020; 20(1):207. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12872-020-

01479-0

Indonesian Journal of Biomedicine and Clinical Sciences

The development and use of artificial intelligence (AI) in dermatology: a narrative review

Irene Darmawan¹, Shannaz Nadia Yusharyahya^{1*}, Adhimukti T. Sampurna¹, Adhi Harmoko Saputro²

¹Department of Dermatology and Veneorology, Faculty of Medicine, Universitas Indonesia, ²Department of physics, Universitas Indonesia

https://doi.org/10.22146/inajbcs.v56i3.15970

ABSTRACT

Submitted: 2023-01-10 Accepted : 2023-03-02 Artificial intelligence (AI) is defined as a computer science involving program development aiming to reproduce human cognition to analyze complex data. Artificial intelligence has rapidly developed in the medical field. In dermatology, its development is relatively new and is generally used in the diagnostic, especially for skin imaging analysis and classification, and also for risk assessment. The greatest advances have been primarily in the diagnosis of melanoma, followed by the assessment of psoriasis, ulcers, and various other skin diseases. The use of AI has shown good accuracy and is comparable to dermatologists in various studies, especially related to melanoma and skin tumors. However, several obstacles exist in the application of AI to daily clinical practice, including generalizability, image standardization, the need for large data quantities, and legal and privacy aspects. In current developments, AI should be aimed at helping enhance the decision-making of clinicians.

ABSTRACT

Artificial intelligence (AI) adalah ilmu komputer yang terlibat dalam pembuatan program yang bertujuan untuk mereproduksi kognisi manusia dan menganalisis data yang kompleks. Artifical intelligence berkembang pesat, namun di bidang dermatologi masih tergolong baru dan umumnya digunakan untuk diagnostik yaitu analisis, klasifikasi gambar dan penilaian risiko. Kemajuan paling besar adalah pada penegakan diagnosis melanoma, diikuti penilaian psoriasis, ulkus dan berbagai penyakit kulit lainnya. Penggunaan AI telah menunjukkan akurasi yang baik dan sebanding dengan dokter spesialis dermatologi dalam berbagai studi, terutama terkait melanoma dan tumor kulit. Meskipun demikian, terdapat beberapa hambatan dalam penerapan AI, meliputi kemampuan generalisasi, standardisasi gambar, kebutuhan akan kuantitas data yang besar, aspek legal, privasi dan lainnya. Sebaiknya, AI digunakan untuk membantu pengambilan keputusan oleh klinisi.

Keywords: artificial intelligence; deep learning; dermatology; machine learning; machine learning

INTRODUCTION

Intelligence represents the mental ability to think, plan, solve problems, understand complex ideas, and learn from experiences.¹ Artificial intelligence (AI) is a scientific understanding of the underlying mechanisms of intelligent behavior and its embodiment in a machine. In other words, AI is defined as a branch of computer science involving program development aiming to reproduce human cognition to analyze complex data.² The term "augmented intelligence' was often used rather than artificial intelligence to emphasize systems that enhance and augment human decision-making rather than an attempt to replicate human intelligence.³

In the medical field, AI is wellacknowledged and supported by the rapid technological development. AI in dermatology is fast emerging, especially for image classification and risk assessment.⁴ We are entering an era of AI for dermatology; hence, a proper understanding is needed regarding this automated system and how it should be implemented in future clinical settings to deliver better skin care. This review aimed to discuss the basic concept of AI, AI development, and AI applications in dermatology.

DISCUSSION

Basic concept

The term AI was first coined by John McCarthy during the Dartmouth College Conference in 1956, though the concept of human behavior simulating machine was proposed by Alan Turing in 1950.^{5,6} In 1970, AI began to be applied in life science, yet the development was hindered by technological limitations.² Rapid technology development in the last two decades provides an opportunity to apply AI in medical practices.⁷ Artificial intelligence is divided into strong AI and weak AI. The former refers to a machine with human-level intelligence, capable of learning independently and performing several different tasks. Meanwhile, the latter refers to a machine that learns to fulfill a single task, thus requiring several programs to run several different tasks.^{2,8}

Machine learning

Machine learning (ML) differs from classic programming, in which a computer is supplied with a dataset and an algorithm. Classical programming uses an existing algorithm to process the dataset into outputs. In contrast to classical programming, ML uses the dataset and its output, allowing the model to learn and generate an algorithm linking the data and the output. The generated algorithm can be used to process the new dataset.⁹ In other words, ML represents a model's learning ability to find the pattern in a large dataset.¹

There are several methods of

machine learning, including supervised, unsupervised, semi-supervised, and reinforcement learning.9 The model generates an algorithm from the training dataset to predict the outputs of the new dataset. In supervised ML, the data and target output have been labeled, while in unsupervised ML, the model finds the pattern of the data and categorizes them into target output on its own. The semisupervised ML is positioned between the supervised and unsupervised ML, in which some data have been labeled while others are not labeled. Reinforcement learning employs a system of "reward and punishment" to generate the problem-solving strategy.^{9,10}

Deep learning

The deep learning (DL) term was coined by Geoffrey Hinton, known as the father of deep learning.¹¹ Deep learning is a part of ML that uses artificial neural networks (ANN). Figure 1 shows the interrelationship of terms related to AI. DL has several processing layers, and each layer possesses the ability to recognize and learn a specific feature of the given data. These processing layers are built sequentially and can be unlimited in number. The complexity of the layered structure allows the model to perform more complex tasks.^{7,12} The ANN is inspired by human biological neurons. Each ANN has nodes (similar to nerve cell bodies) communicating with other nodes (similar to axons and dendrites).⁷ The data are analyzed using an algorithm in each layer. The output of the first layer is analyzed by the algorithm of the next layer until generating the final output.⁵ The most common training method used in DL is the supervised method, in which the dataset (e.g., skin lesion) has been labeled (e.g., benign or malignant). The reinforcement learning method can be used in the learning process that requires demonstration, e.g. robotic surgical assistant.¹²


FIGURE 1. Diagram showing interrelationship of terms related to artificial intelligence.

A convolutional neural network (CNN) is a subtype of ANN that is commonly used to process grid-pattern data such as images. CNN is designed to recognize the spatial hierarchy of the image features. The CNN is composed of three types of layers: a convolutional layer and a pooling layer to extract features of an image, and fully connected layer that maps the extracted feature into final output such as image classification.¹³ Thus, CNN is highly efficient for image processing since the feature could be anywhere in the image.

AI application in dermatology

Dermatology is a field involving high visual aspects with a large number of patients; hence, studies on medical image interpretation are highly required.¹⁴ Image classification becomes the most frequent target of AI development in dermatology. Before 2016, most studies applied conventional computer assisted diagnosis (CAD) for automatic diagnosis based on the given medical images. CAD is composed of several tasks, including image quality enhancement, segmentation, feature extraction, and classification.¹⁵

Preprocessing

This process aims to enhance the image quality and eliminate noise and artifacts (hair, shadow, etc.) The frequently used methods include color transformation, illumination correction, contrast improvement, and artifact elimination. A proper preprocessing stage is important for facilitating the segmentation stage and improving classification accuracy.^{16,17}

Segmentation

The segmentation process aims to determine the region of interest (ROI) in the images. This stage represents the most complex phase due to the numerous diagnoses of skin lesions.¹⁵ The segmentation is continuously performed until the ROI is successfully isolated from the rest of the unimportant parts of the image.¹⁸ Previous studies have compared or combined several image segmentation methods. Some of the frequently used methods include edge-based (using information from sudden changes at the lesion edge, such as discontinuity and pixel intensity changes), thresholding and region-based (using similarity criteria to identify the skin lesion), AI-based (neural network, k-means clustering, fuzzy logic, and evolutionary computation), active contour-based, etc.¹⁶ The accuracy of the segmentation method is evaluated by comparing it to the ground truth established by manual segmentation.17

Feature extraction

After determining ROI, the feature aims to identify extraction stage features discriminating the with characteristics to classify the image into certain categories.¹⁵ For instance, in melanoma diagnosis, the most frequently used feature extraction algorithm is the ABCDE criteria. Asymmetry (A) is measured by dividing the segmented area into two subregions based on the X and Y axes. Border (B) is classified into regular and irregular borders. Color (C) denotes the number of colors found in a lesion. Diameter (D) is determined by measuring the greatest distance between two edges.¹⁹ Other extractable features include shapes (area, asymmetry, diameter, density), color, texture, and histogram color.18

Image detection and classification

This process classifies the image set into suitable categories. There are several types of classifiers. Some frequently used models include logistic regression, support vector machine (SVM), decision tree, random forest, Naive Bayes, and K-nearest neighbor. Proper classifier selection is pivotal to generating a satisfactory result.^{15,20}

In conventional CAD, the process of determining and extracting features considerable time requires and resources. In contrast, when using DL, the learning model can independently determine the important features for image classification. As a result, a process that previously took years to complete can now be completed in a few months.¹¹ Some AI studies used dermoscopic and non-dermoscopic image sets to classify melanocytic, segment and keratinocyte tumors, ulcers, psoriasis, and other inflammatory diseases. Some models even exhibit diagnosis capacity comparable to dermatologists.²¹

AI application in skin malignancy classification

Artificial intelligence has been developed to classify melanoma and non-melanoma skin cancers using digital images.²² The CNN model can be used for binary or multiclass classification.²³ Nasr-Esfahani et al.²⁴ used CNN to distinguish melanoma from the benign lesion with a sensitivity and specificity of 0.81 and 0.80, respectively. Fujisawa et al.²⁵ employed the deep convolutional neural network (DCNN) GoogleNet to classify skin tumor images into fourteen types of diagnosis and compared them to the diagnosis of certified dermatologists. Their study used 4,867 images from 1,842 skin tumor patients obtained from the institution's database with the threelevel assessment. The first level aimed to differentiate benign from malignant lesions; the second level aimed to classify the images into certain tumor categories; and the third level aimed to classify lesions into specific diagnoses. The sensitivity and specificity of the model were 96.3% and 89.5%. The most accurate diagnosis was malignant epithelial tumor (95.7%), followed by benign melanocytic tumor (90.9%), malignant melanoma (72.6%), and benign epithelial tumor (62.8%). In the first level assessment, DCNN and dermatologist classification accuracy was 92.4 \pm 2.1%, and 85.3 \pm 3.7%; while in the third level, the accuracy was 74.5 \pm 4.6% and 59.7 \pm 7.1%. In general, a large number of labeled images is required to achieve high accuracy, yet this study used less than 5,000 training images.²⁵

Han *et al.*²⁶ used pretrained CNN MicrosoftResNet-152 to classify medical images into 12 types of skin tumor diagnosis. The validation results showed sensitivity and specificity of 85.1% and 81.3% on the Caucasian dataset, and 85.4% and 85.5% on the Asian dataset respectively.²⁶ Brinker *et al.*²⁷ evaluated the CNN ResNet50 to distinguish between melanoma and nevus based on dermoscopic images using histopathology as the gold standard. Their study used 4,204 training images and 804 test images. The sensitivity and specificity of certified and junior dermatologists were 67.2% (95% CI: 62.6-71.1%) and 62.2% (95% CI: 57.6-66.9%), respectively, while the sensitivity and specificity of the CNN model were 82.3% (95% CI: 78.3-85.7%) and 77.9% (95% CI: 73.8-81.8%), respectively.²⁷

Haenssle *et al.*²⁸ used pre-trained CNN Google's Inception v4 model to classify 100 dermoscopic images into melanoma and benign nevus, with dermatologists' diagnoses were used as the reference standard. Dermatologists were given two-level of assessment. In the first level, they were only given dermoscopic images, while in the second level, they were given dermoscopic images, clinical data, and clinical images. The study reported the sensitivity, specificity, and area under the curve (AUC) of dermatologists in the first level was 86.6 ± 9.3%, 71.3 ± 11.2%, and 71.3%, respectively, while in the second level, they was 88.9 ± 9.6%, 75.7 ± 11.7%, and 75.7%, respectively. Meanwhile, those of CNN were 63.8%, 86%, and 95%, respectively. This study showed that additional clinical information improves dermatologists' diagnosis accuracy. However, the specificity and AUC of dermatologists in this study were inferior compared to those of the CNN.²⁸

AI application in classifying nonneoplastic skin disease

Gustafson *et al.*²⁹ developed natural language processing (NLP) to build a registry of atopic dermatitis from the electronic medical record. The data included coding of diagnosis (ICD9 and ICD10) and the narrative data from medical history. A group of keywords was determined based on Hanifin Rajka and The United Kingdom Working Party's (UKWP) criteria to build a dictionary concept. The concept found in the medical history was then extracted and converted into a group of features which will be analyzed using Lasso logistic regression. The model's sensitivity in this study was 75.0%, with a positive predictive value of 84.0%.29

A systematic review conducted by Yu *et al.*¹⁴ evaluates the use of ML for psoriasis. It has been used in many studies to identify psoriasis lesions, calculate psoriasis area and severity, and predict outcomes.¹⁴ Shrivastava *et al.*³⁰ developed a psoriasis risk assessment system (pRAS) to classify 670 skin lesion images into five categories: healthy skin, mild, moderate, severe, and very severe psoriasis. The support vector machine (SVM) and Fisher discriminant ratio (FDR) classifications exhibited 99.84% accuracy and 99.99% reliability.³⁰

Zhao *et al.*³¹ developed a CNN to diagnose psoriasis from more than 8,000 images consisting of nine diagnoses (four diagnoses that mimic psoriasis and five diseases significantly different from psoriasis) into binary classification, psoriasis, and non-psoriasis. The CNN model was reported to exhibit an AUC of 0.981 ± 0.015 with 96% accuracy, higher than the accuracy of 25 dermatologists (87%).³¹ The severity of psoriasis was clinically measured by the psoriasis area and severity index (PASI), consisting of erythema, scales, and induration criteria. Some studies have implemented ML to automatically assess the psoriasis severity from medical images. George reported the model accuracy to assess the degree of erythema and scales to be 70.1% and 80.81%.^{32,33}

Several recent studies developed AI for multiclass image classification. Liu *et al.*³⁴ used a deep learning system (DLS) to distinguish the twenty-six most common skin conditions in primary care, with the reference standard was a panel consisting of three certified dermatologists. The DLS provided three differential diagnoses and achieved top-1 and top-3 accuracies of 0.71 and 0.93, respectively.³⁴ Meanwhile, Zhu et al.²¹ applied CNN Google's Efficient Net-b4 model to classify dermoscopic images into fourteen diagnosis categories and reported an overall accuracy of 94.8%, a sensitivity of 93.4%, and a specificity of 95%.21

AI application in ulcer assessment

analysis wound system is Α frequently implemented to capture high-quality images, determine the wound border and area, classify wound tissue, and assess wound recovery.35 Mukherjee *et al.*,³⁶ employed Bayesian and SVM classification to recognize different tissues in chronic wounds. such as granulation tissue, slough, and necrotic tissues compared to clinicians' assessment. The accuracy of SVM was reported to be 87.84, 90.90, and 79.78% in classifying granulation tissue, slough, and necrotic tissue, respectively, with the overall accuracy of 86.13%.³⁶ Wang et al.³⁵ used SVM to determine the wound border of 100 leg ulcer images

taken using smartphones. The study reported sensitivity of 73.3% and and and specificity of 94.6%.³⁵ Dhane *et al.*³⁷ applied AI to determine the area of ulcers with an unclear border and reported a sensitivity of 87.3% and specificity of 95.7%.³⁷ Another study used ML to predict the risk of developing pressure injuries in postoperative patients based on data extracted from electronic medical records. The prediction model was reported to exhibit an AUC of 0.79.³⁸

AI application in dermatopathology

Deep learning (DL) has been implemented to improve the precision of breast and lung cancer diagnosis. Hekler et al.³⁹ used a pre-trained CNN RestNet50 model to identify melanoma or benign nevus from histopathological images and compared it to the classification of a certified histopathologist. The study reported that the discordance of melanoma and nevus classification were 18% (95% CI: 7.4-28.6%) and 20% 8.9-31.1%), respectively.³⁹ (95%) CI: The discordance between expert histopathologists in the classification of melanoma and nevi, as described in the literature, is 25%.⁴⁰ This is on par with the discordance between CNN and the histopathologists in this study. Digital pathology has the potential to enhance the accuracy of melanoma histopathological diagnosis.

Other applications of AI in dermatology

Artificial intelligence has also been used for diagnosing onychomycosis. Even though the evidence is limited, AI has the potential to assist clinicians in deciding whether further tests should be performed. Artificial intelligence can also be used to help patients evaluate their nails and to seek further assessment for nails that are suspicious for onychomycosis.⁴¹ It can be used to monitor and predict disease outcomes. Veredas *et al.*⁴² used neural networks, random forest decision trees, and SVM to classify the types of wound tissue to monitor wound improvement. Their study reported an average accuracy of 81.87% (95% CI: 80.03-83.61%); 87.37% (95% CI: 85.76-88.86%); 88.08% (95% CI: 86.51-89.53%), respectively. Zang *et al.*⁴³ used ML to classify the risk of skin sensitization of some substances based on their chemical structure and reported the prediction accuracy was 78% in animal trials and 75% in humans.⁴³

In cosmetic dermatology, AI is used to provide skin and hair care recommendations. analyze skin conditions, and assist cosmetic procedures. One examples of an AI applications is the VISIA[®] skin analysis system, which can analyze skin parameters, such as wrinkles, texture, pores, spots, and redness using face images. In the most recent VISIA® model, the TruSkin age feature provides information on wrinkle degree, UV damage, and discoloration based on the patients' age and compares them to a range of variables in the database.⁴⁴ Another skin analysis system is Janus-III, which uses high-resolution images to analyze pores, wrinkles, sebum, porphyrin, skin pigmentation, and skin color. The skin pigmentation parameter was found to be associated with dermatologist assessment (Pearson correlation coefficient = 0.869).45 Another application is FotoFinder, which facilitates total body photography, and trichoscopy. dermoscopy, This system is equipped with AI to quantify hair falls, density, and anagen hair proportion.44

During the Covid-19 pandemic, research that focused on utilizing AI increased. Computational techniques, information and communication technologies, AI, and big data can handle a huge amount of data from public health surveillance, real-time epidemic outbreaks monitoring, trend forecasting, updating from governmental institutions, and others.⁴⁶ Big data is defined by three Vs: velocity (the unprecedented speed of data acquisition, processing, and manipulation), volume (the high amount of information), and variety (the number of different sources and channels releasing big data). It is a massive dataset that exceeds the computational capacity of conventional database systems to capture, store, manage, and analyze.^{46,47}

AI has been immensely helpful in telemedicine, such as in providing systems to analyze medical information and assist in diagnosis. During the Covid-19 outbreak, AI was implemented in telemedicine for various diseases. AI can be used to make early diagnosis and contact tracing, monitoring symptoms and treatment, clinical management, and virtual and remote treatment.⁴⁸ Artificial intelligence in telemedicine can also be used as a method of triaging patients with potential skin cancer who require in-person evaluation by dermatologists.49 Medical professionals need to adapt to AI advances to provide better healthcare delivery.48

AI implementation and interpretation in dermatology

Although some previous studies have reported the superiority of machine learning over dermatologists, it is necessary to highlight the presence of bias commonly found in the study design and bias that puts clinicians at disadvantages.⁵⁰ Machine learning а is trained and tested using the same data sources, thereby limiting their generalizability. Model learning is basically a reflection of the training data. Bias in the training data is likely to affect the model's performances and will be apparent when they are tested on a completely different dataset.⁵⁰

In previously published studies, most learning models used binary classification, which does not reflect

clinical practice, where numerous differential diagnoses are taken into account.²⁷ Moreover, AI models are often tested by comparing them to dermatologists without considering the clinical context and the limitation of diagnosis based on images alone.12 Automated diagnosis using AI beneficial as a tool to assist and enhance dermatologists' diagnosis, but not as an independent decision-maker without clinicians' supervision.27

Limitation in the development and application of AI

Despite its significant development in dermatology, AI still faces several limitations. Artificial intelligence development requires solid multidisciplinary collaborations, such as computer science, biomedical, and medical staff. Massive skin image resources are extremely important. Currently, skin disease images data is still inadequate, information-sharing among hospitals is low, and the quality of skin images varies.⁵¹ The most critical factor in developing a predictive model is the dataset. A supervised DL model requires a large and labeled dataset. Obtaining a few labeled datasets is possibly easy but may result in poor performance on a new dataset. Meanwhile, an unlabeled dataset can only be useful for semisupervised or unsupervised model.¹² Small datasets potentially lead to bias and lower accuracy, especially for neural networks.

The uneven proportion of certain disease categories in the training dataset also results in bias and affects the model's generalizability.³⁴ Navarrete-Dechent *et al.*⁵² conducted external validation on the learning model developed by Han *et al.*²⁶ on a Caucasian population dataset. The study reported that Han's algorithm sensitivity was lower when tested on a different population. This result indicates that developing and training the DL model requires a large dataset covering the full spectrum of the human population and clinical variation. Detection of skin lesion is also affected by several factors, including skin color variation, redness level, severity, etc.⁵³

Another challenge in dermatology comes from image standardization, including variability in technology (camera type), and image-capturing technique (lighting, angle, body position, etc.). Unlike in radiology, there is no standardization for taking images in dermatology.⁵⁴ Navarrete-Dechent et *al.*⁵² attempted to manipulate medical images by changing the magnification, contrast, brightness, and rotation from a previous dataset, which resulted in some different diagnoses. Although AI can enhance medical service accuracy, access, and efficiency, it carries a risk of misdiagnosis. This risk increases if the AI system is provided directly to patients.⁵²

The current AI diagnosis also involves legal, ethical, and patient privacy aspects that have not yet been fully resolved. Certain data may violate patients' privacy and in the case of an adverse event, the matter of accountability is yet to be addressed.⁵⁵ Furthermore, establishing a diagnosis requires various clinical information in addition to clinical images or photographs. These data should be integrated to determine the patient's working diagnosis, treatment, prognosis. and Future research integrating AI diagnosis and clinical data will provide better information on how to implement them in clinical settings. Lastly, the development of AI in medicine does not aim to substitute doctor-patient communication, holistic approach, and other humanistic care.⁵¹

CONCLUSION

Artificial intelligence can significantly contribute to medical clinical practice, including dermatology.

Existing studies have shown that AIdiagnosis has comparable assisted accuracy to dermatologist, especially in skin cancer screening. However, the models need to be trained on a large dataset with the full spectrum of the human population and clinical manifestations to obtain better generalizability, and further study integrating AI diagnosis and clinical data is necessary. Artificial intelligence is a beneficial tool to assist clinicians' decision-making processes and improve health services in the future healthcare system.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

All authors declare that they have no conflicts of interest.

REFERENCES

- Rowe M. An introduction to machine learning for clinicians. Acad Med. 2019; 94(10):1433-6. h t t p s : // d o i . o r g / 1 0 . 1 0 9 7 / ACM.00000000002792
- 2. De A, Sarda A, Gupta S, Das S. Use of artificial intelligence in dermatology. Indian J Dermatol 2020; 65(5):352-7. https://doi.org/10.4103/ijd.IJD_418_20
- Romero-Brufau S, Wyatt KD, Boyum P, Mickelson M, Moore M, Cognetta-Rieke C. What's in a name? A comparison of attitudes towards artificial intelligence (AI) versus augmented human intelligence (AHI). BMC Med Inform Decis Mak 2020; 20(1):167.

https://doi.org/10.1186/s12911-020-01158-2

 Abraham A, Sobhanakumari K, Mohan A. Artificial intelligence in dermatology. J Ski Sex Transm Dis 2021; 3:99-102.

https://doi.org/10.25259/JSSTD_49_2020

5. Mintz Y, Brodie R. Introduction to artificial intelligence in medicine. Minim Invasive Ther Allied Technol

2019; 28(2):73-81. https://doi.org/10.1080/13645706.201 9.1575882

- 6. Kaul V, Enslin S, Gross SA. History of artificial intelligence in medicine. Gastrointest Endosc 2020; 92(4):807-12. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.gie.2020.06.040
- Hogarty DT, Su JC, Phan K, Attia M, Hossny M, Nahavandi S, *et al.* Artificial intelligence in dermatology—where we are and the way to the future: a review. Am J Clin Dermatol 2020; 21(1):41-7. https://doi.org/10.1007/s40257-019-00462-6
- Tizhoosh HR, Pantanowitz L. Artificial intelligence and digital pathology: challenges and opportunities. J Pathol Inform 2018; 9:38.

https://doi.org/10.4103/jpi.jpi_53_18

- Choi RY, Coyner AS, Kalpathy-Cramer J, Chiang MF, Peter Campbell J. Introduction to machine learning, neural networks, and deep learning. Transl Vis Sci Technol 2020; 9(2):14. https://doi.org/10.1167/tvst.9.2.14
- Hamet P, Tremblay J. Artificial intelligence in medicine. Metabolism 2017; 69:S36-40. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.metabol.2017.01.011
- 11. Fujita H. AI-based computer-aided diagnosis (AI-CAD): the latest review to read first. Radiol Phys Technol 2020; 13(1):6-19.

https://doi.org/0.1007/s12194-019-00552-4

- 12. Esteva A, Robicquet A, Ramsundar B, Kuleshov V, DePristo M, Chou K, *et al.* A guide to deep learning in healthcare. Nat Med 2019; 25(1):24-9. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41591-018-0316-z
- 13. Yamashita R, Nishio M, Gian Do RK, Togashi K. Convolutional neural networks: an overview and application in radiology. Insights Imaging 2018; 9(4):611-29. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13244-018-0639-9
- 14. Yu K, Syed MN, Bernardis E, Gelfand JM. Machine learning applications

in the evaluation and management of psoriasis: a systematic review. J Psoriasis Psoriatic Arthritis 2020; 5(4):147-59.

https://doi.org/10.1177/2475530320950267

15. Kassem MA, Hosny KM, Damaševičius R, Eltoukhy MM. Machine learning and deep learning methods for skin lesion classification and diagnosis: a systematic review. Diagnostics 2021; 11(8):1390.

h t t p s : // d o i . o r g / 1 0 . 3 3 9 0 / diagnostics11081390

- 16. Glaister J. Automatic segmentation of skin lesions from dermatological photographs. 2013. p.4-54.
- 17. Oliveira RB, Filho ME, Ma Z, Papa JP, Pereira AS, Tavares JMRS. Computational methods for the image segmentation of pigmented skin lesions: a review. Comput Methods Programs Biomed 2016; 131:127-41.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j. cmpb.2016.03.032

- Sumithra R, Suhil M, Guru DS. Segmentation and classification of skin lesions for disease diagnosis. Procedia Comput Sci 2015; 45:76-85. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.procs.2015.03.090
- 19. Majumder S, Ullah MA. Feature extraction from dermoscopy images for melanoma diagnosis. SN Appl Sci 2019; 1:753.
- 20. Uddin S, Khan A, Hossain ME, Moni MA. Comparing different supervised machine learning algorithms for disease prediction. BMC Med Inform Decis Mak 2019; 19(1):281.

https://doi.org/10.1186/s12911-019-1004-8

21. Zhu CY, Wang YK, Chen HP, Gao KL, Shu C, Wang JC, *et al.* A deep learning based framework for diagnosing multiple skin diseases in a clinical environment. Front Med 2021; 8:626369.

https://doi.org/10.3389/fmed.2021.626369

22. Goldenberg G. Optimal treatment of actinic keratosis. Clin Interv Aging 2014; 9:15-6.

https://doi.org/10.2147/CIA.S54426

23. Thomsen K, Iversen L, Titlestad TL, Winther O. Systematic review of machine learning for diagnosis and prognosis in dermatology. J Dermatolog Treat 2020; 31(5):496-510.

https://doi.org/10.1080/09546634.201 9.1682500

24. Nasr-Esfahani E, Samavi S, Karimi N, Soroushmehr SMR, Jafari MH, Ward K, *et al.* Melanoma detection by analysis of clinical images using convolutional neural network. Annu Int Conf IEEE Eng Med Biol Soc 2016; 2016:1373-6.

https://doi.org/10.1109/ EMBC.2016.7590963

25. Fujisawa Y, Otomo Y, Ogata Y, Nakamura Y, Fujita R, Ishitsuka Y, *et al.* Deep-learning-based, computer-aided classifier developed with a small dataset of clinical images surpasses board-certified dermatologists in skin tumour diagnosis. Br J Dermatol 2019; 180(2):373-81.

https://doi.org/10.1111/bjd.16924

26. Han SS, Kim MS, Lim W, Park GH, Park I, Chang SE. Classification of the clinical images for benign and malignant cutaneous tumors using a deep learning algorithm. J Invest Dermatol 2018; 138(7):1529-38.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jid.2018.01.028

 Brinker TJ, Hekler A, Enk AH, Berking C, Haferkamp S, Hauschild A, *et al.* Deep neural networks are superior to dermatologists in melanoma image classification. Eur J Cancer 2019; 119:11-7.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejca.2019.05.023

28. Haenssle HA, Fink C, Schneiderbauer R, Toberer F, Buhl T, Blum A, *et al.* Man against machine: diagnostic performance of a deep learning convolutional neural network for dermoscopic melanoma recognition in comparison to 58 dermatologists. Ann Oncol 2018; 29(8):1836-42. https://doi.org/10.1093/annonc/mdy166

- 29. Gustafson E, Pacheco J, Wehbe F, Silverberg J, Thompson W. A machine learning algorithm for identifying atopic dermatitis in adults from electronic health records. IEEE Int Conf Heal Inform 2017; 2017:83-90. https://doi.org/10.1109/ICHI.2017.31
- 30. Shrivastava VK, Londhe ND, Sonawane RS, Suri JS. A novel and robust Bayesian approach for segmentation of psoriasis lesions and its risk stratification. Comput Methods Programs Biomed 2017; 150:9-22.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j. cmpb.2017.07.011

- 31. Zhao S, Xie B, Li Y, Zhao X, Kuang Y, Su J, *et al.* Smart identification of psoriasis by images using convolutional neural networks: a case study in China. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol 2020; 34(3):518-24. https://doi.org/10.1111/jdv.15965
- 32. George Y, Aldeen M, Garnavi R. Psoriasis image representation using patch-based dictionary learning for erythema severity scoring. Comput Med Imaging Graph 2018; 66:44-55. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. compmedimag.2018.02.004
- 33. George Y, Aldeen M, Garnavi R. Automatic scale severity assessment method in psoriasis skin images using local descriptors. IEEE J Biomed Heal Inform 2020; 24(2):577-85. https://doi.org/10.1100/JBHJ.2010.2010882

https://doi.org/10.1109/JBHI.2019.2910883

- 34. Liu Y, Jain A, Eng C, Way DH, Lee K, Bui P, *et al.* A deep learning system for differential diagnosis of skin diseases. Nat Med 2020; 26(6):900-8. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41591-020-0842-3
- 35. Wang L, Pedersen PC, Agu E, Strong DiM, Tulu B. Area determination of diabetic foot ulcer images using a cascaded two-stage SVM-based classification. IEEE Trans Biomed Eng 2017; 64(9):2098-109.

h t t p s : // d o i . o r g / 1 0 . 1 1 0 9 / TBME.2016.2632522 Mukherjee R, Manohar DD, Das DK, Achar A, Mitra A, Chakraborty C. Automated tissue classification framework for reproducible chronic wound assessment. Biomed Res Int 2014; 2014:851582.

https://doi.org/10.1155/2014/851582

- 37. Dhane DM, Maiti M, Mungle T, Bar C, Achar A, Kolekar M, *et al.* Fuzzy spectral clustering for automated delineation of chronic wound region using digital images. Comput Biol Med 2017; 89:551-60. h t t p s://doi.org/10.1016/j.compbiomed.2017.04.004
- Alderden J, Pepper GA, Wilson A, Whitney JD, Richardson S, Butcher R, *et al.* Predicting pressure injury in critical care patients: a machine learning model. Am J Crit Care 2018; 27(6):461-8.

https://doi.org/10.4037/ajcc2018525

- 39. Hekler A, Utikal JS, Enk AH, Berking C, Klode J, Schadendorf D, *et al.* Pathologist-level classification of histopathological melanoma images with deep neural networks. Eur J Cancer 2019; 115:79-83. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. ejca.2019.04.021
- 40. Lodha S, Saggar S, Celebi JT, Silvers DN. Discordance in the histopathologic diagnosis of difficult melanocytic neoplasms in the clinical setting. J Cutan Pathol 2008; 35(4):349-52. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-

https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-0560.2007.00970.x

41. Lim SS, Ohn J, Mun JH. Diagnosis of onychomycosis: from conventional techniques and dermoscopy to artificial intelligence. Front Med 2021; 8:637216.

https://doi.org/10.3389/fmed.2021.637216

42. Veredas FJ, Luque-Baena RM, Martín-Santos FJ, Morilla-Herrera JC, Morente L. Wound image evaluation with machine learning. Neurocomputing 2015; 164:112-22. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.

neucom.2014.12.091

43. Zang Q, Paris M, Lehmann DM, Bell S, Kleinstreuer N, Allen D, *et al.* Prediction of skin sensitization potency using machine learning approaches. J Appl Toxicol 2017; 37(7):792-805.

https://doi.org/10.1002/jat.3424

44. Elder A, Ring C, Heitmiller K, Gabriel Z, Saedi N. The role of artificial intelligence in cosmetic dermatology-Current, upcoming, and future trends. J Cosmet Dermatol 2021; 20(1):48-52.

https://doi.org/10.1111/jocd.13797

- 45. Leem S, Kim SJ, Kim Y, Shin JG, Song HJ, Lee SG, *et al.* Comparative analysis of skin characteristics evaluation by a dermatologist and the Janus-III measurement system. Ski Res Technol 2021; 27(1):86-92. https://doi.org/10.1111/srt.12915
- 46. Bragazzi NL, Dai H, Damiani G, Behzadifar M, Martini M, Wu J. How big data and artificial intelligence can help better manage the Covid-19 pandemic. Int J Environ Res Public Health 2020; 17(9):3175.

https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph17093176

- 47. Bragazzi NL, Damiani G, Mariano M. From Rheumatology 1.0 to Rheumatology 4.0 and beyond: the contributions of big data to the field of rheumatology. Mediterr J Rheumatol 2019; 30(1):3-6. https://doi.org/ 10.31138/mjr.30.1.3
- 48. Huang JA, Hartanti IR, Colin MN, Pitaloka DA. Telemedicine and artificial intelligence to support selfisolation of Covid-19 patients: Recent updates and challenges. Digit Health 2022; 8:20552076221100634.

https://doi.org/10.1177/20552076221100634

49. Majidian M, Tejani I, Jarmain T, Kellett L, Moy R. Artificial intelligence in the evaluation of telemedicine dermatology patients. J Drugs Dermatol 2022; 21(2):191-4. https://doi.org/ 10.36849/jdd.6277

50. Du-Harpur X, Watt FM, Luscombe NM, Lynch MD. What is AI? Applications of artificial intelligence to dermatology. Br J Dermatol 2020; 183(3):423-30.

https://doi.org/10.1111/bjd.18880

51. Li CX, Shen CB, Xue K, Shen X, Jing Y, Wang ZY, *et al.* Artificial intelligence in dermatology: past, present, and future. Chin Med J (Engl) 2019; 132(17):2017-20. https://doi.org/10.1097/

CM9.00000000000372

52. Navarrete-Dechent C, Dusza SW, Liopyris K, Marghoob AA, Halpern AC, Marchetti MA. Automated dermatological diagnosis: hype or reality? J Invest Dermatol 2018; 138(10):2277-9.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jid.2018.04.040

- 53. De Guzman LC, Maglaque RPC, Torres VMB, Zapido SPA, Cordel MO. Design and evaluation of a multimodel, multi-level artificial neural network for eczema skin lesion detection. In: Proceedings - AIMS 2015, 3rd International Conference on Artificial Intelligence, Modelling and Simulation. IEEE; 2015. p. 42-7. https://doi.org/10.1109/AIMS.2015.17
- 54. Eapen BR. Artificial intelligence in dermatology: a practical introduction to a paradigm shift. Indian Dermatol Online J 2020; 11(6):881-9. https://doi.org/10.4103/idoj.IDOJ 388 20
- 55. Pai VV, Pai RB. Artificial intelligence in dermatology and healthcare: an overview. Indian J Dermatol Venereol Leprol 2021; 87(4):457-67. https://doi.org/10.25259/IJDVL_518_19

Indonesian Journal of Biomedicine and Clinical Sciences

Autoimmune manifestation in splenic atrophy presented with toxic shock syndrome: a case report

Song Zhi Liang^{1,2}, Poh Yeh Han^{1*}, Gaithridevi V. Singam¹, Tan Sue Yong¹, Koo Thomson¹, Adlihafizi Ab Aziz¹, Lim Shiao Hui¹, Kuai Chen Chuan¹, Ong Lay Sim¹, Lim Chew Har¹

¹Department of Anaesthesiology and Intensive Care, Penang General Hospital, Malaysia, ²Department of Internal Medicine, Changi General Hospital, Singapore https://doi.org/10.22146/inajbcs.v56i3.15932

ABSTRACT

Submitted: 2023-07-12 Accepted : 2024-05-16

Keywords: hyposplenism; toxic shock syndrome; autoimmune; systemic sclerosis; splenic atrophy Splenic atrophy is an uncommon diagnosis, associated with autoimmune gastrointestinal disorders and other well-characterized connective tissue diseases. We would like to contribute a case report to support the association evidence of the real-world data. To our best knowledge, there is no similar case of splenic atrophy with the presentation of streptococcal toxic shock syndrome reported. Our patient was initially detected with atrophic spleen via CT scan and subsequently diagnosed with systemic sclerosis. Hyposplenism should be suspected in patients with adult-onset infections caused by encapsulated bacteria, especially if autoantibodies are present. Our patient received her pneumococcal vaccination before discharge and was followed in the clinic for further vaccination education and health check-up. Learning points: 1) Acquired splenic atrophy is a rare condition that may be suspected from persistent isolated thrombocytosis after the resolution of sepsis and Howell-Jolly bodies from peripheral blood film; 2) The pathophysiological mechanism of splenic atrophy in the context of autoimmune disorders remains unknown; 3) A high index of suspicion towards the evaluation of splenic function is required if a patient presented with community-acquired encapsulated organism bacteraemia; 4) Vaccination against encapsulated bacterial agents should be performed in patients with hyposplenism.

INTRODUCTION

The most frequent causes of adult-onset recurrent infections in Asia are primarily secondary states of immunodeficiency, such as human immunodeficiency virus (HIV) infection, Hepatitis infection, malignancy, and autoimmune diseases. Acquired, nonsurgical, functional asplenia is a rare cause.¹ By definition, functional asplenia or hyposplenism occurs when splenic tissue is present but does not work well, and splenic atrophy is where there's evidence of acquired diminution of the size of the spleen which can lead to functional asplenia.

This condition is characterised by the

impairment of the reticuloendothelial and functions immune of the spleen. Consequently, patients with hyposplenism are at risk of developing life-threatening infections. Defective spleen function has already been reported in several haematological, immunemediated, infectious and gastrointestinal disorders, including sickle cell disease, coeliac disease (CD), inflammatory bowel disease, systemic lupus erythematosus, Sjögren's syndrome and other primary eosinophilic disorders. To the best of our knowledge, no case of toxic shock syndrome in a patient with acquired splenic atrophy and autoimmune disease has previously been reported in Asia.



FIGURE 1. Coronal and axial view of patient's CT abdomen pelvis

CASE

We report a case of a 25 y.o. Indian woman, Miss I with no known medical illness, who presented to us with progressive worsening of lower abdominal pain for 3 d associated with clinical sepsis of fever, lethargy, and diarrhoea. vomiting Initial assessment and investigations showed that she had septic shock secondary to leaking tubo-ovarian abscess. She was rushed for early surgical source control of intraabdominal sepsis after prompt resuscitation. Intraoperative findings include drainage of 100mL turbid yellowish peritoneal fluid, pus drainage from Tubo-ovarian site with Fitz-HughCurtis syndrome. Post-surgery, she was nursed in the intensive care unit. Primary microbiology assessment from blood and peritoneal pus cultures consistently revealed *Streptococcus pyogenes* as the culprit organism.

Initial and subsequent CT scans revealed the finding of the atrophic spleen (FIGURE 1) which prompted us for further evaluation. Her autoimmune panel of antinuclear antibody (ANA) and AntiSc1 70 were positive on day 14 of ICU admission and was subsequently referred to the rheumatology team with the impression of systemic sclerosis. Other autoimmune serology markers including antineutrophil cytoplasmic antibodies (pANCA & cANCA), anticardiolipin antibody (IgM & Ig G), antibeta 2- glycoprotein-1 (IgG & Ig M) were negative. Her blood trends in ICU revealed persistent thrombocytopenia ranging from 410-520 (10⁹/L) and serial peripheral blood picture showed Howell-Jolly Bodies.

Her stay in ICU was complicated with distal right upper limb compartment

syndrome likely secondary to septic emboli of *S. pyogenes*, left pyelonephritis with lobar nephronia and left pectineus intramuscular abscess. Despite her arduous journey in ICU, she was able to be discharged from the hospital and subsequently decannulated from tracheostomy. She received a dose of PPV23 vaccination prior to discharge.

The summary timeline of patient's progress is presented in TABLE 1. TABLE 1. Summary timeline of our patient's progress

Date	Events and progress
26/4/2022	Miss I presented to our Emergency Department with progressive worsening of lower abdominal pain for 3 d associated with clinical sepsis of fever, lethargy, vomiting and diarrhoea.
27/4/2022	She was rushed to operation theatre for source control of intraabdominal sepsis where initial CT abdomen pelvis has reported left tubo-ovarian abscess with evidence of free fluid collection. Intraoperative findings include drainage of 100mL turbid yellowish peritoneal fluid, Fitz-Hugh-Curtis syndrome, and significant pus drainage from Tubo-ovarian site. Post op, patient is admitted to ICU.
1/5/2022	She developed progressive swelling of right distal upper limb complicated by compartment syndrome likely secondary to septic emboli from <i>Streptococcus</i> bacteraemia. Orthopaedic and vascular surgery teams were onboard timely for surgical decompressive management.
10/5 /2022	Rheumatological consult was obtained in view of the physical examination suggestive of cutaneous scleroderma at bilateral hands MTP joints with suspicious features of sclerodactyly (FIGURE 2). Autoimmune panel workup positive for ANA and AntiSc1 70. A preliminary impression of systemic sclerosis was made by the rheumatological team.
14/5/2022	A repeated CT thorax abdomen pelvis was performed due to the persistence of patient's clinical and laboratory sepsis where disseminated infectious seeding is our major concern. Left pyelonephritis with lobar nephronia and left pectineus intramuscular abscess were detected. Interventional radiology and surgical team was consulted for source control of targeted percutaneous drainage. At this time, the recurrent term of atrophic spleen which was reported has caught our interest of critical thought and management (FIGURE 1).
3/6/2022	She underwent tracheostomy in view of recurrent intubation in ICU, prolonged weaning.
28/6/22	She was discharged from ICU to the general ward after successfully weaned off from mechanical ventilation and remained stable for 1 week. Rehabilitation, tracheostomy care and post-ICU recovery interventions were main goals of management in the GW.
1/8/22	Miss I received her vaccination dose of PPV23 prior to discharge. Follow-up appointments has be given for tracheostomy decannulation, outpatient rehabilitation and respective clinical subspecialties which included rheumatology, infectious diseases, and obstetrics & gynaecology.

DISCUSSION

Throughout history, the spleen has been regarded as a fascinating and mysterious organ with distinctive functions. The anatomical study of spleen was first discovered by Malpighi¹ in De liene in 1965, which reported the "splenic cap" and of the trabeculae "that accompany the distributions of vessels, collected in bundle to tube shape". The spleen is a secondary lymphoid organ, located in the upper left part of the abdomen, sheltered by the ribcage. The spleen possesses two main functions, which are blood filtering, which is necessary for removing old erythrocytes (haemocatheresis) and other blood cells in the red pulp, and mounting immune responses against pathogens through both the innate and adaptive immune system branches in the white pulp.^{2,3}

Acquired splenic atrophy is а rare condition that is usually detected abdominal incidentally via scans. Although spleen size does not necessarily correlate with spleen function. hyposplenism should be excluded in patients with incidentally found small spleen (length <8 cm in men and <7.5 cm in women).⁴ In our patient who presented with sepsis, reactive thrombocytosis was our initial explanation to her high platelet count. However, her baseline platelet count has consistently been more than 410 (10⁹/L) from the day of post-surgery till the day of ICU discharge opposing the decreasing trend of inflammatory markers (C-reactive protein & Procalcitonin), which prompted to us evaluate other causes of reactive

thrombocytosis aside of sepsis- related. In our case of hyposplenism, decreased platelet sequestration is the main pathophysiology for thrombocytosis.⁵

Our patient also fulfilled the ACR-EULAR Criteria for the classification of systemic sclerosis which includes bilateral hands sclerodactyly with righthand fingertip lesion which results gangrenous transformation in and positive AntiScl 70 (FIGURE 2).⁶ The pathophysiological mechanism of splenic atrophy in the context of autoimmune disorders remains uncertain.^{7,8} Severe lymphocyte depletion in the spleen in association with severe fibrosis has been reported. It was hypothesized that selfreactive lymphocytes produce factors that directly or indirectly induce splenic fibrosis, which results in lymphocyte depletion and atrophy.9 Alternatively, functional hyposplenism secondary to Fcreceptor blockage by circulating immune complex saturation has been described in SLE and systemic vasculitis.^{10,11} Acquired asplenia or hyposplenism increases an individual's susceptibility to infections with encapsulated bacteria such as S. pneumoniae, Haemophilus influenzae, and Neisseria meningitidis. In our case of S. pyogenes bacteraemia, most clinical isolates of S. pyogenes elaborate a capsular polysaccharide, which is composed of hyaluronic acid, a highmolecular-mass polymer of alternating residues of N-acetyl glucosamine and glucuronic acid.¹² Therefore, a high index of suspicion towards the evaluation of splenic function is required if a patient presented with community-acquired encapsulated organism bacteraemia.



FIGURE 2. Bilateral hands sclerodactyly with fingertip lesion.

Thromboembolism is another clinical manifestation that may occur in patients with asplenia or hyposplenism, but available data on epidemiology and risk factors are very limited.13 An increased risk of thromboembolic events has been noted in patients who have undergone splenectomy, and this increased risk appears to be at least partially independent of the typical reactive thrombocytosis noted in these patients.¹⁴ In patients with hyposplenism, the contribution of impaired splenic function to thrombotic events is still unclear.

Prophylactic measures with immunizations are for necessary individuals with asplenia to prevent disastrous infection. It is recommended to ensure patients with functional asplenia to receive their *Pneumococcal*, Meningococcal, Haemophilus influenzae (HiB), tetanus, diphtheria, pertussis (DTaP), measles, mumps, rubella, varicella and Influenza (MMRV) vaccinations.15,16 Individuals with hyposplenism or asplenia should be advised to present to their nearest hospital for prompt treatment in the event of fever.17

CONCLUSION

We describe a case of a patient with splenic atrophy and its possible association with systemic sclerosis. Hyposplenism should be suspected in patients with adult-onset infections caused by encapsulated bacteria, especially if autoantibodies are present. Early diagnosis and prompt vaccination help prevent can to potentially life-threatening sepsis. Puzzling associations between splenic atrophy and autoimmune disorders still requires more evidence and pathophysiology studies.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Special thanks to patient and her family for the consent, follow-up and support of publication.

REFERENCES

 Malpighi, M. De liene. Quoted in: Sotgiu *et al*. Celebrazioni Malpighiane. Discorsi e scritti, Bologna, 1965; 24. https://badigit.comune.bologna.it/

books/bollettino/pdf/1965-1.pdf

- 2. Mebius RE, Kraal G. Structure and function of the spleen. Nat Rev Immunol 2005; 5(8):606-16. https://doi.org/10.1038/nri1669
- 3. Di Sabatino A, Carsetti R, Corazza GR. Post-splenectomy and hyposplenic states. The Lancet 2011; 378(9785):86-97. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(10)61493-6
- Di Sabatino A, Carnevale Maffè G, 4. Brunetti L, Guerci M, Corazza GR. Splenic hypofunction in patients with an incidental finding of small-sized spleen at abdominal ultrasound. Intern Emerg Med 2013; 8(4):361-2. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11739-012-0869-7
- 5. Rokkam VR, Kotagiri R. Secondary thrombocytosis. In: StatPearls. StatPearls Publishing, Treasure Island (FL); 2022.
- 6. Hachulla E, Launay D. Diagnosis and classification of systemic sclerosis. Clin Rev Allergy Immunol 2011; 40(2):78-83.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s12016-010-8198-y

7. Santos N, Silva R, Rodrigues J, Torres-Costa J. Sjögren's syndrome and acquired splenic atrophy with septic shock: a case report. J Med Case Rep 2014; 8:10.

https://doi.org/10.1186/1752-1947-8-10

- Fishman D, Isenberg DA. Splenic 8. involvement in rheumatic diseases. Semin Arthritis Rheum 1997: 27(3):141-55. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0049-0172(97)80013-3
- Coppo P, Saadoun D, Varet B. 9. manifestations Autoimmune in acquired idiopathic splenic atrophy: a puzzling association. Eur J Intrn Med 2006; 17(8):580-2.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejim.2006.07.008

10. Lookwood CM, Worlledge S, Nicholas A, Cotton C, Peters DK. Reversal of impaired splenic function in patients with nephritis or vasculitis (or both) by plasma exchange. N Engl J Med 1979; 300(10):524-30.

https://doi.org/10.1056/

NEJM197903083001003

- 11. Wardrop CA, Dagg JH, Lee FD, Singh H, Dyet JF, Moffat A. Immunological abnormalities in splenic atrophy. The Lancet 1975; 2(7923):4-7. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0140-6736(75)92949-9
- 12. Wessels MR. Capsular polysaccharide of group A Streptococcus. Microbiol Spectr 2019; 7(1):10.1128/ microbiolspec.GPP3-0050-2018. https://doi.org/10.1128/ microbiolspec.GPP3-0050-2018
- 13. Boyle S, White RH, Brunson A, Wun T. Splenectomy and the incidence of venous thromboembolism and sepsis in patients with immune thrombocytopenia. Blood 2013; 121(23):4782-90. https://doi.org/10.1182/ blood-2012-12-467068
- 14. Lee DH, Barmparas G, Fierro N, Sun BJ, Ashrafian S, LiT, et al. Splenectomy is associated with a higher risk for venous thromboembolism: a prospective cohort study. Int J Surg 2015; 24(Pt A):27-32.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijsu.2015.10.011

15. Bonanni P, Grazzini M, Niccolai G, Paolini D, Varone O, Bartoloni A, et al. Recommended vaccinations for asplenic and hyposplenic adult patients. Hum Vaccin Immunother 2017; 13(2):359-68. https://doi.org/10.1080/21645515.201

7.1264797

- 16. Rubin LG, Levin MJ, Ljungman P, Davies EG, Avery R, Tomblyn M, et al. 2013 IDSA clinical practice guideline for vaccination of the immunocompromised host. Clin Infect Dis 2014; 58(3):309-18. https://doi.org/10.1093/cid/cit816
- 17. Kanhutu K, Jones P, Cheng AC, Grannell L, Best E, Spelman D. Spleen Australia guidelines for the prevention of sepsis in patients with asplenia and hyposplenism in Australia and New Zealand. Intern Med J 2017; 47(8):848-55.

https://doi.org/10.1111/imj.13348

Indonesian Journal of Biomedicine and Clinical Sciences

Juvenile ossifying fibroma accompanied with low-grade central osteosarcoma in sinonasal: a rare case report

Muchamad Ridotu Solichin¹, Fikar Arsyad Hakim^{2*}, Ery Kus Dwianingsih¹

¹Department of Anatomical Pathology, Faculty of Medicine, Public Health and Nursing, Universitas Gadjah Mada, Yogyakarta, Indonesia, ²Department of Anatomical Pathology, Faculty of Medicine, Universitas Sebelas Maret, Surakarta, Indonesia

https://doi.org/10.22146/inajbcs.v56i3.15911

ABSTRACT

Submitted: 2023-03-13 Accepted : 2023-07-28 Sinonasal osteosarcoma is comparatively rare and accounts for 6.5% of all osteosarcomas. The five-year survival rate is less than 25% and may be improved to 60% when chemotherapy is initiated earlier. The diagnosis of low-grade central osteosarcoma requires a meticulous histopathological examination because histopathologically the tumor may mimic fibro-osseus neoplasm. We report a 12 y.o. male patient who complained of a lump on the face for 4 yr with symptoms of nasal discharge, congestion, epistaxis, and a feeling of fullness in the ears. Sinonasal biopsy was later performed and revealed an inverted papilloma. Two months after the biopsy procedure, mass extirpation and medial maxillectomy were performed. Histopathology examination confirms the diagnosis of ossifying fibroma accompanied by low-grade central osteosarcoma. Low-grade central osteosarcoma is an exceptionally rare variant, and the diagnosis is occasionally difficult. It can be misdiagnosed as a benign lesion, especially fibrous dysplasia or ossifying fibroma. Histomorphological, the discovery of atypical tumor cells producing osteoid matrix can be used to confirm that the lesion is a malignant lesion of low-grade central osteosarcoma. As demonstrated in our case, the tumor can consist of a trabecular and curvilinear arrangement of immature bone, at the edges of which there is an osteoblastic rimming appearance with a background of connective tissue stroma which is a histopathological feature of ossifying fibroma.

ABSTRAK

Osteosarkoma sinonasal relatif jarang terjadi dan berkontribusi sekitar 6,5% dari seluruh kasus osteosarkoma. Angka kesintasan 5 tahun kurang dari 25%, dan dapat ditingkatkan hingga 60% ketika kemoterapi diberikan lebih awal. Diagnosis low-grade central osteosarcoma memerlukan pemeriksaan histopatologi secara menyeluruh serta teliti karena tumor ini secara mikroskopis dapat menyerupai gambaran neoplasma fibrooseus. Kami melaporkan seorang pasien anak laki-laki berusia 12 tahun dengan keluhan benjolan di wajah selama 4 tahun dengan gejala nasal discar, kongesti, epistaksis, dan rasa penuh pada telinganya. Hasil biopsi sinonasal menunjukkan suatu inverted papilloma. Dua bulan kemudian dilakukan maksilektomi dan pengangkatan massa keseluruhan. Secara histopatologi disimpulkan suatu ossifying fibroma dengan low-grade central osteosarcoma. Low-grade central osteosarcoma sendiri merupakan varian dari osteosarkoma yang jarang terjadi dan diagnosisnya seringkali sulit. Penyakit ini dapat salah didiagnosis sebagai lesi jinak, terutama fibrous dysplasia dan ossifying fibroma. Secara histomorfologi ditemukannya sel tumor atipik yang memproduksi matriks osteoid dapat digunakan untuk konfirmasi lesi tersebut merupakan lesi ganas low-grade central osteosarcoma. Seperti terlihat pada kasus kami, tumor dapat terdiri atas anyaman tulang imatur tersusun trabekular dan kurvilinear, yang ditepinya dijumpai gambaran osteoblastic rimming dengan latar belakang stroma jaringan ikat yang mana merupakan gambaran histopatologi dari suatu ossfiying fibroma.

Keywords:

low-grade central osteosarcoma; ossifying fibroma; sinonasal ostesarcoma; juvenile

INTRODUCTION

Osteosarcoma is a highly malignant bone tumor that typically develops from the metaphysis of long bones.¹ In children and adolescents, the incidence rate of the tumor is five cases per million people.² Less than 10% of osteosarcoma occurs in craniofacial bone.² Sinonasal osteosarcoma is rarer, accounting for roughly 6.5% of all osteosarcomas.³ Moreover, only 5–6% of all osteosarcomas are low-grade osteosarcomas.⁴ This histopathological rarity and its similarity with benign lesions can lead to underdiagnosis. Osterosarcoma is an aggressive tumor that is prone to both local and distant damage. Five-year survival is less than 25%, which may be improved to 60% when chemotherapy is initiated early.⁵ Compared to other head and neck malignancies, like squamous cell carcinoma, sinonasal osteosarcoma has a worse prognosis rate.⁶ A history of ionizing radiation exposure, fibrous dysplasia, retinoblastoma, or previous exposure to thorium oxide, a radioactive scanning agent, has all been linked to the development of osteosarcoma. Four percent of all osteosarcoma patients have a history of prior radiation therapy for other tumors or conditions.^{7,8}

Osteosarcomas can be divided into severalsubtypesaccordingtothedegreeof differentiation, location within the bone, and histological variants. These subtypes vary in imaging findings, demographics, and biological behavior. The subtypes include intramedullary which is the most common encompassing 80% of the cases and includes conventional high-grade, and low-grade central osteosarcoma.^{1,8} Among paranasal subsite involved by tumor, maxillary sinus (63.8%) was the most often affected paranasal subsite by tumors, followed by the ethmoid sinuses (52%), nasal cavity (46%), sphenoid sinus (28%), and frontal sinus (20%).⁹

The low-grade central osteosarcoma diagnosis requires a meticulous

histopathological examination because, histopathologically, the tumor may mimic fibro-osseus neoplasm.^{5,10} The problem arises when the classic histological appearance of osteosarcoma overlaps with that of a benign fibro-osseus lesion, making the diagnosis difficult.

Ossifying fibroma is a fibro-osseus tumor of the craniofacial skeleton. It affects individuals ranging from 3 mo to 70 y.o. (frequently in the 3 to 4th decade). The tumor can produce clinical features such as facial enlargement, nasal obstruction, pain, sinusitis, proptosis, and exophthalmos. A juvenile type of ossifying fibroma is more common in the paranasal sinuses and periorbital bone, with a more aggressive clinical course and a recurrence rate of 30-58%.¹¹ Lee et al.¹² reported the case of low-grade osteosarcoma arising from cementoossifying fibroma in the mandible. Due to the rarity of such cases, we report a case of low-grade sinonasal osteosarcoma accompanied by juvenile ossifving fibroma in the sinonasal region.

CASE

A 12 y.o. boy presented with progressive facial enlargement in the last 4 yr. He also experienced nasal congestion, discharge, epistaxis, and fullness with ear pain. Three years earlier, the doctor in primary health care recommended surgery for the patient. The patient refused and tried herbal medication (propolis) for about 2.5 yr, but the symptoms did not improve.

The patient finally agreed to medical intervention. A head CT scan revealed a mass measuring 6x4x5 cm, occupying the nasal cavity. There was thickening and deformity of the nasal and ethnoid bone, extending to the basis cranii. There was also effacement of the hard palate. No intracerebral invasion was observed (FIGURE 1). The sinonasal biopsy was later performed and revealed an inverted papilloma. Two months after the biopsy procedure, mass extirpation and medial maxillectomy was performed in Dr. Sardjito General Hospital, Yogyakarta and the specimen was sent to the Department of Anatomical Pathology.

Macroscopic examination reported that the tumor was pieces of ragged tissue, approximately 200 cc. The biggest specimen was 6x3x0.6 cm, and the smallest specimen was 0.4 cm in diameter, white to tan, and brittle (FIGURE 2). Microscopic examination showed woven bone with a curvilinear, trabecular arrangement, like a Chinese letter lined by an osteoblastic rimming between cellular connective tissue stroma (FIGURES 3-4). In another part, there were also infiltrating tumor cells into the connective tissue and bone around them. The tumor cells were polymorphic, spindle-to-oval, with scanty cytoplasm. Nuclei were oval to spindle, with coarse chromatin; some were hyperchromatic (FIGURES 3-4). Osteoid matrix was also found. The histopathology examination confirmed the diagnosis of low-grade central osteosarcoma accompanied by ossifying fibroma. Immunohistochemical staining showed positivity of osteocalcin with a proliferation index of Ki-67 at 10% (FIGURE 4).



FIGURE 1. CT scan revealed isodens lesion with extension to nasal cavity and left maxillary sinus



FIGURE 2. Gross examination of mass extirpation and medial maxillectomy.



FIGURE 3. HE 100x. The part of ossifying fibroma (A &B). Curvilinear woven bone with osteoblastic rimming between cellular fibrous stroma. Tumor cells are relatively monomorphic, bland nuclei, with smooth chromatin. The part of low-grade central osteosarcoma (C&D). HE staining showed infiltrating tumor cells to connective tissue and bone around them some tumor cells are polymorph, spindle to oval, with scanty cytoplasm. Nuclei are oval to spindle, coarse chromatin, with prominent nucleoli.



FIGURE 4. A. Positive expression of osteocalcin staining on tumor cell cytoplasm. B. Positive expression of Ki-67 staining on tumor cell nuclei.

DISCUSSION

Primary osteosarcoma in the head and neck region mostly occurs in the maxilla and mandibula, and sinonasal is an unusual site for craniofacial osteosarcoma.¹ In contrast to classical osteosarcoma of the long bones, which primarily affects adolescents and young craniofacial osteosarcomas adults. most commonly occur in the third or fourth decade of life. There has been no recognition of gender predominance.^{1,8} Pediatric craniofacial osteosarcoma is extremely rare, as Hadley *et al.*¹³ report in their article, with only 23 cases of cranial osteosarcoma in pediatric patients reported in the literature between 1945 and 2012, and they found that the mean age of the patients was 12.2 y.o. Our patient was 12 y.o. when diagnosed.

osteosarcoma refers The term to a heterogenous group of primary malignant neoplasms affecting boneforming mesenchymal or tissues that have histopathologic evidence osteogenic differentiation.5 of Histopathologic appearances of osteosarcoma, osteomyelitis, and fibrous dysplasia occupy a spectrum that may have considerable overlap. In some cases, a classic histopathologic appearance makes the diagnosis clear; however, when the picture is that of new bone formation in a background of cellular fibrous connective tissue, the diagnosis is more difficult.^{5,10}

subtypes The of osteosarcoma include conventional high-grade fibroblastic, osteoblastic, with or chondroblastic differentiation. surface high grade osteosarcoma, parosteal, periosteal, and low grade Low-grade central osteosarcoma. extremely central osteosarcoma is requires meticulous rare and а histopathological examination, because, histopathologically the tumor may mimic fibro-osseus neoplasm. Histopathology features of atypical sarcoma cells that produce an osteoid matrix can be used to confirm the malignant lesion of lowgrade central osteosarcoma.^{5,10}

Histopathology revealed two distinct tumor entities, as demonstrated in our case. Some parts of the tumor area were suitable for ossifying fibromas, while others represent malignant atypical sarcoma cells from an osteosarcoma. Osteosarcoma may destroy connective tissue and bone boundaries. Tumor cells varyin size and shape and frequently have large hyperchromatic nuclei; bizarre tumors and giant cells are common, as are mitotic figures. The production of mineralized or unmineralized bone (osteoid) by malignant cells is essential for the diagnosis of osteosarcoma. This finding was also seen in our case.^{10,12}

Ossifying fibroma histologically consists of fibrous connective tissue of low to moderate cellularity with a trabecular pattern containing irregular bony trabeculae. A psammomatoid pattern composed of spheroid bony islands may be found. Osteoblasts rimming woven bone are inconspicuous, with occasional mitotic figures. Osteoclast-like giant cells can also be found. This finding was also seen in our case.⁵

Osteocalcin immunohistochemistry be helpful in distinguishing may osteosarcoma from other malignancies and has been proven to be sensitive but lacks specificity.¹⁴ Very low expression of Ki-67 immunohistochemistry (< 10%) is observed in this tumor, in contrast with the cases of high and intermediate grades of osteosarcoma, that showed strong to moderate positivity of >50% and 25-50%, respectively.¹⁵ From a therapeutic point of view, the most important factor in determining prognosis is resection with wide surgical margins, which has an 80% 5-year survival rate. In cases of lowgrade central osteosarcoma, adjuvant chemotherapy or radiotherapy appear to be ineffective.^{1,8}

The nasopharynx, orbit, and cranium are some of the anatomical systems that sinonasal osteosarcomas can invade. Although lung and and lymph node metastases have been recorded, haematogenous spread is less common in sinonasal osteosarcoma than in its long-bone counterpart. This tumor needs special attention because, although it is well differentiated, lowgrade osteosarcomas can dedifferentiate into high-grade osteosarcomas and lead to more aggressive clinical significance.¹⁶

Osteosarcoma, as a secondary tumor, may arise from a preexisting benign bone disease such as Paget's disease, bone infarcts, osteomyelitis, or trauma. In our case, there is a possibility that ossifiying fibroma may trans` form into low-grade osteosarcoma, despite insufficient data for evaluating this malignant transformation. Ossifiying fibroma is a benign lesion, but sometimes it may behave in an aggressive manner and cause extensive bone destruction. In addition, there is only one reported case of low-grade osteosarcoma arising from cemento-ossifying fibroma.¹²

Current treatments for osteosarcoma include wide excision, neoadjuvant therapy, radiation therapy, chemotherapy. Intramedullary and surface tumors of low-grade and osteosarcoma with no metastasis need wide excision alone, whereas tumor located in the periosteal region need neoadjuvant therapy before wide excision. A high-grade tumor with no metastasis needs neoadjuvant therapy, restaging, wide excision of the resectable, evaluation of the chemotherapy chemoradiotherapy. response. and If there is an adequate response to chemotherapy, the same neoadjuvant therapy can be continued, whereas if there is an inadequate response to neoadjuvant chemotherapy, consider a new chemotherapy regimen, additional surgical resection, and radiation therapy. A tumor with metastasis needs metastasectomy and chemoradiation in addition to the above procedures.² On the patient, tumor location in the sinonasal made it more difficult to achieve a clear margin excision; therefore, close surveillance is warranted.

The NCCN guidelines suggest surveillance every 3 mo for post-op years 1 and 2, every 4 mo in post-op year 3, every 6 mo in post-op years 4 and 5, and yearly for post-op years 6 and beyond. Surveillance should include physical examination, imaging of the post-op site and chest, a PET/CT scan, and additional laboratory tests as clinically indicated.²

CONCLUSION

Juvenile ossifying fibroma with part of low-grade central osteosarcoma is a rare disease. We should be aware of the rare possibility that ossifiying fibroma may transform into osteosarcoma, as shown by the presence of the two different tumor entities in our case. Careful diagnosis and regular follow up are needed for an optimum clinical outcome.

Patients with low-grade sinonasal malignancy need careful attention, especially in obtaining a representative sample, biopsy procedure, diagnosis, and treatment. Optimal clinic-radiopathological correlation and effective communication between clinician. radiologist, and pathologist were needed to diagnose low grade osteosarcoma that occurs at less frequent sites, for example, in the sinonasal region. Early, appropriate diagnosis will prevent wasting time, resources, and opportunities to treat patients with optimal results. Close surveillance after treatment is needed in tumor cases that are located close to vital organs, since wide resection and a clear margin are difficult to achieve.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We would like to expresses gratitude to Dr. Sardjito General Hospital, Yogyakarta and all the staff involved in contributing to the preparation and writing of this case report.

REFERENCES

- Erdur ZB, Gözen ED, Inan HC, Yener HM, Çomunoğlu N, Yol C, *et al.* Osteosarcoma of the Ethmoid Sinus. J Craniofac Surg 2018; 29(5):487-8. h t t p s : // d o i . o r g / 1 0 . 1 0 9 7 / SCS.000000000004502
- Prater S, McKeon B. Osteosarcoma. In: StatPearls [Internet]. Treasure Island (FL): StatPearls Publishing; 2023.
 https://www.pchi.plm.pib.gov/

https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ books/NBK549868/

3. Doval DC, Kumar RV, Kannan V,

Sabitha KS, Misra S, Kumar MV, *et al.* Osteosarcoma of the jaw bones. Br J Oral Maxillofac Surg 1997; 35(5):357-62. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0266-4356(97)90410-1

4. Sasaki A, Miyashita H, Kawaida M, Kameyama K. Low-grade osteosarcoma is predominant in gnathic osteosarcomas: A report of seven cases of osteosarcoma of the jaw. Clin Exp Dent Res 2021; 7(6):1175-82.

https://doi.org/10.1002/cre2.442

- 5. Shaik M, Kishore Babu T, PrabhuSekhar G, Venkata Ramana Murthy V. Juvenile Ossifying fibroma of the maxilla: a case report. J Maxillofac Oral Surg 2015; 14(S1):69-72. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12663-011-0302-1
- 6. Shahid H, Baharudin A, Halim AS, Biswal BM, Jihan WS. An extensive sinonasal osteosarcoma mimicking chondrosarcoma. Med J Malaysia 2007; 62(2):171-2.
- 7. Gopishetty S, Yeh J, Khalid M, Annamaraju P, Guddati AK. Locally advanced osteosarcoma of the ethmoid sinus: a report of successful management. Case Rep Oncol 2020; 13(2):725-8.

https://doi.org/10.1159/000507780

8. Gonzalez ME, Raghavan P, Cho B, Muttikkal TJE, Rehm PK. Primary osteogenic osteosarcoma of the ethmoid sinus in an adolescent: case report. J Radiol Case Rep 2016; 10(2):1-9.

https://doi.org/10.3941/jrcr.v10i2.2298

- 9. Yeşilova E, Akgünlü F, Dolanmaz D, Yaşar F, Sener S. Osteosarcoma: a case report. Eur J Dent 2007; 1(1):60-3.
- 10. Ciniglio Appiani M, Verillaud B, Bresson D, Sauvaget E, Blancal JP, Guichard JP, *et al.* Fibroma ossificante dei seni paranasali: diagnosi e management. Acta Otorhinolaryngol Ital 2015; 35(5):355-61. https://doi.org/10.14639/0392-100X-533
- 11. Low CM, Gruszczynski NR, Moore EJ, Price DL, Janus JR, Kasperbauer JL, *et*

al. Sinonasal osteosarcoma: report of 14 new cases and systematic review of the literature. J Neurol Surg B Skull Base 2020; 82(Suppl 3):138-47. https://doi.org/10.1055/s-0040-1701221

- 12. Lee YB, Kim NK, Kim JY, Kim HJ. Low-grade osteosarcoma arising from cemento-ossifying fibroma: a case report. J Korean Assoc Oral Maxillofac Surg 2015; 41(1):48-51. h t t p s : // d o i . o r g / 1 0 . 5 1 2 5 / jkaoms.2015.41.1.48
- 13. Hadley C, Gressot LV, Patel AJ, Wang LL, Flores RJ, Whitehead WE, *et al.* Osteosarcoma of the cranial vault and skull base in pediatric patients. J Neurosurg Pediatr 2014; 13(4):380-7. https://doi.org/10.3171/2013.12. PEDS13359
- 14. Agustina H, Asyifa I, Aziz A, Hernowo

BS. Theroleofosteocalcinandalkaline phosphatase immunohistochemistry in osteosarcoma diagnosis. Patholog Res Int 2018; 2018:6346409.

https://doi.org/10.1155/2018/6346409

15. Diniz AFNMS, Filho JAA, Alencar Rde CG, Garcia RR, Silva MR, Ribeiro-Rotta RF, *et al.* Low-grade central osteosarcoma of the mandible: a case study report. Oral Surg Oral Med Oral Pathol Oral Radiol Endod 2007; 103(2):246-52. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j. tripleo.2005.11.006

16. Vlychou M, Ostlere SJ, Kerr R, Athanasou NA. Low-grade osteosarcoma of the ethmoid sinus. Skeletal Radiol 2007; 36(5):459-62. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00256-006-0231-0



Differences in the clinical presentations of anti-NMDAR (anti-Nmethyl-D-aspartatereceptor)encephalitis with status epilepticus: a retrospective case series

Desin Pambudi Sejahtera*, Sekar Satiti, Ishana Nafeeza Mukhtar, Roshynta Linggar Andatu, Atitya Fithri Khairani

Department of Neurology, Faculty of Medicine, Public Health and Nursing, Universitas Gadjah Mada, Yogyakarta, Indonesia

https://doi.org/10.22146/inajbcs.v56i3.15917

ABSTRACT

Submitted: 2023-12-20 Accepted : 2024-03-16

Literature on anti-NMDAR (anti-N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor) encephalitis is limited in developing countries, including Indonesia. This retrospective observational case series explored the impact of early diagnosis and treatment on patient outcomes in four distinct cases of anti-NMDAR encephalitis with status epilepticus, and other related conditions, of patients referred to Dr. Sardjito General Hospital, Yogyakarta. Clinical data from May 2021 to August 2023 were collected through the review of medical records, encompassing demographic information, clinical presentation, history, laboratory results, imaging studies, EEG reports, interventions, and the progression of the disease. Four cases were reported, three of whom were diagnosed with anti-NMDAR and one with bacterial encephalitis, each presenting a variety of neuropsychiatric clinical symptoms, leading to hospitalization, extensive testing, and interventions to establish the definitive diagnosis. Cases 1 and 4 have a childhood history of seizures. The cases analyzed factors including the impact of childhood versus adulthood onset and the adherence to taking medicine regularly leading to exacerbation symptoms and relapses. Distinguishing anti-NMDAR encephalitis from related conditions, such as bacterial encephalitis, was further complicated in patients with varied neuropsychiatric presentations (seizures, hallucinations, irritable behavior, headaches) and responses to the treatment. Supporting investigation finds positive NMDAR testing and abnormal CT, MRI, and EEG results, contributed to definitive diagnoses. It could be concluded that comprehensive diagnostic investigations are important for prompt recognition of clinical characteristics, and early initiation of immunomodulatory therapy in managing anti-NMDAR encephalitis and related conditions in Yogyakarta, Indonesia.

ABSTRAK

Pustaka mengenai ensefalitis anti-NMDAR (anti-N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor) masih terbatas di negara-negara berkembang, termasuk Indonesia. Beberapa kasus observasional retrospektif ini ditujukan untuk mengetahui pengaruh diagnosis awal dan terapi terhadap luaran pasien yang terbagi dalam empat kasus berbeda tentang encephalitis anti-NMDAR dengan status epilepticus, dan kondisi terkait lainnya, pada pasien yang dirujuk ke RSUP Dr. Sardjito, Yogyakarta. Data klinis yang dikumpulkan dari rekam medis antara bulan Mei 2021 hingga Agustus 2023 mencakup informasi demografis, presentasi klinis, riwayat, hasil laboratorium, penunjang foto, hasil EEG, intervensi, dan progresifitas penyakit. Empat kasus dilaporkan, tiga di antaranya didiagnosis dengan anti-NMDAR dan satu dengan encephalitis bakteri, masing-masing menunjukkan berbagai gejala klinis neuropsikiatri, hingga rawat inap, sehingga membutuhkan pemeriksaan yang intensif, dan intervensi untuk mendapatkan diagnosis definitif. Sedangkan untuk kasus 1 dan 4 memiliki riwayat kejang pada masa anak-anak. Kasus ini menganalisis beberapa faktor termasuk dampak onset yang terjadi pada masa anak-anak dibandingkan dengan dewasa, dan kepatuhan dalam mengonsumsi obat secara teratur atau tidak yang mengakibatkan gejala memburuk dan kambuh. Encephalitis anti-NMDAR dibedakan dari kondisi terkait lainnya, seperti encephalitis bakteri, sehingga semakin rumit variasi presentasi klinis seperti encephantis bakteri, sennigga sentakin runni variasi presentasi kintis neuropsikiatri pasien (kejang, halusinasi, perilaku yang mudah tersinggung, sakit kepala) dan respon terhadap terapi. Pelacakan lebih lanjut menemukan hasil yang positif pada pengujian NMDAR dan hasil CT, MRI, dan EEG yang abnormal, memberikan kontribusi untuk menegakkan diagnosis definitif. Sehingga dapat disimpulkan bahwa pelacakan lebih lanjut yang komprehensif merupakan suatu hal yang esensial untuk deteksi dini terhadap karakteristik klinis dan inisiasi terapi imunomodulator dalam mengelola encephalitis anti-NMDAR dan kondisi terkait di Yogyakarta, Indonesia.

Keywords:

anti-NMDAR encephalitis; autoimmune encephalitis; bacterial encephalitis; status epilepticus; seizure

INTRODUCTION

Anti-N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor (anti-NMDAR) encephalitis is the most recognized form of autoimmune encephalitis, predominantly affecting children and young adults. Despite its recognition, its rarity persists, affecting approximately 1 out of 1.5 million people annually.¹ Misdiagnosis is common, and diagnostic delays often occur due to its highly variable clinical presentation.² Patients typically present with seizures, encephalopathy, cognitive decline, and neuropsychiatric symptoms followed by behavioral changes, movement disorders, autonomic dysfunction, and in severe cases, coma.^{3,4} Cerebrospinal fluid testing is typically more reliable than blood serum for detecting NMDAR antibodies.⁵

It is hypothesized that earlv diagnosis, prompt treatment initiation, and consistent medication adherence can significantly reduce seizure frequency. Identifying the underlying autoimmune etiology of epilepsy is important, especially for patients who are resistant to conventional anti-seizure medications $(ASM).^{6}$ Plasma exchange, steroids such as methylprednisolone, as well as immunomodulatory therapies including intravenous immunoglobulin (IVIG), cyclophosphamide, and rituximab, have led ASM-resistant patients to attain seizure control.⁶ A previous study by Titulaer et al.,7 of 577 patients with anti-NMDAR encephalitis found early treatment being a significant predictor for recovery.

Existing literature on anti-NMDAR encephalitis and related conditions is notably sparse in developing countries, including Indonesia. This retrospective case series seeks to address this gap by presenting four cases treated at Dr. Sardjito General Hospital, Yogyakarta between 2021 and 2023. These cases involved individuals with varied clinical characteristics, each diagnosed with anti-NMDAR encephalitis or related conditions, with examination findings confirming infection. It occurred at different stages of life, ranging from early childhood to adulthood. It is hoped that this case series can contribute valuable insights into the manifestations and management of these conditions within the distinctive healthcare context of developing nations.

CASE SERIES

This retrospective observational case series examines four distinct cases of patients who were referred to Dr. Sardjito General Hospital, Yogyakarta, The inclusion Indonesia. criteria were patients presenting neurological symptoms indicative of anti-NMDAR encephalitis or related conditions. Clinical data from May 2021 to August 2023 were collected and reviewed for demographic information. clinical presentation, history, laboratory results, imaging studies, EEG reports, diagnostic investigations, interventions, and progression of the disease.

The findings of each case were presented individually to elucidate clinical nuances and diagnostic workup details. These results offer a comprehensive view of the varied nature of anti-NMDAR encephalitis, highlighting the unique challenges encountered in each case. Challenges in diagnosis and management, shared characteristics or disparities across cases, and the efficacy of treatment strategies, considering the timing of administration, and its influences on outcomes, were analyzed.

Case 1

Ms. A, an 18 y.o. university student from Yogyakarta, was admitted to Dr. Sardjito General Hospital, Yogyakarta in an intubated and sedated state, reporting symptoms of visual and auditory hallucinations, irritable behavior, aggravating headaches, and seizures for the past 2 wk. Seizures were characterized by stiff spasms affecting her face and left limbs, occurring 10-15 times daily, each lasting 1-2 min. During the postictal and interictal phases, the patient remained unaware.

patient's The medical history revealed joint pain and refractory convulsive status epilepticus seizures dating back 8 yr to childhood that were initially triggered by a one-week-long fever and have since been managed with valproic acid. The patient faced challenges in complying to prescribe the therapy regimen. Before the patient's referral, she stayed 15 d in the Intensive Care Unit at Jogja International Hospital, followed by a 5 d stay at RSI Klaten (Klaten Islamic Hospital). During this period, the patient experienced a 3 d fever, coinciding with a reduction in the duration and frequency of seizures.

Behavioral issues improved after receiving an intravenous midazolam infusion at a rate of 5 mg/hr. Therapy which was given to the patient included methylprednisolone (i.v. 125 mg q.i.d), Cellcept (p.o. 500 mg b.i.d), acyclovir (p.o. 800 mg o.d.), valproic acid (p.o. 500 mg b.i.d.), and phenytoin (p.o. 100 mg t.i.d).

Diagnostic examination indicated cerebral edema with radiological findings interpreted as intracranial infection on a head CT scan without contrast and cardiomegaly on а thoracic X-ray. Abnormal EEG findings included delta theta rhythm background deceleration, supporting clinical general awakening and indicating possible diffuse cortical dysfunction. During treatment, the patient exhibited silent behavior, appearing blank but reported auditory and visual hallucinations in the form of hearing whispers and seeing human-like shadows. Neurological examination yielded normal results with no meningeal signs or lateralization.

Laboratory tests indicated leukocytosis, anemia, hypercoagulapathy, hypoalbuminemia, and electrolyte imbalances. A diagnosis of anti-NMDAR encephalitis was made. Treatment Dr. Sardjito Hospital, at General Yogyakarta included physiotherapy,

methylprednisolone (inj. 31.25 mg o.d.), cefepime (inj. 2 g b.i.d), omeprazole (inj. 40 mg o.d.), Depakote (tab. 500 mg b.i.d), and phenytoin (tab. 100 mg t.i.d). Upon discharge, the patient continued taking the same treatment in tablet form.

Case 2

Mr. AR, a 22 y.o. store employee from Bantul, Yogyakarta, Indonesia, came to Dr. Sardjito General Hospital, Yogyakarta with a 4 d progressive acute onset headache and fever. The patient symptoms including showed some visual hallucinations, frequent crying, incoherent self-conversation, catatonic states, restlessness, and fits of anger. On the 5th and 6th days after being admitted, the patient had seizures throughout his body in which the patient remained unconscious, each lasting 2-3 min before stopping spontaneously. Clobazam (10 mg o.d.) and nopres (10 mg o.d.) were initiated, followed by an olanzapine injection on the 7 d given by the psychiatrist. The patient continued to have 7-10 generalized seizures daily. On the 9th day, the use of diazepam was necessitated to stop a 10 min seizure. The patient had declined consciousness, a high fever, and high blood pressure. The patient was referred to the Neurology Department on the 10th day. On the 12th day, an MRI with contrast vielded normal results, and the patient commenced MP therapy at a dose of 250 mg every 6 hr for 5 d. On the 14th day, a positive lumbar puncture showed a viral infection. Plasma exchange treatment was administered on days 22, 23, and 28. The 22nd and 23rd days were marked by an absence of seizures.

The patient was suspected of anti-NMDAR encephalitis with a differential diagnosis of neuroleptic malignant syndrome. On the 27th day, abnormal EEG results were characterized by diffuse slowing and triphasic waves, further supporting the presence of generalized seizures. On the 28th day, the patient experienced 3 generalized seizures in 24 hr, along with focal seizures affecting his right hand every 30 min. From the 34th to 36th day, the focal seizures in his right hand persisted at the 30 min interval, but the frequency of generalized seizures reduced to one per day, and the patient was transferred to the ICU. On the 35th day, the PDT confirmed the diagnosis of anti-NMDAR encephalitis. Post-discharge treatment included methylprednisolone (tab. 31.25 mg o.d.), cyclophosphamide (tab. 50 mg o.d.), and mycophenolate mofetil (tab. 500 mg b.i.d).

Case 3

Mr. TYS, a 19 y.o. employed in the private sector from Yogyakarta, was referred to Dr. Sardjito General Hospital, Yogyakarta due to suspected meningoencephalitis and recurrent seizures. The patient was first treated in Bethesda Hospital, Yogyakarta, where he presented with progressively worsening subacute headaches for 3 wk, and focal seizures in his left hand and leg for 2 wk before admission. These seizures had an unclear pre-ictal phase, with ictal duration of less than 5 min, and left him unconscious. A non-contrast head CT scan revealed cerebral edema.

Upon referral, the patient continued experience recurrent seizures, to accompanied by slurred speech, confusion, fever, and focal seizures in his left hand. Phenytoin (inj. 100 mg b.i.d) and haloperidol (inj. 5 mg b.i.d) were administered but seizures persisted. A lumbar puncture on the 2nd day was positive indicating a viral infection. The patient's condition worsened on the 6th day, necessitating intubation as his oxygen saturation dropped to 85-90%, while Diazepam proved ineffective in managing the seizures that continued. On the 8th and 9th days, he was transferred to the ICU, and NMDAR testing returned positive.

Plasma exchange treatment was administered on days 16, 18, and 19. On the 16th day, there was some improvement in consciousness, but focal seizures continued to manifest, occurring 3 times, each lasting less than 5 min. On the 18th day, abdominal distension was observed, and on the 19th day, seizures had become bilateral, occurring 3 times a day.

Diagnostic investigations indicated cerebral edema on a head CT scan without contrast, immunoserology testing was positive for anti-NMDAR, and urine analysis was positive for *Staphylococcus haemolyticus*. Chest X-ray, MRI, and CSF culture yielded normal findings. The patient was diagnosed with anti-NMDAR encephalitis and status epilepticus. A post-discharge treatment regimen was prescribed including phenytoin (tab. 100 mg t.i.d), levetiracetam (tab. 750 mg b.i.d.), acyclovir (tab. 800 mg quinq. die), and a ketogenic diet.

Case 4

Mr. FA, a 30 y.o. male printing office employee from Kapling Janan village, Magelang, Central Java, was referred to Dr. Sardjito General Hospital, Yogyakarta from Magelang Hospital, Central Java, because of prolonged seizures. Notably, Mr. FA's aunts have a history of primary epilepsy. The patient had his first seizure at the age of 6 mo, accompanied by a fever, and continued until he was 6 y.o., after which he became seizurefree. However, his seizures resurfaced 6 yr before his admission to Dr. Sardjito General Hospital.

These seizures presented with specific characteristics, typically lasting 1-2 min, occurring 3-4 times a month, and commencing with mouth babbling, upward eve deviation, stiffness, and clonic movements of the extremities. Postictally, patient the was left confused. As his irritability and visual hallucinations became pronounced, routine treatment was prescribed by a neurologist and psychiatrist consisting of phenytoin (tab. 200 mg o.d.), folic acid (tab. 1 mg o.d.), trihexyphenidyl (tab. 1 mg o.d.), haloperidol (tab. 1.5 mg b.i.d), and clobazam (tab. 10 mg o.d.). Five months before hospitalization, tremors in his fingers appeared, impacting daily activities and his job.

Amonth before admission, the patient felt tired from taking his medication and instead turned to alternative medicine including herbs and drinking chicken blood, leading to fever and altered seizure semiology of uncontrolled movements of the left shoulder, upward eye deviation, stiffness, and clonic movements in extremities. The patient was admitted to the emergency room of Dr. Soeroyo Hospital, Magelang Mental where seizures became more frequent and prolonged, prompting a transfer to the ICU and intubation. Upon arrival at Dr. Sardjito General Hospital, Yogyakarta in a coma and on sedatives, laboratory tests revealed anemia, leucocytosis, elevated liver enzyme, hypoalbuminemia, and hyponatremia. A chest X-ray showed bilateral pneumonia, while CSF analysis detected *S. hemolyticus*. The EEG displayed abnormal slow, epileptiform spikes, unilateral waves on the right temporooccipital region, and occipital intermittent rhythmic delta activity. His non-contrast head CT showed brain atrophy of the cerebri and cerebellum as well as ventriculomegaly ex vacuo. The MRI findings added results of hypertrophy of the right inferior concha.

The patient was diagnosed with bacterial encephalitis and received treatment of methylprednisolone (inj. 250 mg q.i.d), phenytoin (inj. 100 mg b.i.d), linezolid (inj. 600 mg b.i.d), omeprazole (inj. 40 mg o.d.), clonazepam (tab. 2 mg b.i.d.), valproic acid (tab. 500 mg b.i.d), and levetiracetam (tab. 500 mg b.i.d). Treatment was continued postdischarge taken in a tablet regimen.

Age (yr), gender	History	Presenting complaints	Additional neurological findings	Paraclinical findings	Diagnosis	Treatment post- discharge
18, Female	8 yr ago, a fever led to repetitive seizures and joint pain.	Aggravating headaches, seizures, irritable behaviour, visual and auditory hallucinations.	CT: cerebral edema, intracranial infection findings	EEG: δ, θ rhythm background deceleration Chest X-ray: cardiomegaly	Anti- NMDAR encephalitis	Methylprednisolone (tab. 31.25 mg o.d.), cefepime (tab. 2 g b.i.d), omeprazole (tab. 40 mg o.d.), depakote (tab. 500 mg b.i.d), phenytoin (tab. 100 mg t.i.d)
22, Male	Progressive acute onset headache and fever for 4 days.	Recurrent seizures, visual hallucinations, acute psychotic episodes.	MRI: normal	EEG: diffuse slowing and triphasic waves	Anti- NMDAR encephalitis	Methylprednisolone (tab. 31.25 mg o.d.), cyclophosphamide (tab. 50 mg o.d.), mycophenolate mofetil (tab. 500 mg b.i.d)
19, Male	Worsening subacute headache for 3 wk, focal seizures on the left hand and leg.	Suspected meningoencephalitis, recurrent seizures.	CT: cerebral edema Lumbar puncture: viral infection (+) MRI, CSF culture: normal	Urine analysis: S. haemolyticus (+) Immunoserology testing: anti- NMDAR (+)	Anti- NMDAR encephalitis	Phenytoin (tab. 100 mg t.i.d), levetiracetam (tab. 750 mg b.i.d.), acyclovir (tab. 800 mg quinq. die)
30, Male	First seizure at 6 mo.o. continued until 6 y.o. Prolonged seizures resurfaced 6 years before hospital admission.	Prolonged seizures, irritability, visual hallucinations, clonic movements in the extremities.	CT, MRI: cerebri et cerebellum atrophy, ventriculomegaly ex vacuo. CSF analysis: <i>S.</i> <i>haemolyticus</i> (+). Lumbar Puncture: viral infection (+)	Chest X-ray: pneumonia bilateral. EEG: epileptiform spike, unilateral wave, occipital intermittent rhythmic delta activity.	Bacterial encephalitis	Methylprednisolone (inj. 250 mg q.i.d), phenytoin (inj. 100 mg b.i.d), linezolid (inj. 600 mg b.i.d), omeprazole (inj. 40 mg o.d.), clonazepam (tab. 2 mg b.i.d.), valproic acid (tab. 500 mg b.i.d), levetiracetam (tab. 500 mg b.i.d)

TABLE 1. Case summaries

DISCUSSION

Diagnostic challenges

The complexity of diagnosing and anti-NMDAR managing encephalitis from its diverse clinical arises manifestations, need for specialized tests, and response to treatment. Case 1's presentation of joint pain and refractory convulsive status epilepticus highlighted the necessity for comprehensive investigations as NMDAR testing and EEG revealed abnormal findings indicative of secondary epilepsy.

Case 2 presented with visual hallucinations and acute onset headache, leading to a range of treatments and tests to be carried out including MRI and lumbar puncture. Seizures persisted with diazepam notably needing to be administered to stop a 10 min seizure during day 9. Seizures stopped only after initiation of plasma exchange treatment on day 22. The diagnosis of anti-NMDAR encephalitis was confirmed on day 35 only after persistent seizures and abnormal EEG results.

Contrastingly, in Case 3 the seizures continued even after plasma exchange was initiated as diazepam was found to be ineffective in managing the seizures. Case 3, characterized by recurrent seizures, suspected meningoencephalitis, and progressively worsening subacute headaches, underwent diagnostic examinations from both Bethesda Hospital, Yogyakarta and Dr. Sardjito General Hospital, Yogyakarta. This included a lumbar puncture and plasma exchange, highlighting the complexities of establishing a conclusive diagnosis. It was only until positive findings in NMDAR testing, head CT indicating cerebral edema, and immunoserology testing when a conclusive diagnosis was made.

While, Case 4 introduced the challenge of distinguishing bacterial encephalitis from anti-NMDAR encephalitis which was complicated by the identification of *S. hemolyticus* in the CSF analysis, emphasizing the need to consider bacterial encephalitis in the differential diagnosis. Establishing a diagnosis was further complicated by the patient's history of primary epilepsy, irregular medication adherence, and alternative medicine.

Clinical manifestations varied and were inconsistent. While Cases 1, 3, and 4 had abnormal CT or MRI results ranging from cerebral edema to cerebral atrophy, Case 2's MRI results were normal. In contrast, Cases 1, 2 and 4 had abnormal EEG results. This research builds on a study by Quek et *al.*⁸ which suggested general diagnostic characteristics increase clinical to suspicion for autoimmune epilepsy, which were similar to the characteristics found across the cases included in this case series, including high seizure frequency, ASM resistance, and history of autoimmunity or malignancy.

Past studies have documented EEG findings such as 'extreme delta brush' in patients with anti-NMDAR encephalitis,⁹ which was consistent with what was found in Case 1 demonstrated abnormal EEG findings including delta theta rhythm background deceleration, while Case 4 had occipital intermittent rhythmic delta activity. Viswanathan *et al.*¹⁰ analyzed 131 EEGs, finding the most common patterns to be diffuse slowing (n = 20), generalized rhythmic delta activity (n = 9), and focal spikes and slowing (n = 8 each), while delta brush patterns were observed in only 3 EEGs.

Furthermore, Case 3's CSF culture was normal yet immunoserology testing was positive for anti-NMDAR. This demonstrates how some patients are not always positive for autoimmune encephalitis antibodies in both serum and CSF. Mo *et al.*¹¹ showed that serum and CSF which were collected from all patients and tested for autoimmune encephalitis antibodies, revealed that 58 (96.7%) patients were positive for anti-NMDAR antibodies in their CSF, while only 39 (65.0%) patients were positive in their serum.

Early diagnosis and treatment and its influence on clinical outcomes

While Case 1 received prolonged valproic acid treatment for refractory convulsive status epilepticus over 8 yr before her anti-NMDAR encephalitis diagnosis, Case 4's history of luminal therapy from infancy resulted in seizure freedom until the age of 6 yr, after which seizures reappeared, leading to a bacterial encephalitis diagnosis at age 30 vr. Both cases highlight the limitations of long-term pharmacological treatment in controlling seizures, as symptoms eventually exacerbate into neurological psychiatric manifestations, and necessitating hospitalization.

In contrast, Cases 2 and 3, lacking childhood seizure history, sought а immediate medical attention for recurrent seizures and acute psychotic episodes. Comparing cases treated since childhood (Cases 1 and 4) and adulthood (Cases 2 and 3) offers insights into variations in disease progression. While all cases experienced recurrent seizures, neuropsychiatric symptoms such as aggravating headaches, irritability, and hallucinations varied. In a retrospective study of 106 anti-NMDAR encephalitis patients in China by Wang et al.,¹² 74.5% exhibited behavioral changes, 67% experienced seizures with 54.9% being focal seizures. According to Amugoda et *al.*,¹³ during the prodromal phase 70-86% of patients experience unspecific virallike symptoms, with fever and headache commonly occurring after the onset of neuropsychiatric symptoms, lasting up to 21 d. Seizures were observed in up to 82% of patients, and psychotic features including agitation, paranoid delusions, and hallucinations manifested two weeks following the prodromal phase.

In Case 3, despite early treatment phenytoin, haloperidol, with and diazepam during the early days of hospitalization, the increasing frequency of seizures only occurred after plasma exchange treatment was initiated following a positive NMDAR result. So far, since the final diagnoses of all four cases were made between 2021 and 2023, delayed diagnoses in those with a childhood history of seizures may be attributed to a lack of awareness among clinicians during the patients' early years as anti-NMDAR encephalitis was only first described in 2007.³

As a result, this study supports the value of early diagnosis and immunomodulation in reducing seizure frequency, especially in patients with autoimmune epilepsy resistant to conventional anti-seizure medications. Empiric treatment usually involves step-wise immunotherapy escalation including first-line therapy with steroids, plasma exchange, or IVIG, followed by second-line therapy with cyclophosphamide, rituximab, or combinations.^{14,15} Armangue *et al.*¹⁶ have studied 20 pediatric anti-NMDAR encephalitis patients all of whom received steroids, IVIG, or plasma exchange, and 7 rituximab or cyclophosphamide, found 85% of patients had substantial recovery after a median follow-up of 17.5 mo. Gong et al.¹⁷ similarly found clinical improvements in 84.8% of 244 anti-NMDAR patients within 4 wk after beginning immunotherapy, and 80.7 and 85.7% exhibited substantial recovery at 12 and 24 mo. Titulaer et al.7 noted that first-line immunotherapy in the initial episode of encephalitis resulted in symptom improvement in 53% of 577 patients within 4 wk of treatment, 97% of whom had a good outcome at 24 mo follow-up, and was observed to have a lower frequency of relapses. Among patients who received second-line immunotherapy, 84 out of 125 obtained symptom improvement.

Medication adherence

Medication adherence is a critical aspect of the management of seizures, as highlighted by the case of Mr. FA in Case 4 who had a history of seizures since infancy, then he was free from seizure at the age of 6 yr through luminal therapy but relapsed 6 yr before his admission Sardjito General to Dr. Hospital, Yogyakarta. His irregular medication adherence, starting one month before hospital admission, likely contributed to exacerbating symptoms, including prolonged seizures with a different semiology, now involving whole extremities, along with irritability, visual hallucinations, and hand tremors that impacted his job.

In Indonesia, factors such as affordability concerns, fear of adverse effects from pharmaceutical medicines, and alignment with cultural beliefs drive patients to seek alternative and traditional methods.¹⁸⁻²⁰ Unfortunately, this often leads to discontinuation of prescribed medications, and worsening symptoms, as observed in Mr. FA's case. Similar trends have been observed in studies related to neurological conditions, with Das et al.²¹ reporting a 71% nonadherence rate to antiepileptic treatment which had a significant association with increased seizure severity and the complexity of annual treatment. Notably, 17.2% of patients with high drug adherence remained seizure-free in the past year, a marked contrast to the 1.4% among poorly adherent patients.²¹ Moreover, a study by Gabliondo et *al.*²² revealed an elevated relapse risk in patients who did not receive immunotherapy in the first episode of anti-NMDAR encephalitis (p = 0.009), thus further emphasizing the importance of adherence to immunomodulatory therapies post-discharge to minimize such risk of relapse episodes. In a cohort study by Gong *et al.*,¹⁷ it was found that 15.9% of 244 anti-NMDAR encephalitis

patients experienced a relapse episode, with 82.0% occurring within the first 24 mo. Consistent with these findings, other studies reported relapse rates ranging from 20 to 25%.^{22,23}

Limitations of this study include its retrospective design, which is subject to bias of unmeasured factors, and its small study population. The included patients, largely referred to Dr. Sardjito General Hospital, Yogyakarta from surrounding medical facilities in Yogyakarta, may have introduced potential variations in the anamnesis recorded in our institution compared to the originating sources. The small study population, while intentionally selected for its unique clinical manifestations and patient demographics, is not accurately reflective of the true number of anti-NMDAR encephalitis cases in Dr. Sardjito General Hospital, Yogyakarta. Therefore, a multicenter study involving all diagnosed cases of anti-NMDAR encephalitis is needed to reflect the true number of anti-NMDAR encephalitis cases in Yogyakarta, which we believe to be higher than the current reported number, especially given the limited existing literature on the subject.

CONCLUSION

This study highlights the complexities of the clinical characteristics of antiencephalitis NMDAR and related conditions in Yogyakarta, Indonesia, emphasizing the need for early recognition of common clinical and electrographic presentations, including abnormal EEG patterns such as 'extreme delta brush.' A retrospective analysis of Cases 1 and 4, treated since childhood, versus Cases 2 and 3, treated in adulthood, provides valuable insight into disease progression variations and the need for comprehensive examinations.

Examining the impact of early diagnosis and treatment on clinical outcomes, our study reinforces the significance of prompt intervention of immunomodulatory agents to reduce seizure frequency. All cases received post-discharge prescriptions of immunomodulatory agents, antiepileptic drugs, and supportive care which thus showcases the need for tailored interventions based on individual presentations.

Future prospective studies will be necessary to determine the ideal immunomodulatory treatment regimen for patients based on clinical presentation and antibody type. As understanding of these conditions evolves, clinicians must stay up-to-date with the latest advances to provide optimal care. This research contributes to the ongoing dialogue surrounding anti-NMDAR encephalitis, emphasizing the importance of continued awareness, research, and patient-centered care.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The author would like to thank Dr Sardjito General Hospital in Yogyakarta and all of the professionals that helped prepare and write this case report.

REFERENCES

- Samanta D, Lui F. Anti-NMDAR Encephalitis. StatPearls 2023. https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/ books/NBK551672/
- Liu CY, Zhu J, Zheng XY, Ma C, Wang X. Anti-N-methyl-D-aspartate receptor encephalitis: A severe, potentially reversible autoimmune encephalitis. Mediators Inflamm 2017; 2017:6361479. https://doi.org/10.1155/2017/6361479
- 3. Dalmau J, Bataller L. [Limbic encephalitis: the new cell membrane antigens and a proposal of clinicalimmunological classification with therapeutic implications]. Neurologia 2007; 22(8):526-37.

4. Irani SR, Bera K, Waters P, Zuliani L, Maxwell S, Zandi MS, *et al.* N-methyld-aspartate antibody encephalitis: temporal progression of clinical and paraclinical observations in a predominantly non-paraneoplastic disorder of both sexes. Brain 2010; 133(6):1655-67.

https://doi.org/10.1093/brain/awq113

- 5. Nguyen L, Wang C. Anti-NMDA receptor autoimmune encephalitis: diagnosis and management strategies. Int J Gen Med 2023; 16:7-21. https://doi.org/10.2147/IJGM.S397429
- 6. Dubey D, Samudra N, Gupta P, Agostini M, Ding K, Van Ness PC, *et al.* Retrospective case series of the clinical features, management and outcomes of patients with autoimmune epilepsy. Seizure 2015; 29:143-7.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j. seizure.2015.04.007

 Titulaer MJ, McCracken L, Gabilondo I, Armangué T, Glaser C, Iizuka T, *et al.* Treatment and prognostic factors for long-term outcome in patients with anti-N-Methyl-D-Aspartate (NMDA) receptor encephalitis: a cohort study. Lancet Neurol 2013; 12(2):157-65.

https://doi.org/10.1016/s1474-4422(12)70310-1

- Quek AM, Britton JW, McKeon A, So E, Lennon VA, Shin C, *et al*. Autoimmune epilepsy: clinical characteristics and response to immunotherapy. Arch Neurol 2012; 69(5):582-93. h t t p s : // d o i . o r g / 1 0 . 1 0 0 1 / archneurol.2011.2985
- 9. Schmitt SE, Pargeon K, Frechette ES, Hirsch LJ, Dalmau J, Friedman D. Extreme delta brush: a unique EEG pattern in adults with anti-NMDA receptor encephalitis. Neurology 2012; 79(11):1094-100. h t t p s : // d o i . o r g / 1 0 . 1 2 1 2 /

wnl.0b013e3182698cd8

10. Viswanathan LG, Siddappa SA,

Nagappa M, Mahadevan A, Duble S, Bindu PS, *et al.* Spectrum and evolution of EEG changes in anti-NMDAR encephalitis. Ann Indian Acad Neurol 2021; 24(3):396-400.

https://doi.org/10.4103/aian.aian_882_20

11. Mo Y, Wang L, Zhu L, Li F, Yu G, Luo Y, *et al.* Analysis of risk factors for a poor prognosis in patients with anti-N-Methyl-D-aspartate receptor encephalitis and construction of a prognostic composite score. J Clin Neurol 2020; 16(3):438-47.
https://doi.org/10.2029/icp.2020.16.2.429

https://doi.org/10.3988/jcn.2020.16.3.438

- 12. Wang Y, Miao A, Shi Y, Ge J, Wang L, Yu C, *et al.* Influencing electroclinical features and prognostic factors in patients with anti-NMDAR encephalitis: a cohort follow-up study in Chinese patients. Sci Rep 2020; 10(1):10753. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-020-67485-6
- 13. Amugoda C, Foroush NC, Akhlaghi H. Anti-NMDAR encephalitis: higher suspicious needed for earlier diagnosis (Case Report, Literature Review and Diagnostic Criteria). Case Rep Neurol Med 2019; 2019:74766254.

https://doi.org/10.1155/2019/7476254

14. Graus F, Titulaer MJ, Balu R, Benseler S, Bien CG, Cellucci T, et al. A clinical approach to diagnosis of autoimmune encephalitis. Lancet Neurol 2016; 15(4):391-404. https://doi.org/10.1016/s1474-

4422(15)00401-9

15. Thaler FS. Zimmermann L, Kammermeier S, Strippel С, Ringelstein M, Kraft A, et al. Rituximab treatment and longterm outcome of patients with autoimmune encephalitis: realworld evidence from the GENERATE Neurol registry. Neuroimmunol 2021; 8(6):e1088.

https://doi.org/10.1212/ nxi.0000000000000088

16. Armangue T, Titulaer MJ, Málaga I, Bataller L, Gabilondo I, Graus F, *et al.* Pediatric anti-NMDAR encephalitisclinical analysis and novel findings in a series of 20 patients. J Pediatr 2012; 162(4):850-6.e2.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpeds.2012.10.011

- 17. Gong X, Chen C, Liu X, Lin J, Li A, Guo K, *et al.* Long-term functional outcomes and relapse of anti-NMDA receptor encephalitis. Neurol Neuroimmunol 2021; 8(2):e958. h t t p s : // d o i . o r g / 1 0 . 1 2 1 2 / nxi.000000000000958
- 18. Rahayu YYS, Araki T, Rosleine D. Factors affecting the use of herbal medicines in the universal health coverage system in Indonesia. J Ethnopharmacol 2020; 260:112974. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jep.2020.112974
- 19. Sumarni W, Darmin S, Sumarti SS, Kadarwati S. Indigenous knowledge of Indonesian traditional medicines in science teaching and learning using a science–technology– engineering–mathematics (STEM) approach. Cult Stud Sci Educ 2021; 17(2):467-510.

https://doi.org/10.1007/s11422-021-10067-3

20. Kristianto H, Pramesona BA, Rosyad YS, Andriani L, Putri TA, Rias YA. The effects of beliefs, knowledge, and attitude on herbal medicine use during the COVID-19 pandemic: a cross sectional survey in Indonesia. F1000Res 2022; 11:483. https://doi.org/10.12688/

f1000research.116496.1

21. Das AM, Ramamoorthy L, Narayan SK, Wadwekar V. Barriers of drug adherence among patients with epilepsy: in tertiary care hospital, South India. J Caring Sci 2018; 7(4):177-81.

https://doi.org/10.15171/jcs.2018.027

 Gabilondo I, Saiz A, Galán L, González V, Jadraque R, Sabater L, *et al.* Analysis of relapses in anti-NMDAR encephalitis. Neurology 2011; 77(10):996-9.

h t t p s : // d o i . o r g / 1 0 . 1 2 1 2 / wnl.0b013e31822cfc6b 23. Gresa-Arribas N, Titulaer MJ, Torrents A, Aguilar E, McCracken L, Leypoldt F, *et al.* Antibody titres at diagnosis and during follow-up of anti-NMDA receptor encephalitis: a retrospective study. Lancet Neurol 2014; 13(2):167-77.

https://doi.org/10.1016/s1474-4422(13)70282-5